Institut de Recherche Robert-Sauvé en santé et en sécurité du travail

PhareSST

États de la question, rapports d'expertise et revues de littérature

Rapports

2005

Helth effects of nanoparticles

Claude Ostiguy IRSST

Brigitte Soucy IRSST, Université de Montréal

Gilles Lapointe CSST

Catherine Woods IRSST, Université de Montréal

Luc Ménard CSST

See next page for additional authors

Suivez ce contenu et d'autres travaux à l'adresse suivante: https://pharesst.irsst.qc.ca/expertises-revues

Citation recommandée

McGregor, D. (2005). *Risk of kidney tumours in firemen* (Rapport n[°] R-399). IRSST.

Ce document vous est proposé en libre accès et gratuitement par PhareSST. Il a été accepté pour inclusion dans États de la question, rapports d'expertise et revues de littérature par un administrateur autorisé de PhareSST. Pour plus d'informations, veuillez contacter pharesst@irsst.qc.ca.

Auteurs

Claude Ostiguy, Brigitte Soucy, Gilles Lapointe, Catherine Woods, Luc Ménard, and Mylène Trottier

Chemical Substances and Biological Agents

Studies and Research Projects

REPORT R-589



Health Effects of Nanoparticles Second Edition

Claude Ostiguy Brigitte Soucy Gilles Lapointe Catherine Woods Luc Ménard Mylène Trottier





Established in Québec since 1980, the Institut de recherche Robert-Sauvé en santé et en sécurité du travail (IRSST) is a scientific research organization known for the quality of its work and the expertise of its personnel.

OUR RESEARCH is *working* for you !

Mission

To contribute, through research, to the prevention of industrial accidents and occupational diseases as well as to the rehabilitation of affected workers.

To offer the laboratory services and expertise necessary for the activities of the public occupational health and safety prevention network.

To disseminate knowledge, and to act as scientific benchmark and expert.

Funded by the Commission de la santé et de la sécurité du travail, the IRSST has a board of directors made up of an equal number of employer and worker representatives.

To find out more

Visit our Web site for complete up-to-date information about the IRSST. All our publications can be downloaded at no charge. www.irsst.qc.ca

To obtain the latest information on the research carried out or funded by the IRSST, subscribe to Prévention au travail, the free magazine published jointly by the IRSST and the CSST. Subscription: 1.877-221-7046

Legal Deposit

Bibliothèque et Archives nationales 2008 ISBN: 978-2-89631-319-8 (print format) ISBN: 978-2-89631-320-4 (PDF) ISBN: 978-2-89631-060-6 (Original Version) ISSN: 0820-8395

IRSST – Communications Division 505, De Maisonneuve Blvd West Montréal (Québec) H3A 3C2 Phone: 514 288-1551 Fax: 514 288-7636 publications@irsst.qc.ca www.irsst.qc.ca Institut de recherche Robert-Sauvé en santé et en sécurité du travail, October 2008



Chemical Substances and Biological Agents

Studies and Research Projects REPORT R-589

Health Effects of Nanoparticles

Second Edition

Disclaimer

The IRSST makes no guarantee regarding the accuracy, reliability or completeness of the information contained in this document. In no case shall the IRSST be held responsible for any physical or psychological injury or material damage resulting from the use of this information.

Note that the content of the documents is protected by Canadian intellectual property legislation.



This publication is available free of charge on the Web site.

Claude Ostiguy, Research and Expertise Support Department, IRSST Brigitte Soucy, IRSST Gilles Lapointe, Répertoire toxicologique, CSST Catherine Woods, IRSST Luc Ménard, Direction de la prévention inspection, CSST Mylène Trottier, Proximeduc

IN CONFORMITY WITH THE IRSST'S POLICIES

The results of the research work published in this document have been peer-reviewed.

SUMMARY

Research in the nanoparticle (NP) and nanotechnology field is growing at a breathtaking pace. The reason is simple: the unique properties of NP will allow the development of products with unprecedented characteristics and opportunities in every field of human activity, and with tremendous economic impacts. It is currently anticipated that the number of exposed Quebec workers, not only in manufacturing these products but also in using and processing them, will increase over the next few years. Several products are already available commercially and some Quebec companies now have large-scale NP production capacity.

While technological research is already well established, with many transfers to industrial production, research on occupational health and safety (OHS) risk assessment has lagged behind significantly. Fortunately, the latter has shown strong growth in the scientific community over the last ten years. An initial evaluation of existing knowledge concerning nanoparticle health risks had been published by our team in early 2006 and covered the literature up to 2004. This report is the second edition and incorporates scientific knowledge up to mid-2007.

Insoluble or low-solubility nanoparticles in biological fluid are the greatest cause for concern. Because of their tiny size, several studies have shown behaviour unique to NP. Some of them can pass through our various defence mechanisms and be transported through the body in insoluble form. Thus, some NP can end up in the bloodstream after passing through all the respiratory or gastrointestinal membranes. They are then distributed to various organs and accumulate at specific sites. Others travel along the olfactory nerves and penetrate directly into the brain, while still others pass through cell barriers and reach the nucleus of the cell. These properties, extensively studied in pharmacology, could allow NP to be used as vectors to carry drugs to targeted body sites, including the brain. The corollary is that undesirable NP could be distributed through the bodies of exposed workers and has deleterious effects.

In toxicology the effects are normally correlated to the quantity of product to which individual animals or humans are exposed. The greater the mass absorbed, the greater the effect. In the case of NP, it has been clearly shown that the measured effects are not linked to the mass of the product, which challenges our entire approach to the classical interpretation of toxicity measurement. It is clearly shown that at equal mass, NP are more toxic than products of the same chemical composition but of greater size.

Although several studies find a good correlation between the specific surface and the toxic effects, a consensus seems to be emerging in the scientific community that several factors can contribute to the toxicity of these products and that it is currently impossible, with our limited knowledge, to weight the significance of each of these factors or predict the precise toxicity of a new nanoparticle. The published studies link the observed effects to different parameters: specific surface, number of particles, size and granulometric distribution, concentration, surface dose, surface coverage, degree of agglomeration of the particles and pulmonary deposition site, the "age" of the particles, surface charge, shape, porosity, crystalline structure, electrostatic attraction potential, particle synthesis method, hydrophilic/hydrophobic character and post-synthesis modifications (grafting of organic radicals or surface coverage to prevent aggregation). The presence of certain contaminants, such as metals, can also favour free radical formation and inflammation, while the chemical composition and delivery of surface components, NP colloidal and surface properties, compartmentation in the lung passages and biopersistence are other factors adding a dimension of complexity to the understanding

i

of their toxicity. The slow dissolution of certain NP or NP components in the body can become a major factor in their toxicity. These various factors will influence the functional, toxicological and environmental impact of NP.

Several effects have already been shown in animals. Among these, toxic effects have been identified in several organs (heart, lungs, kidneys, reproductive system...), as well as genotoxicity and cytotoxicity. For example, some particles cause granulomas, fibrosis and tumoural reactions in the lungs. Thus, titanium dioxide, a substance recognized as having low toxicity, shows high pulmonary toxicity on the nano-scale in some studies and no or almost no effects in other studies. In general, the toxicological data specific to nanoparticles remains limited, often rendering quantitative risk assessment difficult due to the small number of studies for most substances, the short exposure period, the different composition of the nanoparticles tested (diameter, length and agglomeration), or the often-unusual exposure route in the work environment. Additional studies (absorption, biopersistence, carcinogenicity, translocation to other tissues or organs, etc.) are necessary for quantitative assessment of the risk associated with inhalation exposure and percutaneous exposure of workers.

Although major trends may emerge and show numerous toxic effects related to certain NP, it can be seen that each product, and even each synthesized NP batch, can have its own toxicity. Any process or surface modification can have an impact on the toxicity of the resulting product.

Given this context, the authors of this report consider that the IRSST should favour the introduction of strict prevention procedures, which remain the only way to prevent the development of occupational diseases. Thus, the authors strongly recommend that the IRSST concentrate its future research efforts on developing exposure assessment strategies and tools, and on the development and measurement of the effectiveness of control methods for occupational NP exposure.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	i
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. OBJECTIVES	7
3. METHODOLOGY	7
 4. HEALTH EFFECTS OF FULLERENES	9 9 1
5. HEALTH EFFECTS OF CARBON NANOTUBES	7
5.1 Toxicokinetics	7 9
 HEALTH EFFECTS OF INORGANIC NANOPARTICLES	13 13 17
7. HEALTH EFFECTS OF ORGANIC NANOPARTICLES 5 7.1. Toxicokinetics 5 7.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration) 5	55 55 57
 8. HEALTH EFFECTS OF NANOCAPSULES, NANOSPHERES AND NANOSHELLS AND DENDRIMERS 8.1. Toxicokinetics 8.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration) 	51 51 52
9. HEALTH EFFECTS OF QUANTUM DOTS 6 9.1. Toxicokinetics 6 9.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration) 7	67 67 70
10. HEALTH EFFECTS OF OTHER NANOMATERIALS	'5
11. DISCUSSION	7
12. CONCLUSION	37
13. BIBLIOGRAPHY	39

1. INTRODUCTION

Our team has produced comprehensive reviews of current knowledge on types of nanoparticles, their synthesis and applications, as well as the associated health risks and the exposure assessment challenges facing OHS specialists. The control and prevention aspects of occupational health and safety associated with nanoparticles were also discussed (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2006a, 2006b, 2008). The chapter dealing with the assessment of knowledge in the area of hygiene pertaining to health risks (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2008) is largely based on the present document, which focuses on integration of nanoparticle (NP) toxicity data from the literature. NPs are produced intentionally with the aim of developing new materials that exhibit certain specific properties. These properties are related to at least one of their dimensions, which must be less than 100 nanometers (nm).

Recent studies of the biological effects of NPs show signs that some manufactured nanoparticles display unexpected toxicity to living organisms. Some of these particles can become potentially harmful and even cause deleterious human health effects.

Some characteristics of nanoparticles

With a reduction of their size, nanoparticles reveal unique properties. A size reduction results in a substantial increase in the specific surface and the surface Gibbs free energy. This physical parameter of free energy reflects the fact that chemical reactivity increases rapidly as particle size diminishes. For example, water has a specific surface of 12.57×10^{-3} m²/g at a diameter of one millimetre but the surface expands to $12.57 \times 10^{+3}$ m²/g at a diameter of one nanometre. Surface energy also rises by a factor of one million as size decreases from millimetres to nanometres (Zhao and Nalwa, 2007c).

This means that the NP has a very large specific surface, a large proportion of its molecules on the surface and very high reactivity because the reactivity is linked to free energy. This increased NP specific reactivity allows us to understand that the biological behaviour of NPs and their effects on living organisms can become totally different when particle size decreases. The results of toxicity studies have also led to a reconsideration of the traditional concepts of toxic risk assessment, which is normally based on the dose-response ratio, with the dose expressed in terms of mass or concentration. Indeed, the results obtained clearly showed that on the nano-scale, factors such as specific surfaces, surface modifications, number of particles, surface properties (stereochemistry, degree of ionization, oxido-reduction potential, solubility, intermolecular force, interatomic distance between the different functional groups, partition coefficient), concentration, dimensions, structure are all factors that must be considered in toxicity assessment.

Moreover, contrary to toxicity studies with larger particles, the initial exposure dose can involve a degree of uncertainty because the nanoparticles can agglomerate into larger particles during the emission process, the exposure process outside the organism or during translocation processes within the organism. This is particularly true during inhalation exposure experiments. This means that the form and physicochemical properties of NPs can evolve during experimentation and the biological microenvironment can be extremely sensitive to these changes. This results in the possibility of substantial modification of the interactions between the biological systems and the NPs, making the interpretation of toxicity experimentation results even more complex (Zhao *et al.*, 2007a).

Absorption and pulmonary deposition of nanoparticles

The lungs are the main route for dust entering the human body. Dust deposition in the pulmonary system varies considerably according to the granulometry of ultrafine dusts and their airborne behaviour. Normally, for coarser dusts encountered in work environments, the proportion of dusts deposited in the alveolar region increases as particle diameter decreases, reaching a maximum value of around 20% for 3-micrometre particles. This percentage then diminishes gradually. This situation has led hygienists and occupational health physicians to consider reflexively that the smaller the particle, the deeper it is deposited in the lungs. They should beware of this reflex – the situation is totally different for nanoparticles!

Figure 1, taken from Witschger and Fabriès (2005) and reproduced with the permission of the Institut National de Recherche Scientifique (INRS) in France illustrates the deposition rate in the different pulmonary regions according to particle size. This figure, reproduced in an ISO technical report (ISO, 2007), clearly illustrates that no particle with an aerodynamic diameter of 1 nm, or 0.001 micrometre, reaches the alveoli, while 80% are deposited in nose and pharynx. The other 20% ends up in the tracheobronchial region. At this size, retention of inhaled nanoparticles is nearly 100%.

Figure 1: Prediction of total and regional particle deposition in the airway according to particle size. Reproduced with authorization of INRS-France.



By increasing particle size to 5 nm (vertical line to the left of 0.01 micrometre), 90% of all inhaled particles are retained in the lung and then are deposited in the three regions with relative uniformity. Total pulmonary absorption of 20 nm particles (second vertical line, to the right of 0.01 micrometre) decreases to 80% but more than 50% of 20 nm particles are deposited in the alveolar region. This means that 20% of inhaled particles penetrate the lung but leave it during exhalation. Particle granulomatry thus has a major impact on the pulmonary deposition site (Witschger and Fabriès 2005; Oberdorster 2005a; Zhao and Nalwa, 2007; ISO, 2007). In several

nanoparticle production processes, the granulomatry can also vary considerably according to the stage of production. To understand dust behaviour and aggregation phenomena, see the IRSST reports (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2006, 2008).

The three pulmonary regions represent very substantial differences in the surfaces where particles can be deposited. Thus, even though the mass of 20 nm ultrafine particles deposited in the alveolar region represents over 50% of the total mass, the deposited dust concentration, expressed in lung surface units, will still be over 100 times greater in the nasal region and more than 10 times greater in the tracheobronchial region (Oberdörster, 2005a). The quantity of particles and the particle deposition site in the pulmonary system are also influenced significantly by the presence of a pre-existing lung disease (Maynard and Kuempel, 2005; US EPA, 2005). For example, the particle deposition rate in the upper bronchioli is four times higher in persons suffering from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) than in healthy individuals exposed to the same particle concentration (US EPA, 2005). These differences in dust distribution in the lungs may have major consequences on the health effects of inhaled ultrafine particles and the elimination mechanisms involved (Schiller et al., 1988; Kim and Jaques, 2000; Jacques and Kim, 2000; Daigle et al., 2003; Oberdörster, 2005a, 2005b; Zhang et al., 2005b). Moreover, the increase in respiratory volume and the deposited fraction during physical exercise can increase the total number of particles deposited more than 4.5 times compared to the body at rest (Daigle et al., 2003) and change the deposition site by significantly increasing particle speed and the possibility of impaction in the airway (Zhao and Nalwa, 2007).

Elimination of dusts deposited in the lungs

The human body has various defence mechanisms to eliminate these undesirable foreign objects. Two processes are involved: chemical dissolution for soluble particles and physical translocation, i.e., transport from one place to another, for insoluble or low-solubility particles. Soluble ultrafine dusts will act at the solubilization site and will not be discussed here, since the effects are highly variable depending on the dust composition and identical to those of larger dusts which are also solubilized.

By translocation, insoluble or low-solubility particles deposited in the pulmonary system are eliminated from the respiratory system by transporting them elsewhere in the body. The mucociliary escalator eliminates the coarsest particles, which normally are deposited in the upper lungs, mainly in the tracheobronchial region. The tracheobronchial mucous membranes are covered with ciliated cells that form an escalator and expel the mucus containing the particles into the digestive system. Normally this is an efficient mechanism that eliminates particles from the respiratory tract in less than 24 hours, even ultrafine particles (Kreyling *et al.*, 2002).

In the alveolar region, the macrophages will take up the insoluble particles by phagocytosis, a mechanism whereby the macrophages will surround the particles, digest them if they can and proceed slowly to the mucociliary escalator to eliminate them. This is a relatively slow process, with a half-life of about 700 days in humans (Oberdörster, 2005a). However, the efficiency of phagocytosis is heavily dependent on particle shape and size. Several studies seem to show that unagglomerated ultrafine particles deposited in the alveolar region are not phagocyted efficiently by the macrophages (particularly particles with a diameter of less than 70 nm; Bergeron and Archambault, 2005). However, the macrophages are very efficient for coarser particles in the one to three micrometre range (Tabata and Ikada, 1988; Green *et al.*, 1998).

The often inefficient uptake of ultrafine and nanometric dusts by macrophages can lead to a major accumulation of particles if exposure is continued and to greater interaction of these particles with

the alveolar epithelial cells. Studies have shown that some ultrafine particles can pass through the epithelium and reach the interstitial tissues (Ferin *et al.*, 1992; Oberdörster *et al.*, 1992, 1994, 2000; Kreyling and Scheuch, 2000, Kreyling *et al.*, 2002; Borm *et al.*, 2003, 2004). This phenomenon seems more prevalent in higher species, such as dogs and monkeys, compared to rodents (Nikula *et al.*, 1997; Kreyling and Scheuch, 2000). Once the epithelium is crossed, a fraction of the particles can reach the lymphatic nodules.

Other nanoparticle absorption mechanisms

For nano-scaled ultrafine particles, it is now recognized that two other mechanisms contribute to the absorption of these particles. Ultrafine particles and NPs can pass through the extrapulmonary organs via the bloodstream (Oberdörster, 2002, 2005a, 2005b; Nemmar et al., 2001, 2002a; Meiring et al., 2005). Once they reach the bloodstream, the nanoparticles can circulate throughout the body and be distributed to the different organs. Moreover, some particles can be transported along the sensory axons to the central nervous system (Oberdörster et al., 2004; Qingnuan et al., 2002; Mikawa et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2004). These two mechanisms could play a major role in the development of certain cardiac or central nervous system diseases, but these phenomena still have to be demonstrated clearly in humans (Oberdörster, 2005a, 2005b). Katz et al. (1984) described neuronal transport from the nose to the brain for 20 to 200 nm microspheres. Inhalation of 35 nm radiomarked carbon particles led to a significant accumulation in the olfactory bulb of rats seven days after exposure. Several studies showed that when rats are exposed to dusts or welding fumes containing manganese, an insoluble manganese fraction could pass through the hematoencephalic barrier, circulating directly from the nose to the brain via the olfactory nerves, thus allowing manganese to accumulate in the brain. Such studies also were performed on various soluble metals and led to the same conclusions (DeLorenzo, 1970; Tjalve et Henriksson, 1999; Brenneman et al., 2000; Dorman et al., 2002; Ostiguy et al., 2003, 2005, 2006c; Oberdorster et al., 2004; Salehi, 2005; Elder et al., 2007). In humans, it is clearly shown that manganism is related to manganese accumulation in the brain, although the exact mechanism of this accumulation is not fully understood (Ostiguy et al., 2003, 2005).

Effects of ultrafine dusts

Several lung diseases related to fine dusts in the work environment have long been known: pneumoconiosis (silicosis, asbestosis), lung cancer, welder's disease, occupational asthma, berylliosis, etc. Donaldson *et al.* (2005) produced a review of the current knowledge in the field. It clearly appears that pulmonary toxicity is related to oxidative stress caused by the presence of transition metals, an organic fraction or a very high specific surface of deposited dusts. This oxidative stress can lead to activation of the epithelial cells. The section on fullerenes will show that toxic effects of these molecules on the cells are also linked to an oxidative stress mechanism. In addition, persons suffering from chronic obstructive bronchitis or asthma (among others) are already subject to oxidative stress (Hervé-Bazin, 2005). Exposure to ultrafine dusts thus could have major health consequences, particularly for susceptible individuals.

Animal studies of ultrafine particles have shown pulmonary inflammation with histopathological change and translocation of particles to extrapulmonary tissues. Translocation of inhaled ultrafine particles in the bloodstream could affect endothelial function and promote thrombosis and other blood system problems, including increased blood coagulation (Elder *et al.*, 2000, 2002, 2004; Nemmar *et al.*, 2002a; Kreyling *et al.*, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2003). This phenomenon has been shown in hamsters (Nemmar *et al.*, 2002b, 2003) but the situation in humans remains ambiguous.

Epidemiological studies and volunteer studies of the human cardiovascular system have shown that the level of inhaled particles has direct effects on cardiovascular physiology, with alterations of cardiac rhythm, arterial diameter and plasma viscosity. Several epidemiological studies (Seaton et al., 1995; Peters et al., 1997, 2001; Wichmann et al., 2000; MacNee and Donaldson, 2000; Samet et al., 2000; Utell and Frampton, 2000; Penntinen et al., 2001; Bateson and Schwartz, 2001; Oberdorster 2001; Pekkamen et al., 2002; Wichmann 2003a, b; Pope et al., 2004; Kreyling et al., 2004; Peters, 2005; Brunekreef et al. 2005; Dominici et al. 2006) found a direct relationship between exposure to nano-scaled ultrafine dusts and respiratory and cardiovascular effects. Significant relationships were established in several epidemiological studies showing that an increase in fine particle air pollution, mainly due to vehicle emissions, led to an increase in morbidity and mortality of more fragile populations with respiratory and cardiac problems (Dockery, 1994; Schwartz et al. 1994, 1995; Bruske-Hohlfeld et al., 2005). Controlled clinical studies in the laboratory showed ultrafine dust deposition throughout the pulmonary system, all accompanied by cardiovascular problems (Brown et al., 2002; Daigle et al., 2003; Pietropaoli et al., 2004; Oberdörster, 2005a, 2005b). A symposium of experts held in October 2005 (Mossman et al. 2007) concluded that the pulmonary or cardiac problems related to overexposure to ultrafine dusts are partly related to genetic factors and partly to environmental conditions. Studies of coal miners exposed to ultrafine dusts showed accumulation of such dusts in the liver and spleen (Donaldson, 2005). Accumulation was higher in miners exhibiting severe pulmonary problems, thus suggesting that damaged lungs or lungs with substantial deposits favour the passage of ultrafine particles to the blood system. A preliminary mouse study with a metallofullerene (Zhao et al. 2007a) suggests that this nanoparticle induces death by thromboembolism but additional studies are required to understand the mechanism.

Ultrafine particles could also be at the origin of autoimmune reactions. They then would act as haptenes by modifying the structure of the proteins, thus altering their properties and possibly rendering them antigenic (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006; Nel *et al.*, 2006).

Thus, ultrafine dusts of the same dimensions as nanoparticles mainly penetrate the body via inhalation and are deposited in the lungs. A portion of these dusts can be distributed directly to the brain via the olfactory nerves. The lungs do not necessarily succeed in totally eliminating these undesirable particles, which then cause pulmonary inflammation. This can lead to the development of lung diseases specific to the nature of the dusts that caused them. These very fine dusts can also pass through the different pulmonary protection barriers, reach the blood system and be distributed to every part of the body, where they can cause different kinds of damage. Oberdörster (2005c) summarizes the effects on the body of inhaling nano-scaled ultrafine dusts. Translocated particles then can induce various damages in different parts of the body. Figure 2 summarizes the potential effects of inhaled ultrafine particles.

Many international bodies are concerned about the health risks related to nanoparticles. The available documents prepared for these bodies include Arnall (2003), Bodegal *et al.* (2003), Christiansen (2004), Aitken *et al.* (2004), European Commission (2004), Dreher (2003), Durrenberger *et al.* (2004), Feigenbaum *et al.* (2004), Health and Safety Executive, (2004), Hoet *et al.* (2004b), Lamy (2005), Malsch *et al.* (2004), Mark D (2005), Morrison *et al.* (2003), Oberdörster *et al.* (2000), Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering (2004), Ostiguy *et al.*, (2006a, 2006b), AFSSET (2006), Zhao and Nalwa (2007a). The present report seeks to update the IRSST report published in 2006 (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2006a) by consolidating the main information currently available on the subject, presented by nanoparticle type based on the study of the original articles.





2. OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this report is to summarize and classify the original articles identified in the scientific literature up to summer 2007, pertaining to the study of the toxicity of nanoparticles synthesized for use in nanotechnology. The content was used in updating Chapter 6 of the knowledge assessment on "Nanoparticles: Current knowledge about occupational health and safety risks and prevention measures" produced by our team (Ostiguy et al., 2008).

3. METHODOLOGY

Analyzing the scientific literature via the approaches commonly used for this type of research in different databases by the IRSST Informathèque and the CSST documentation centre identified peer-reviewed journal articles on nanoparticle toxicity. The literature is covered exhaustively up to summer 2007. Among the main databases and search engines consulted, we should mention MedLine, Toxline, PubMed, Inspec, Coppernic, Embase, Ntis, Ei, Compendex, SciSearch, Pascal, Alerts, Teoma and Scirus. To cover the breadth of the nanomaterial spectrum, the following key words were used: nanotechnologie, nanotechnology, nanoparticules, nanoparticles, nanomatériaux, nanomaterials, nanotoxicity, nanotoxicité, fullerènes, fullerenes, nanotubes, quantum dots, points quantiques, nanocristaux, drug delivery, ultrafine particles, nanomedicine and nanomédecine.

The literature review specifically targeted engineered nanoparticles produced for commercial uses. Then, ultrafine dusts such as diesel fumes or welding fumes were not considered. Titanium dioxide and carbon black were only briefly discussed as important literature reviews already cover these well documented substances.

The contents of the various articles were summarized. In most cases, a comparative analysis of different articles on the same aspect could not be performed, given the lack of information currently published and available. Given the large variety of NPs studied and the limited information available for each one, results are presented by categories: fullerenes, carbon nanotubes, quantum dots, organic nanoparticles, inorganic nanoparticles... Many publications focused on the biopharmacological use of nanomaterials for therapeutic or diagnostic purposes. Although these studies inform us about several toxicological aspects of certain nanomaterials, the integration and generalization of this material requires a prudent approach. These nanomaterials are developed for treatment or diagnostic investigation purposes, specifically to avoid producing toxicity in humans. When publications concerned toxicological aspects that seemed particularly relevant to our research, we included them. The studies selected are also useful for risk assessment of workers in the biopharmaceutical industry.

4. HEALTH EFFECTS OF FULLERENES

Fullerenes are spherical cages containing from 28 to more than 100 carbon atoms. The most widely studied form, synthesized for the first time in 1985 (Kroto et al.), contains 60 carbon atoms, C₆₀ (Holister et al., 2003). This is a hollow sphere, resembling a soccer ball, composed of interconnected carbon pentagons and hexagons (Holister *et al.*, 2003; Hett, 2004). Fullerenes are a class of materials displaying unique physical properties. They can be subjected to extreme pressures and regain their original shape when the pressure is released. When they are not modified, these molecules do not combine with each other. However, when fullerenes are manufactured, certain carbon atoms can be replaced with other atoms and form bondable molecules, thus producing a hard but elastic material. The surface chemical composition can be modified and different organic chains can be added, or they can be incorporated into carbon nanotubes (see Chapter 5). Since fullerenes are empty structures with dimensions similar to several biologically active molecules, they can be filled with different substances and find medical applications (Holister et al., 2003). Among the many biomedical applications envisioned for fullerenes, it was shown that fullerenes can be excellent sensors of free radicals (Krusic et al. 1991). Chemically modified fullerenes are also envisioned as drug delivery vectors, such as neuroprotective, antiviral, antibacterial, antitumoural, antiapoptic and antioxidant agents (Fiorito 2007).

4.1. Toxicokinetics

4.1.1 Absorption

A Scrivens and Tour (1994) study cited by Monteiro-Riviere and Inman (2006) on absorption of unmodified C_{60} modified with ^{14}C by human keratinocytes showed retention of about 50% of the C_{60} after 6 h. However, it is not known whether the C_{60} was really absorbed or whether it was only adsorbed to the cell surfaces.

In a study intended to establish whether human monocyte-derived macrophages can internalize NP, Porter *et al.* (2006) showed that C_{60} NP were accumulated along the nuclear membrane and in the nucleus. Their work supported the hypothesis that C_{60} toxicity would be due, at least in part, to lipid peroxidation caused by generation of free radicals in the cell membranes. They also found them in certain intracellular organelles, such as lysosomes, free cytoplasm and the nucleus, which suggests that intracellular sites could also play a role in peroxidation. The researchers hypothesized that if the NP penetrate the nucleus, this could damage the DNA.

4.1.2. Distribution

4.1.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure No data

4.1.2.2. Cutaneous exposure No data

4.1.2.3. Ingestion exposure No data

4.1.2.4. Exposure by other routes

Rajagopalan *et al.* (1996) studied the pharmacokinetics of a water-soluble fullerene, p,p'-bis(2-amimoethyl)-diphenyl-C₆₀, administered intravenously in rats (15 and 25 mg/kg). Injection of 25 mg/kg caused the death of two tested rats in 5 minutes. In five other rats, a 15 mg/kg dose did not result in any death and showed that the compound is greater than 99% bound to plasma proteins and distributes into tissues. It also exposed the absence of a renal clearance mechanism.

Tsuchiya *et al.* (1996) showed that C_{60} (intraperitoneal administration, 50 mg/kg; day 18 of gestation) is distributed throughout the embryo and the yolk sac of mice 18 hours after injection. Thus, it passes through the placental barrier.

A preliminary study by Moussa *et al.* (1997) showed that the C_{60} fullerene could be detected in the blood, liver and spleen in mice one, two and six days after an intraperitoneal injection (0.5 mL/20 g).

In a study by Yamago *et al.* (1995) cited by Oberdörster *et al.* (2005b) on intravenously exposed rats, 90% of the functionalized and radiomarked C₆₀ fullerenes (solubilized in water with polyethylene glycol and albumin; 9.6 kBq in ~50 μ L) were still present in the body one week after administration, including 73-80% in the liver. Fractions of the dose were also found in the spleen (up to 2%), the lungs (up to 5%), the kidneys (up to 3%), the heart (~ 1%) and the brain (~ 0.84%) (Fiorito *et al.*, 2006a, b).

4.1.2.5. In vitro

No data

4.1.3. Metabolism

The C_{60} fullerene can reduce the hepatic enzyme activity of glutathione (glutathione S-transferase, glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase) *in vitro* in humans (liver coming from an autopsy), mice and rats (Iwata *et al.*, 1998).

4.1.4. Excretion

In the study by Yamago *et al.* (1995), 98% of the same functionalized and radiomarked C_{60} fullerenes (18 kBq in 100 µL), but administered orally, were found in the feces 48 h after administration (Oberdörster *et al.*, 2005b). The remaining 2% were eliminated in the urine, indicating a certain absorption in the blood (Oberdörster *et al.*, 2005b).

Rajagopalan et al. (1996) studied the pharmacokinetics of a water-soluble fullerene, p,p'-bis(2-amimoethyl)-diphenyl-C60, administered intravenously in rats (15 and 25 mg/kg). The authors reported the absence of a renal clearance mechanism.

4.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration)

4.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

The National Toxicology Program (NTP) in the United States is currently studying the pulmonary toxicity of C_{60} fullerenes following inhalation exposure or intratracheal instillation (Bucher, 2006). The results of this study were unavailable at the time this document was written.

4.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

4.2.2.1. Effects on the organs No data

- 4.2.2.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 4.2.2.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 4.2.2.4. Development effects No data
- 4.2.2.5. Genotoxic effects No data
- 4.2.2.6. Carcinogenic effects

There was no effect on DNA synthesis in the application of C_{60} fullerenes to mouse skin (200 µg during 72 h), but a slight increase in ornithine decarboxylase activity (enzyme with a role in the promotion of tumours) was noted in the epidermis (Nelson *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, no increase in cutaneous tumours was observed in a subchronic study (24 weeks) of initiation and promotion of carcinogenesis.

4.2.2.7. Cellular and humoural effects No data

4.2.3. Ingestion exposure

Chen *et al.* (1998b) studied the acute and subacute toxicity of C_{60} polyalkylsulfonate in rats. No mortality was observed in an acute oral toxicity (LD₅₀) test (0 and 2500 mg/kg).

4.2.4. Exposure by other routes

4.2.4.1. Effects on the organs

Oberdörster (2004) exposed largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*) to water-soluble fullerenes (nC₆₀). The author observed lipid peroxidation in the brain and a decrease in glutathione in the fish gills after 48 h of exposition to a 0.5 ppm concentration. However, these results are controversial. According to Andrievsky *et al.* (2005), the negative biological effects observed by Oberdörster (2004) are associated with the presence of a large quantity of impurities. The particles tested by

Oberdörster (2004) were said to contain about 10% organic impurities, particularly tetrahydrofurane used as a solvent. According to Andrievsky *et al.* (2005), pristine C_{60} fullerenes are non-toxic and aqueous solutions of hydrated fullerenes (C_{60} •nH₂O) show positive biological activities (antioxidant activity, for example).

- 4.2.4.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data
- 4.2.4.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system

Chen *et al.* (2004) studied the antioxidant potential of fullerene derivatives on isolated Wistar rat lungs subjected to ischemic reperfusion. Ischemic reperfusion is responsible for production of reactive oxygen species (Chen *et al.*, 2004). The increase in arterial pressure and capillary blood pressure in the lungs induced by sodium nitroprusside during ischemic reperfusion was corrected by 10 mg/kg of polyhydroxylated fullerenes $[C_{60}(OH)_{7\pm2}]$ administered by intraperitoneal injection for 3 days before the beginning of the study.

By intratracheal instillation, Sayes *et al.* (2007) exposed rats to 0.2 to 3.0 mg/kg concentrations of nano-C₆₀ and C₆₀(OH)₂₄ using quartz as a positive control. Analysis of the biomarkers contained in the fluids drawn by bronchoalveolar lavage and by a histopathological evaluation of the tissues after one day, one week, one month and three months showed a transient inflammation and cellular effects identical to the controls one day after exposure. An increase in lipid peroxidation was observed at high doses (1.5 and 3.0 mg/kg) for nano-C₆₀ after one and three days post-instillation. No effect on the pulmonary tissues was measured for the two products at the highest concentration after three months. However, quartz produced dose-dependent inflammatory responses characterized by accumulation of neutrophils and alveolar macrophages, as well as thickening of the pulmonary tissues consistent with the development of pulmonary fibrosis. These *in vivo* tests show a completely different behaviour than the results obtained *in vitro* (Sayes *et al.*, 2004, 2005).

4.2.4.1.3. Liver effects No data

4.2.4.1.4. Kidney effects

Chen *et al.* (1998) studied the acute and subacute toxicity of C_{60} polyalkylsulfonate in rats. While no mortality was observed in an acute oral toxicity (LD₅₀) test (0 and 2500 mg/kg), an approximate LD₅₀ of 600 mg/kg was determined by intraperitoneal injection (0, 500, 750 and 1000 mg/kg) and kidney impairment was observed in the deceased animals. A study by intravenous injection of 100 mg/kg showed a nephropathy and biochemical impairment (significant decrease in alkaline phosphatase and triacetylglycerol) two weeks after administration, thus corroborating the kidney impairment observed after intraperitoneal injection (0, 0.6, 6 and 60 mg/kg). Reduced water and food consumption, a significant decrease in body weight and in the weight of certain organs (thymus and heart), an increase in the weight of the spleen and a significant rise of certain biochemical blood parameters (significant increase in aspartate aminotransferase and a significant decrease in triacetylglycerol) were

observed at 60 mg/kg. A nephropathy was observed at 6 and 60 mg/kg respectively.

- 4.2.4.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 4.2.4.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation No data
- 4.2.4.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system

Bosi *et al.* (2004) studied the hemolytic effect of different water-soluble C_{60} fullerenes (fulleropyrrolidine derivatives) on human red blood cells *in vitro*. The fullerenes with two cationic chains triggered hemolysis of 40 to 50% of the cells at concentrations ranging from 20 to 60 μ M (incubation for 30 min.). The position of the cationic chain on C_{60} seems to have an influence on the hemolytic potential. Indeed, the derivative with a cationic chain in the equatorial position showed a higher hemolytic potential than the other derivatives (at the same concentration). The position of the cells (Hoet *et al.*, 2004a). The fullerenes with carboxylic functions or a single cationic chain did not show any hemolytic effect up to a concentration of 80 μ M.

- 4.2.4.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 4.2.4.2. Immunological and allergic effects

The administration of C_{60} (conjugated to thyroglobulin and albumin) by intraperitoneal injection in mice triggered an increase in C_{60} -specific antibodies, IgG (Chen *et al.*, 1998a). IgG play a role in the defence against infection.

- 4.2.4.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data.
- 4.2.4.4. Development effects

Tsuchiya *et al.* (1996) performed an *in vitro* and *in vivo* study of the effects on development of mice. The presence of C_{60} fullerenes solubilized with polyvinyl pyrrolidone inhibited cellular differentiation and proliferation of mesencephalic cells *in vitro*. Intraperitoneal administration on the eleventh day of gestation caused 100% mortality and body flexion anomalies at 137 mg/kg, malformations (head and tail region) at 50 mg/kg and increased head volume at 25 mg/kg. At 50 mg/kg, C_{60} was distributed throughout the embryo and the yolk sac was impaired. Thus, C_{60} passes through the placental barrier, disrupts the yolk sac and causes intrauterine mortality and malformations.

4.2.4.5. Genotoxic effects

Sera *et al.* (1996) observed *in vitro* mutagenic activity in 3 salmonella strains exposed to the C_{60} fullerene and to visible light in the presence of a metabolic activation system.

Zakharenko et al. (1997) observed no effect of the C_{60} fullerene during an *in vitro* somatic mutation and recombination test (SMART) on *Escherichia coli* and an *in vivo* test on *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae.

Babynin *et al.* (2002) tested the mutagenic activity of three C_{60} fullerene derivatives on *Salmonella thyphimurium*: dimethoxyphosphoryl-carbethoxymethanofullerene, dimethoxyphosphoryl-carbmethoxy-methanofullerene and 1-methyl-2-(3,5-di-tertbutyl-4-hydroxy-phenyl)-3,4-fulleropyrrolidine. Negative results were obtained for the first and last of these derivatives, while the second proved to be antimutagenic.

Dhawan *et al.* (2006) prepared C_{60} colloidal dispersions in water and in a waterethanol mixture in the total absence of any other organic solvent. Using human lymphocytes, they measured a dose-dependent genotoxic response at concentrations as low as 2.2 µg/L in water and 4.2 µg/L in water-ethanol.

4.2.4.6. Carcinogenic effects

The fullerene genotoxicity studies are insufficient to produce an adequate assessment of carcinogenicity.

4.2.4.7. Cellular and humoural effects

In vitro exposure to the C₆₀ fullerene (12.5 μ g C₆₀-cyclodextin) induced oxidative damage in rat hepatic microsomes. This damage can be modulated by antioxidants and free radical scavengers (Kamat *et al.*, 1998).

Photoinduced (halogen lamp) cytotoxicity of fullerenes has been reported in several studies. Yang *et al.*, (2002) showed that this activity could vary with the number of malonic acid molecules added to the C_{60} fullerene (dimalonic acid, trimalonic acid or quadrimalonic acid). Phototoxic inhibition of cell growth was greater for dimalonic acid than for trimalonic acid and quadrimalonic acid, in descending order.

Sayes *et al.* (2004) studied the cytotoxicity (CL₅₀) of four water-soluble fullerenes in human cells *in vitro* (skin fibroblasts and hepatic carcinoma cells; 0.24 to 2400 ppb). They showed that toxicity varies with the nature of the functional group. The authors observed CL₅₀ of 20 ppb with nano-C₆₀¹, 10,000 ppb with C₃, 40,000 ppb with Na⁺₂₋₃[C₆₀O₇₋₉(OH)₁₂₋₁₅]₍₂₋₃₎ and > 5,000,000 ppb with C₆₀(OH)₂₄ on skin fibroblasts. The generation of oxygen radicals (superoxide anion) by fullerenes is said to be responsible for cell membrane damage causing cell death (Sayes *et al.*, 2004). The addition of functional groups, such as hydroxyls or carboxyls, would make the fullerenes less toxic for the cells (Sayes *et al.*, 2004).

Chen *et al.* (2004) studied the antioxidant potential of fullerene derivatives on RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages. The damage induced in the macrophages by exposure to sodium nitroprusside or hydrogen peroxide was corrected dose-dependently by prior exposure to polyhydroxylated fullerenes [$C_{60}(OH)_{7\pm 2}$] (5-1,500 µM). However, 1 and 1.5 mM concentrations of $C_{60}(OH)_{7\pm 2}$ triggered cell death (by apoptosis or necrosis, after 24 h).

Bosi *et al.* (2004) studied the cytotoxic effects of different water-soluble C_{60} fullerenes (fulleropyrrolidine derivatives) on human breast cancer cells (MCF-7), rat liver cells (Hep-G2), pig renal proximal tubule cells (LLC-PK₁) and red blood cells. The fullerenes with two cationic chains triggered cytotoxicity at

¹ Nano-C₆₀ is a stable colloid formed by the addition of C₆₀ in water. It has an orderly crystalline structure formed by unmodified C₆₀ (Fortner *et al.*, 2005).

concentrations ranging from 1 to 50 μ M (after 30 minutes of incubation). Red blood cells seem to be more tolerant of derivatives with a relatively high hydrophobic surface/hydrophilic surface ratio.

Sayes *et al.* (2005) studied nano- C_{60} cytotoxicity in human cells *in vitro* (skin fibroblasts, hepatic carcinoma cells and astrocytes). The cells were exposed to concentrations of 0.24, 2.4, 24, 240 and 2400 ppb for 48 h. Cells treated or not treated with a balanced saline solution served as controls. The authors determined LD₅₀ of 20, 50 and 2 ppb for skin fibroblasts, hepatic carcinoma cells and astrocytes respectively. No change in mitochondrial activity and no difference in the cellular DNA concentration were observed between the controls and the cells exposed to 2400 ppb of nano- C_{60} . The authors observed cell membrane damage and an increase in glutathione (natural antioxidant) in the cells exposed to 240 ppb of nano- C_{60} . No oxidative damage was observed following the addition of L-ascorbic acid (antioxidant) with nano- C_{60} in the culture medium. Nano- C_{60} cytotoxicity is said to be attributable to the damage caused to the cell membrane by lipid peroxidation (Sayes *et al.*, 2005). The authors assume that nano- C_{60} is at the origin of formation of reactive oxygen species.

No C_{60} effect on human keratinocyte or fibroblast proliferation was observed in the Scrivens and Tour (1994) study cited by Monteiro-Riviere and Inman (2006).

Table 1 summarizes the existing information concerning the health effects of fullerenes. This information remains very limited.

Effect	Route			
	Inhalation ²	Cutaneous	Ingestion	Other
Toxicokinetics				
Irritation				
Systemic ³				
Acute				
Intermediate				
Chronic				
Neurological				
Immunological				
Development				
Reproductive				
Genotoxic				
Cancer				

Table 1. Documented health effects of fullerenes¹

¹ Existing human (\blacksquare) or animal (\blacktriangle) studies. Adopted from the ATSDR.

² Including intratracheal instillation.

³ Systemic effects: acute (\leq 14 days), intermediate (15 to 364 days) and chronic (\geq 365 days).

5. HEALTH EFFECTS OF CARBON NANOTUBES

Discovered barely a few decades ago, carbon nanotubes are a new crystalline form of carbon molecules. Wound in a hexagonal network of carbon atoms, these hollow cylinders can have diameters as small as 0.7 nm and reach several millimeters in length (Hett, 2004). Each end can be opened or closed by a fullerene half-molecule. These nanotubes can have a single layer (like a straw; they are then known as SWCNT, or Single-Walled Carbon NanoTubes) or several layers (known as MWCNT, or Multi-Walled Carbon NanoTubes) of coaxial cylinders of increasing diameters in a common axis (Iijima, 1991). Multilayer carbon nanotubes can reach diameters of 20 nm (Aitken et al., 2004). They are chemically and thermally very stable (Hameed Hyder, 2003). Their manufacturing normally involves the presence of metals, the final content of which in the product will depend on the product's conditions of synthesis and subsequent purification. The presence of these metals (Co, Fe, Ni, Mo, for example), which can represent up to 50% of the content by weight, can have a major influence on carbon nanotube toxicity (Donaldson et al., 2006; Lam et al., 2006; Maynard et al., 2004). Maynard et al. (2004) point out that it is possible that the carbon layer invariably coating the particles may be altered during phagocytosis and/or other biological processes. The nanotube dispersion processes used in experimental studies (for example, sonification) can also lead to the release of metals (Lam et al., 2006).

It is considered that a 20 x 2000 nm nanotube can have 100 times more surface than a spherical nanoparticle 20 nm in diameter (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006). This can represent a significant factor in nanotube toxicity. Moreover, carbon nanotubes have a great propensity to agglomerate, and this could significantly reduce the total surface capable of interacting with the body's cells (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006).

Recent developments make it possible to consider several potential applications for chemically modified carbon nanotubes. Among those considered, it is appropriate to mention their use in preparation of orthopedic prostheses, as implants, as biosensors for protein and enzyme detection, in anticancer therapy, in tissue engineering and as a bone growth support material facilitating healing of fractures (Fiorito 2007).

When produced, carbon nanotubes represent a complex matrix composed of carbon nanotubes, nanotube agglomerates (carbon nanowires), non-tubular carbon and metallic catalysts (Maynard *et al.*, 2007). The toxicity of the material to which the worker will be exposed will depend on the partition and the arrangement of these particles in the work environment.

5.1 Toxicokinetics

5.1.1. Absorption

In a study by Kam *et al.* (2004) cited by Monteiro-Riviere and Inman (2006), SWCNT and SWCNT conjugated to streptavidin (used as an indicator) were internalized by endocytosis in human acute promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL60) and human Jurkat T cells.

5.1.2. Distribution

5.1.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure No data

5.1.2.2. Cutaneous exposure No data 5.1.2.3. Ingestion exposure

Hydroxylated SWCNT administered by gavage in mice (100 μ L of a 15 μ g/mL solution) are distributed to most of the organs and tissues, except the brain (Wang *et al.*, 2004).

Chrysotile fibrils with a diameter in the same order of magnitude as MWCNT (20 nm) were detected in the blood after ingestion (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006). Translocation of fibres to the pleural space was also observed (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006).

5.1.2.4. Exposure by other routes

The study by Wang *et al.* (2004) shows in mice that radiomarked hydroxylated SWCNT administered intraperitoneally (100 μ L of a 15 μ g/mL solution) are distributed throughout the body, except the brain, pass through several compartments and are retained in the bones. This distribution was not affected by the other routes used (intravenous, subcutaneous and gavage).

5.1.2.5. In vitro

Pantarotto *et al.* (2004) studied the intracellular transport of functionalized SWCNT, i.e., conjugated to lysine, on human and mouse fibroblasts *in vitro* (1, 5 and 10 mM). They showed that these carbon nanotubes could pass through the cellular membrane, accumulate in the cell and end up in the cell nucleus.

Cherukuri *et al.* (2004) showed that carbon nanotubes (1 nm in diameter by 1 µm long) could be ingested by mouse peritoneal macrophages *in vitro*.

Monteiro-Riviere *et al.* (2005b) found MWCNT in the cytoplasmic vacuoles of human epidermal keratocytes *in vitro* (up to 3.6 µm long), a decrease in cell viability and a significant increase in an inflammation marker (interleukin-8). MWCNT are capable of penetrating the cell membrane. The authors point out that iron is not involved in the increase of IL-8 because the particle analysis revealed that the MWCNT did not contain any. Iron was used as a catalyst in synthesizing MWCNT (by vapour phase deposition), but analysis of the MWCNT by two different techniques did not allow its presence to be detected in the MWCNT before and after exposure.

5.1.3. Metabolism

```
No data
```

5.1.4. Excretion

In the study by Wang *et al.* (2004), 11 days after exposure, about 80% of the radiomarked SWCNT administered intraperitoneally had been excreted (94% in the urine and 6% in the feces).

Muller *et al.* (2005) studied the persistence of MWCNT ($5.9 \pm 0.05 \mu m \log; 9.7 \pm 2.1 nm$ outer diameter) and ground MWCNT ($0.7 \pm 0.07 \mu m \log; 11.3 \pm 3.9 nm$ outer diameter) in the lungs of rats (Sprague-Dawley females) exposed by single intratracheal instillation (0.5, 2 and 5 mg). At the lowest dose (0.5 mg), 80% of the MWCNT and 40% of the ground MWCNT ended up in the lungs 60 days after administration. The number of animals was not specified. The authors conclude that carbon nanotubes are persistent in the lungs and that their length influences the kinetics of their clearance. However, Donaldson *et al.*

(2006) point out that the fibres studied by Muller *et al.* (2005) are clearly shorter than the mineral fibres considered to be long and measuring nearly 20 μ m.

Macrophages are efficient in phagocyting inhaled carbon nanotubes shorter than 15-20 μ m (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006). Aggregates are also said to be more easily phagocyted than unaggregated carbon nanotubes (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006).

5.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration)

5.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

- 5.2.1.1. Effects on the organs
 - 5.2.1.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data
 - 5.2.1.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system

Huczko *et al.* (2001b) performed an exploratory study of pulmonary function in Guinea pigs (2 groups of 5 males). A single dose of 25 mg of soot containing carbon nanotubes was administered by intratracheal instillation. No effect on pulmonary function (current volume, respiratory frequency and pulmonary resistance) and on analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid was observed (after 4 months). However, Lam *et al.* (2006) point out that no pathological study was performed on the lungs and that this assessment criterion is crucial in any pulmonary toxicity study involving dusts.

Lam *et al.* (2004a) studied the pulmonary toxicity of acute exposure to three SWCNT preparations in male mice (single intratracheal instillation; 0, 0.1 and 0.5 mg/mouse). No clinical sign (body temperature, piloerection, or other) was observed at 0.1 mg, but inflammation and pulmonary granulomas were recorded for unrefined nanotubes (RNT) and purified nanotubes (PNT). The granulomas were composed of macrophages and administered particles (at 0.1 and 0.5 mg). There was an increase in mortality for Carbolex CNT, but no mortality for RNT and PNT. Clinical signs were observed at 0.5 mg for RNT (hypothermia, inactivity and other), but none concerning PNT. The authors reported an increase in pulmonary granulomas for RNT, PNT and CNT. Carbon black and quartz were used as controls; there was no inflammation and no granuloma for carbon black, as opposed to inflammation and no granuloma for quartz. Only 4 or 5 animals were used per treatment.

Warheit *et al.* (2004, 2005) studied the pulmonary toxicity of acute exposure to a SWCNT preparation in male rats (single intratracheal instillation; 0, 1 and 5 mg/kg). There was no effect at 1 mg/kg. At 5 mg/kg, they reported a high mortality rate (\sim 15%) caused by mechanical blockage of the upper airway, a statistically insignificant increase in pulmonary cell proliferation and an increase in multifocal pulmonary granulomas. A significant increase in lung weight, a significant transient increase in bronchoalveolar lavage anomalies (neutrophilic cells, proteins, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH)) were also observed. There was no effect on the pulmonary macrophages. The number of rats was not mentioned. The duration of post-instillation observation was too short to evaluate the evolution of pulmonary lesions and their eventual regression. The nanotubes also tend to agglomerate, forming larger particles, which could have a different

pulmonary toxicity than unagglomerated nanotubes. No conclusion is possible regarding the inherent toxicity of SWCNT (absence of dose-response ratio, non-uniform distribution and possible regression of the granulomas).

Shvedova et al. (2005) exposed mice (C57BL/6) to purified SWCNT (99.7% carbon and 0.23% iron by weight) by pharyngeal aspiration (single dose; 0, 10, 20 and 40 μ g/mouse). The authors observed unusual pulmonary effects, including an acute inflammation followed by rapid and progressive formation of granulomas and fibrosis (dose-dependent relationship). Shvedova et al. (2005) associated interstitial fibrosis with thickening of the alveolar walls with unagglomerated SWCNT, while granuloma formation was associated with hypertrophied epithelial cells surrounding SWCNT agglomerates. Analysis of he bronchoalveolar lavage fluid showed an increase in protein, LDH and γ -glutamyl transferase activity (cell damage indicators; dose-dependent relationship). The accumulation of an oxidative stress marker (4-hydroxynonenal) and a decrease in glutathione (antioxidant) in the lungs were also observed. Neutrophil accumulation and an increase in proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β) were observed on Day 1, but the TNF- α and IL-1 β levels returned close to the control level 3 days after exposure. Lymphocyte accumulation (Day 3) was followed by accumulation of macrophages and TGF-B1 (growth factor involved in fibrogenesis) (Day 7). Respiratory function disorders, a decrease in bacterial elimination (Listeria monocytogenes) and an increase in type II alveolar cells (AT-II) were also observed. Ultrafine carbon black and SiO_2 particles did not trigger granuloma formation or thickening of the alveolar walls at the same dose (40 µg/mouse) and the inflammatory response was less noticeable than with SWCNT (Shvedova *et al.*, 2005). The 20 µg SWCNT dose is equivalent to the pulmonary deposition resulting from a worker's exposure to the OSHA permitted exposure limit (PEL) for graphite (5 mg/m^3) for 20 days (8 h per day). The authors conclude that workers exposed to such an SWCNT concentration may be at risk of developing pulmonary lesions.

Muller et al. (2005) studied inflammation and fibrosis in the lungs of rats exposed to unground MWCNT and ground MWCNT (single intratracheal instillation; 0.5, 2 and 5 mg). The two types of MWCNT triggered an inflammatory reaction (increase in the activity of LDH, proteins, neutrophils and eosinophils) and a fibrotic reaction (increase in collagen deposition), as well as production of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α) in the lungs. The inflammatory response was more pronounced with the ground MWCNT, but a 5 mg dose of ground MWCNT induced the same fibrotic response as 2 mg of unground MWCNT. The authors also observed a greater dispersion of ground MWCNT through the pulmonary parenchyma where they caused interstitial granulomas. The accumulation of unground MWCNT agglomerates in the airway triggered partial or complete obstruction of the bronchi, formation of collagen-rich granulomas and alveolar inflammation (after 2 months). The administration of carbon black used as a control did not induce significant inflammation or fibrosis. However, asbestos (Rhodesian chrysotile; 2.4 μ m long by 0.17 μ m wide on the average) used as a positive control triggered the same effects as MWCNT. The authors conclude that MWCNT are potentially toxic for humans and that strict industrial hygiene measures must be put in place. Moreover, Donaldson et al. (2006) point out that the great toxicity of ground MWCNT could be attributable to their greater dispersion in the lungs or to the activity of metals present in MWCNT and released by grinding.

Huczko *et al.* (2005) exposed Guinea pigs (5 to 10 animals per group) to different types of MWCNT by intratracheal instillation (single dose of 15 mg). 90 days after administration, the authors observed an obliterating bronchiolitis with pneumonic organization accompanied by a non-specific reaction resembling a desquamative interstitial pneumonia, but without fibrosis or with a mild fibrosis around the bronchioli. The authors also observed an increase in resistance to pulmonary dilation and infiltration of the bronchoalveolar space by inflammatory cells in certain animals. In addition to infiltration of inflammatory cells around the vessels, around the bronchioli and in the interstitial space, a central and peripheral atelectasia², emphysema and an alveolar exudation were observed. Differences in these effects were observed depending on the type of MWCNT administered. Nanotubes were found within alveolar macrophages. The dimensions of the MWCNT tested were not specified. The authors conclude that the duration of exposure to MWCNT administered by intratracheal instillation is crucial to induce measurable effects in the lungs.

Muller *et al.* (2005) and Lam *et al.* (2006) point out that the absence of lesions observed by Warheit *et al.* (2004, 2005a) may be due to the fact that the agglomeration of SWCNT prevented them from reaching the site where lesions are produced, i.e., the alveoli.

Kagan *et al.* (2006) point out that the unusual effects observed by Shvedova *et al.* (2005) (acute inflammation followed by rapid fibrosis formation) could have been caused by changes in the normal progress of the inflammatory response in which the macrophages are involved. The iron contained in SWCNT is said to modify the redox environment of the macrophages and influence their pro/anti-inflammatory response (Kagan *et al.*, 2006).

Grubek-Jaworska *et al.* (2006) studied *in vivo* the effect of single intratracheal instillation (12.5 mg) of four types of commercially available MWCNT and SWCNT with very low iron contents (<0.01 ppm) in groups of 4-5 Guinea pigs. After three months, they noticed that all the CNT lead to organized pneumonitis with an interstitial non-specific focal reaction resembling pneumonia without fibrosis or with a low peribronchiolar fibrosis in all the exposed animals but not in the controls. The concentration of IL-8 in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluids increased for only one of the 4 CNT. The number of macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophils increased significantly for another of the 4 CNT. Finally, for a third of the 4 CNT, the authors measured an increase in macrophages and eosinophils. It is interesting to note that the carbon deposits were found mainly in the bronchioli and were almost totally absent from the alveolar ducts and the alveoli. The authors did not notice any granulomas in the lung tissue. The authors also noted a tendency of the nanotubes to form aggregates (strings/rods), and mechanical blockages of certain airways were detected in some animals.

The current research suggests that in the case of nanotubes longer than 20 μ m and with a sufficient number, one can expect to encounter the same types of effects as those observed following exposure to biopersistent mineral fibers (chrysotile, for

² Atelectasia is a "collapse of the pulmonary alveoli when there is an absence of ventilation" (translated from the glossary of the Service du répertoire toxicologique (toxicological directory service) of the CSST, <u>http://www.reptox.csst.qc.ca/Lexique-A.htm</u>).

example), i.e., fibrosis, cancer, changes in the pleura and mesothelioma (Donaldson *et al.*, 2006).

Poland *et al.* (2008) showed, in a pilot study, that exposing the mesothelial lining of the body cavity of a mice to long MWCNT results in asbestos-like pathogenic behaviour, including inflammation and formation of granulomas. Then, CNT introduced directly into the abdominal cavity of a mice show asbestos-like pathogenicity.

- 5.2.1.1.3. Liver effects No data
- 5.2.1.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 5.2.1.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 5.2.1.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation

Li *et al.* (2005) exposed mice (C57BL/6) to carbon nanotubes (CNT) by pharyngeal aspiration (single dose; 0.5, 1 and 2 mg/kg). The authors observed damage to the mitochondrial DNA of the aorta (oxidative stress-dependent parameter; dose-dependent relationship) 7, 28 and 60 days after administration. The oxidative damage was accompanied by an alteration in expression of the genes responsible for the inflammatory response in the heart (MCP-1 and VCAM-1). According to Li *et al.* (2005), the effects observed in mouse hearts could be a direct effect of CNT found in the circulatory system or an indirect effect of inflammation of the lungs. The cardiovascular effects observed following inhalation of particles could also be linked to the autonomic nervous system (Hoet *et al.*, 2004a; Seaton and Donaldson, 2005). Li *et al.* (2005) conclude that CNT trigger effects which can be predisposition factors for atherogenesis (formation of atherosclerotic plaque in the arteries).

Li *et al.* (2006, 2007) exposed mice with a high blood cholesterol rate (ApoE-/-) to SWCNT by pharyngeal instillation at concentrations of 10 and 40 μ g/mouse. They noted an activation of heme oxygenase-1, an oxidative marker in the lung, the aorta and the cardiac tissue, 7, 28 and 60 days after exposure, and the mice developed aortic DNA damage. The authors (Li *et al.*, 2007) also assessed the effect of repeated exposure in 10 mice (20 μ g every 2 weeks for 8 weeks). The percentage of the surface of the aorta covered with atherosclerotic plaque was significantly higher in mice, which had been exposed to SWCNT compared to the controls. A significant increase in atherosclerotic lesions in the brachiocephalic arteries was also observed. The authors conclude that SWCNT exposure accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mice.

- 5.2.1.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system No data
- 5.2.1.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 5.2.1.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data

- 5.2.1.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 5.2.1.4. Development effects No data
- 5.2.1.5. Genotoxic effects No data
- 5.2.1.6. Carcinogenic effects No data
- 5.2.1.7. Cellular and humoural effects

Manna *et al.* (2005) studied SWCNT toxicity for human keratinocyte cells. The results show an increase in oxidative stress and inhibition of cell proliferation following exposure to concentrations of 0.5 to 10 μ g/mL for periods of 12 to 72 hours, as well as a dose-dependent decrease in cell viability. The results obtained suggest that SWCNT activate the keratinocyte-specific transcription factor NF- κ B dose-dependently and that the activation mechanism is related to activation of kinases due to oxidative stress. The expressive of active proteins would lead to an inflammatory response.

According to Donaldson *et al.* (2006), effects on the mesothelial cells should be envisioned following exposure to carbon nanotubes if the effects of asbestos on these cells are considered. However, this hypothesis will have to be proven scientifically.

Dumortier *et al.* (2006) showed that functionalized carbon nanotubes were taken over by the B and T lymphocytes and by the macrophages *in vitro* without affecting cell viability. Single-walled carbon nanotubes were functionalized with radicals containing ammonium ions and then rendered fluorescent by the addition of fluorescein isothiocyanate on the nitrogen. This highly water-soluble form did not influence the functional activity of the immunoregulating cells. They did not induce cell death or activation of lymphocytes or macrophages. CNT containing polyethylene glycol chains also functionalized subsequently with fluorescein isothiocyanate are less soluble and form a stable suspension in water. They preserve the functionality of the lymphocytes but trigger secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by the macrophages and subsequently alter their capacity to respond to a physiological stimulus. The concentrations used fell within a range of 1 to 10 μ g/mL with incubation times of 4 to 24 hours.

Pulskamp *et al.* (2007) showed that CNT can penetrate the cellular membrane of rat macrophages (NR8383) and have an influence on their physiology and their cellular function. In working with these NR8383 macrophages and with human lung cells (A549), the authors did not note any acute toxicity for the viability of cells exposed to purified or unpurified MWCNT or SWCNT. No nanotube induced NO, TNF- and IL-8 inflammation mediators. They observed a dose-dependent and dependent increase in the time of intracellular reactive oxygen species and a decrease in the potential of the mitochondrial membrane with commercial CNT for both types of cells. Purified CNT, which contain a lower metal content, showed few or none of these effects. This led the researchers (Pulskamp *et al.*, 2007) to suggest that the metals associated with commercial CNT would be responsible for the biological effects.

Wick *et al.* (2007) exposed human MSTO-211H cells *in vitro* to carbon nanotubes of different degrees of agglomeration. The cytotoxic effects of CNT dispersed by means of a surfactant were less than those of asbestos, but the effects of agglomerated CNT in string form (more voluminous, more rigid and more solid) showed greater cytotoxicity than asbestos.

5.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

5.2.2.1. Effects on the organs

5.2.2.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes

Huczko and Lange (2001a) studied the effects on the skin and eyes of exposure to carbon nanotubes. The application of a saturated filter of a solution containing nanotubes did not cause irritation or allergy in volunteers. Ocular instillation of an aqueous suspension of nanotubes in rabbits did not cause irritation.

5.2.2.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system

No data

- 5.2.2.1.3. Liver effects No data
- 5.2.2.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 5.2.2.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 5.2.2.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation No data
- 5.2.2.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system No data
- 5.2.2.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 5.2.2.2 Immunological and allergic effects

Huczko and Lange (2001a) studied the effects on the skin and eyes of exposure to carbon nanotubes. The application of a filter saturated with nanotubes did not cause allergies in volunteers.

- 5.2.2.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 5.2.2.4. Development effects No data
- 5.2.2.5. Genotoxic effects No data
- 5.2.2.6. Carcinogenic effects No data
- 5.2.2.7. Cellular and humoural effects No data

5.2.3. Ingestion exposure

No data

5.2.4. Exposure by other routes

5.2.4.1. Effects on the organs

5.2.4.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes

Shevedova *et al.* (2003), in an *in vitro* study, reported that SWCNT caused a significant dose-response reduction of cell viability and oxidative stress biomarkers (e.g., antioxidant reserve), and a significant increase in lipid peroxides in human epidermal keratinocytes (0, 0.06, 0.12 and 0.24 mg/mL of SWCNT for 18 hours). The authors mention that, according to their results, exposure to unrefined SWCNT can lead to an increase in cutaneous toxicity in exposed workers.

Yokoyama *et al.* (2005) implanted masses of carbon nanotubes ~ 30 to 100 nm in diameter and ~ 100 nm to 1 μ m long) in the subcutaneous tissue of Wistar rats. One week after implantation, the authors observed granulation tissue around the CNT masses and an inflammatory response similar to the one observed during granuloma formation. After four weeks, the CNT masses were surrounded by fibrous tissue. No severe inflammatory response (necrosis, tissue degeneration or neutrophil infiltration) was observed around the CNT during the study. The CNT were observed in the intercellular and intracellular spaces one week after implantation. CNT were also observed in the lysosomes of the macrophages. The results suggest that CNT do not exhibit acute toxicity in subcutaneous tissue (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2005). The doses administered were not specified.

5.2.4.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system

Shevedova *et al.* (2003, 2004b), in an *in vitro* study, reported that SWCNT caused a significant dose-response reduction of cell viability and oxidative stress biomarkers (e.g., antioxidant reserve), and a significant increase in lipid peroxides in human bronchial epithelial cells (0, 0.06, 0.12 and 0.24 mg/mL of SWCNT for 18 hours). At a concentration of 0.24 mg/mL, they detected iron in the cells and an increase in apoptosis. The authors mention that their results indicate that exposure to unrefined SWCNT can lead to an increase in pulmonary toxicity in exposed workers due to oxidative stress.

- 5.2.4.1.3. Liver effects No data
- 5.2.4.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 5.2.4.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 5.2.4.1.6. Effect on the heart and blood circulation No data
- 5.2.4.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system No data
- 5.2.4.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data

5.2.4.2. Immunological and allergic effects

Salvador-Morales *et al.* (2006) studied complement activation³ by SWCNT and double-walled carbon nanotubes (DWCNT; normally 1-3.5 nm in diameter) in human serum (0.62-2.5 mg of nanotubes in 500 μ L of serum). The exact dimensions of the nanotubes were not specified. Both types of carbon nanotubes activated the complement in a similar manner to zymosan used as a positive control (dose-dependent relationship). The authors conclude that complement activation by carbon nanotubes via the classical and alternate routes could promote inflammation and granuloma formation. The C1q protein binds directly to the carbon nanotubes and the proteins binding in the greatest quantity to the nanotubes are fibrinogen and apolipoproteins (AI, AIV and CIII).

- 5.2.4.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 5.2.4.4. Development effects No data
- 5.2.4.5. Genotoxic effects

Zheng *et al.* (2003) showed that single-stranded DNA (unspecified origin) can wind *in vitro* around a carbon nanotube of appropriate diameter and electrical properties. The consequences of such an interaction, particularly in the replication and transcription processes, still have to be studied.

Shvedova *et al.* (2004a) exposed human epidermal keratinocytes (HaCaT) and bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) to SWCNT. The authors observed damage in certain genes, including those involved in oxidative stress.

5.2.4.6. Carcinogenic effects

No data

5.2.4.7. Cellular and humoural effects

Shvedova *et al.* (2004a) exposed human epidermal keratinocytes (HaCaT) and bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) to SWCNT. The authors observed changes in cell ultrastructure and morphology, loss of cellular integrity and cellular apoptosis, as well as oxidative stress (free radical formation, accumulation of peroxidation products and decrease in antioxidants in the cells). The authors conclude that SWCNT exposure can trigger cutaneous and pulmonary toxicity and that oxidative stress is one of the potentially significant mechanisms involved in cell damage.

Cui *et al.* (2005) showed that SWCNT could inhibit cell proliferation, induce apoptosis and reduce adherence of human embryonic kidney cells *in vitro* (25, 50, 100 and 150 μ g/mL, for 1 to 5 days).

Jia *et al.* (2005b) performed a comparative study of the cytotoxicity of SWCNT, MWCNT (10-20 nm in diameter) and the C_{60} fullerene on alveolar macrophages in Guinea pigs. No cytotoxicity was observed for fullerenes (up to a dose of 226 μ g/cm²). However, SWCNT showed higher toxicity than MWCNT. The dose of particles necessary to induce a reduction of macrophage phagocytosis was lower

³ The complement is formed by a group of proteins present in the blood, which interact to defend the body against cells recognized as foreign (Salvador-Morales *et al.*, 2006).
for SWCNT (0.38 μ g/cm²) than for MWCNT and fullerenes (3.06 μ g/cm²). SWCNT and MWCNT were more toxic than quartz, which is considered to be a major health risk during chronic inhalation exposure in the work environment (Jia *et al.*, 2005b).

In a study by Cunningham *et al.* (2005) cited by Monteiro-Riviere and Inman (2006), the gene expression profile obtained after exposure of human epidermal keratinocytes to SWCNT (1.0 mg/mL) was similar to the profile obtained after exposure to quartz or silica.

Shvedova *et al.* (2005) exposed mouse macrophages (RAW 264.7) to SWCNT (0.1 mg/mL for 6 h). The authors observed production of TGF- β 1 (growth factor involved in fibrogenesis) similar to the production induced by zymosan (stimulant of the alveolar macrophages used as positive controls; 0.25 mg/mL for 2 h). SWCNT did not trigger an oxidative response or nitric oxide (NO) production or cellular apoptosis. Production of TNF- α and IL-1 β was more noticeable with zymosan. It seems that the macrophages did not actively phagocytate SWCNT.

Potapovich *et al.* (2005) also exposed macrophages (RAW 264.7) to SWCNT containing different proportions of iron. The authors observed phagocytosis of the SWCNT by the macrophages, a decrease in glutathione and an increase in the number of apoptotic cells. No intracellular production of superoxide (O_2) or NO was observed after exposure. The iron-rich SWCNT catalyzed conversion of extracellular O_2^- into hydroxyl radicals after activation of the macrophages and stimulated IL-6 production. The iron-deprived SWCNT stimulated TGF- β production. The authors point out that cell and tissue damage can be increased by synergy between the inflammatory response and the oxidizing potential of the iron present in SWCNT. Indeed, the inflammation caused by SWCNT provides an environment conducive to the oxidizing action of iron (Patapovich *et al.*, 2005).

Muller *et al.* (2005) observed cytotoxicity (increase in LDH activity) and overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α) in rat peritoneal macrophages exposed *in vitro* to ground MWCNT. Carbon black and asbestos used as controls triggered the same effects.

Li *et al.* (2005) assessed the effect of CNT *in vitro* on human aortic endothelial cells. The authors observed an increase in the RNAm of MCP-1, VCAM-1 (genes involved in the inflammatory response in the heart) and IL-8 in the cells after 2 h of exposure. Oxidation of low-density lipoproteins (LDL) was also observed (dose-dependent relationship).

Ding *et al.* (2005) studied the toxicity mechanisms of MWCNT and multi-walled carbon nano-onions (MWCNO) in human skin fibroblasts (HSF42) *in vitro*. The cells were exposed to MWCNT (0.6 and 0.06 μ g/mL) and MWCNO (6 and 0.6 μ g/mL) for 24 or 48 h. Exposure of cells to MWCNT and MWCNO triggered stoppage of the cellular cycle and an increase in apoptosis and necrosis. Several intracellular signalling pathways were disrupted after exposure. MWCNT and MWCNO activated genes involved in cellular transport, metabolism, cellular cycle regulation and stress response. The authors also observed differences in the gene expression profile depending on the material tested and the dose. MWCNT introduced genes indicating a marked immune and inflammatory response in skin

fibroblasts while MWCNO had an effect on the genes involved in the response to external stimuli. It seems that MWCNT are more toxic than MWCNO and that the intracellular signalling pathways of interferon and p38/ERK-MAPK are involved in this greater toxicity.

Soto *et al.* (2005) studied the viability of mouse lung macrophages exposed to different nanomaterials. Chrysotile was used as a positive control and a relative cytoxicity index of 1 was assigned to it. The authors assigned the following relative cytotoxicity indices to the tested nanomaterials at a concentration of 5 μ g/mL: 1.6 for Ag; ~ 0.4 for TiO₂, 0.7-0.9 for Fe₂O₃, Al₂O₃ and ZrO₂, 0.4 for Si₃N₄; 0.8 for carbon black and 0.9-1.1 for carbon nanotube aggregates (SWCNT and MWCNT). The size of the tested particles ranged from 3 to 150 nm (the length of the nanotubes could exceed 15 µm) and the aggregates formed had dimensions ranging from 25 nm to 20 µm. The authors point out that the cellular response to MWCNT aggregates was very similar to the response to chrysotile.

Monteiro-Riviere *et al.* (2005a) studied the toxicity of the surfactants used to prevent MWCNT agglomeration in the experimental studies. Human epidermal keratinocytes were exposed for 24 hours at different dilutions (0.1 to 10%) of Pluronic L61, L92 and F127 and Tween 20 or 60. Viability of the cells exposed to Pluronic F127 ranged from 27.1 to 98.5% while viability with the other surfactants was less than 10%. The decrease in viability was proportional to the concentration of surfactant. The authors then exposed keratinocytes to 0.4 mg/mL of MWCNT with or without Pluronic F127 (at 1 or 5%). MWCNT showed toxicity (increase in IL-8) independent of the presence or absence of surfactant, but toxicity diminished in the presence of Pluronic F127. Surfactant alone only triggered an increase in IL-8. The authors conclude that Pluronic F127 does not increase the MWCNT cytotoxicity despite better dispersion.

Murr *et al.* (2005) compared the toxicity of SWCNT (aggregates approximately 10 μ m in diameter) and two types of MWCNT (aggregates 0.1 to 3 μ m in diameter, length of 30 nm to 3 μ m and length/diameter ratio of approximately 3 to >100) in mouse alveolar macrophages *in vitro*. Chrysotile (aggregates 0.5 to 15 μ m in diameter, length of 0.5 to >15 μ m and length/diameter ratio of 50 to >1500) and carbon black (aggregates 10-50 nm) were used for comparison. The cells were exposed to concentrations ranging from 0.005 to 10 μ g/mL for 48 hours. All particles triggered cell death starting at 2.5 μ g/mL and the cytotoxic response in terms of macrophage viability was similar to the response observed with chrysotile. Carbon black was slightly less toxic than nanotubes and chrysotile. Cell viability diminished according to the concentration. According to the authors, chrysotile and MWCNT cannot be differentiated from a morphological point of view.

Bottini *et al.* (2006) compared the toxicity of pristine MWCNT (diameter 20-40 nm and 1-5 μ m long) and oxidized MWCNT in cultured human T lymphocytes. At a dose of 400 μ g/mL (~10 million carbon nanotubes per cellule), oxidized MWCNT triggered the loss of 80% of the cells in 5 days. The two forms of MWCNT induced apoptosis of the T lymphocytes (time- and dose-dependent relationship), but the oxidized MWCNT turned out to be more toxic than the hydrophobic MWCNT. At the same concentration (400 μ g/mL) carbon black (dimensions not specified) had a minimal effect on cell viability.

Kagan *et al.* (2006) exposed macrophages (RAW 264.7) to SWCNT containing different proportions of iron (average diameter 1-4 nm). No intracellular production of superoxide (O_2^-) or NO was observed after exposure to unpurified SWCNT (26% iron by weight; 950 m²/g) or purified SWCNT (0.23% iron by weight; 1040 m²/g) at concentrations of 0.12 and 0.5 mg/mL. Unpurified SWCNT catalyzed the conversion of extracellular O_2^- into hydroxyl radicals after activation of the macrophages (by zymosan). The authors also observed a decrease in glutathione and an accumulation of hydroperoxides (LOOH) in the activated macrophages (activated by zymosan or phorbol myristate acetate) and exposed to unpurified SWCNT.

Donaldson *et al.* (2006) report that the toxicity of SWCNT *in vitro* diminishes when their surface is modified. In a study by Kam *et al.* (2004) cited by Monteiro-Riviere and Inman (2006), SWCNT conjugated to streptavidin showed low toxicity in HL60 cells, but the SWCNT-biotin-streptavidin complex triggered cell death.

Sayes *et al.* (2006a) studied the toxicity of SWCNT exhibiting different functionalization densities (ratio between the number of carbon atoms and bound molecules) in human skin fibroblasts *in vitro*. The cells were exposed to SWCNT-phenyl-SO₃H, SWCNT-phenyl-(COOH)₂, SWCNT in 1% ethylene oxide and propylene oxide copolymer (Pluronic F108, dispersing agent) and SWCNT-phenyl-SO₃Na for 48 h at concentrations ranging from 3 μ g/mL to 30 mg/mL. Cells exposed to a 1% Pluronic F108 solution served as controls. The authors observed that functionalized SWCNT were less toxic than SWCNT in 1% Pluronic F108. A 10% decrease in viability was observed in cells exposed to the 1% Pluronic F108 solution (controls). The toxicity of SWCNT diminishes according to their functionalization density.

Magrez et al. (2006) exposed three human lung tumour cell lines (H596, H446, Calu-1) to MWCNT (diameter 20 nm; length/diameter ratio 80-90), carbon nanotubes (diameter 150 nm; length/diameter ratio 30-40) and carbon black nanoparticles (nanometric size distribution; length/diameter ratio ~1). The authors observed a decrease in viability according to the concentration in the three types of cells exposed to MWCNT (0.002 to 0.2 μ g/mL for 4 days). At all concentrations and for all the nanomaterials tested, carbon black showed the highest toxicity while MWCNT were the least toxic. The number of viable cells diminished according to the exposure dose for all nanomaterials. The authors point out that the filaments were less toxic than the particles in their study, while the opposite situation was observed in other studies (including Muller et al., 2005) and Bottini et al., 2006). Morphological changes indicating irreversible cell damage and cell death were also observed. Moreover, an increase in toxicity was observed after addition of carbonyl (C=O), carboxyl (COOH) and/or hydroxyl (OH) groups to the MWCNT surface. The authors conclude that the tested nanomaterials are toxic and that toxicity depends on size.

A proteomic analysis performed on human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to MWCNT showed a modification in the expression of several proteins, suggesting cellular cycle inhibition, among other phenomena (Monteiro-Riviere and Inman, 2006).

Fenoglio *et al.* (2006) studied production of free radicals by purified MWCNT (9.7 \pm 2.1 nm in diameter; 5.9 \pm 0.05 μ m long; 378 m²/g surface) in an aqueous

suspension. The results suggest that MWCNT do not generate free radicals in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) or formiate. MWCNT showed a capacity to neutralize free radicals in the presence of an external source of hydroxyl (HO) or superoxide (O_2^-) radicals. The authors conclude that it is possible that the inflammatory reaction caused by exposure to purified MWCNT *in vivo* is attributable to properties other than free radical formation.

Fiorito et al. (2006a, 2006b) compared the toxicity of different types of SWCNT and C_{60} fullerenes in human and mouse (J 774) macrophages. Cells exposed to highly purified synthetic graphite served as controls. NO production by mouse macrophages was similar with LPS (lipopolysaccharide used as a positive control), pristine SWCNT (2% impurities by weight) and C₆₀ fullerenes after 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation. NO production by cells exposed to graphite was significantly higher than by cells exposed only to LPS. All tested nanomaterials were phagocyted by human macrophages. Pristine SWCNT and C_{60} fullerenes induced apoptosis, cell death and metabolic changes in a lower proportion than graphite and unpurified or open SWCNT. The cytotoxic potential of pristine SWCNT was low and very similar to that of C₆₀ fullerenes. According to the authors, the results suggest that the C₆₀ fullerenes do not induce an inflammatory response in human cells in vitro and that they are not cytotoxic. The lowest inflammatory potential of C60 fullerenes and pristine SWCNT could be due to the small quantity of catalysts and graphite present in these nanomaterials (Fiorito et al., 2006a, b).

Raja *et al.* (2007) studied the impact of rat aortic smooth muscle cell exposure to single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNT) aggregated or not aggregated at concentrations of 0 to 0.1 mg/mL for terms up to 3.5 days. Filtered SWCNT, whether aggregated or not, shows a dose-dependent growth inhibition in relation to the control after 2.5 days of incubation. At equal concentrations, carbon black was less inhibiting than SWCNT.

Table 2 summarizes the principal information regarding the toxic effects assessed for carbon nanotubes.

	SWCNT				MWCNT			
Effect	Route				Route			
	Inhala- tion ²	Cuta- neous	Oral	Other	Inhala- tion ²	Cuta- neous	Oral	Other
Toxicokinetics								
Irritation								
Systemic ³								
Acute								
Intermediate								
Chronic								
Neurological								
Immunological								
Development								
Reproductive								
Genotoxic								
Cancer								

Table 2. Documented health effects of carbon nanotubes ¹

¹ Existing human (\blacksquare) or animal (\blacktriangle) studies. Adopted from the ATSDR.

² Including intratracheal instillation.

 3 Systemic effects: acute (\leq 14 days), intermediate (15 to 364 days) and chronic (\geq 365 days).

6. HEALTH EFFECTS OF INORGANIC NANOPARTICLES

Insoluble inorganic nanoparticles can be composed of pure metals or various inorganic products or alloys. Only their nanometric dimensions distinguish them from the same products normally found on a larger scale. However, it is precisely because of their unique properties related to their nanometric scale that these particles are produced. At this scale, they display mechanical, electrical and other properties that do not exist when in larger dimensions.

Among the inorganic nanoparticles, TiO_2 has been studied abundantly. NIOSH (2005) published a preliminary version of its assessment of the health risks related to occupational TiO_2 exposure. The details of the assessment can be consulted in the NIOSH document (2005). To summarize, NIOSH recommends an exposure limit of 0.1 mg/m³ for ultrafine TiO_2 particles, while the recommended limit for fine TiO_2 particles is 1.5 mg/m³ (for exposure up to 10 h per day during a 40 h work week). This difference reflects the influence of specific surface in the toxicity of ultrafine particles (NIOSH, 2005). These recommendations should reduce the lung cancer risk to less than 1 in 1000 among workers exposed to TiO_2 (NIOSH, 2005).

6.1. Toxicokinetics

6.1.1. Absorption

In a study by Stearns *et al.* (1994) cited by Hervé-Bazin (2005), copper oxide particles administered by inhalation to hamsters (11 nm, 60 minutes) were found on and in the mucus and on the surface of the alveolar epithelium. The concentrations administered were not specified. The particles also penetrated the epithelial cells, the pulmonary interstitium and the macrophages, as well as the alveolar capillaries and the lymphatic vessels. Oberdörster *et al.* (2005b) point out that translocation to the blood is probable once the particles have reached the lymphatic ganglia.

In a study by Hatch *et al.* (1994) cited by Hervé-Bazin (2005), the study of alveolar macrophages in healthy volunteers (7 workers from an oil-fired power plant, 4 welders from that same plant and 3 university employees without known exposure) revealed the presence of ultrafine particles in the macrophage phagolysosomes of each subject. Metals such as cadmium, vanadium, titanium and iron were found. No link was observed between the presence of ultrafine particles in the macrophages and the subject's occupation. This means that exposure to ultrafine particles can occur outside the work environment (Hervé-Bazin, 2005). Another study performed on healthy non-smoking adults also revealed the presence of ultrafine particles in the alveolar macrophages (Witschger and Fabriès, 2005).

Hussain *et al.* (2001) showed cell capture of microparticulate substances by enterocytes, and their transport between cells. In some cases, the passage of microparticles from the intestinal lumen to the bloodstream led to distribution of substances in the body. Hillyer and Albrecht (2001) exposed this intestinal persorption phenomenon for unconjugated colloidal gold nanoparticles of 4, 10, 28 and 58 nm. In an ingestion study in mice, these researchers showed the capture of nanoparticles by the maturing enterocytes of the small intestine villosities. This effect was inversely proportional to the nanoparticle size.

Limbach *et al.* (2005) studied the absorption of cerium oxide nanoparticles (25-50 nm and 250-500 nm) in human lung fibroblasts *in vitro* (100 ng/g to 100 μ g/g of fluid). The authors observed absorption of nanoparticles by the fibroblasts (linear increase in relation to the exposure time). Nanoparticles were found exclusively in agglomerate form and in vesicles within the cell cytoplasm. Small oxide nanoparticles agglomerate quickly in contact with the culture medium unless their surface is modified (Limbach *et al.*, 2005). Larger nanoparticles were absorbed in greater quantity than smaller particles. The authors conclude that particle size is the dominant factor (indirectly due to agglomeration of small particles) which determines the absorption rate, while the concentration in number and the total surface are of minimal importance.

6.1.2. Distribution

6.1.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

After intranasal instillation, De Lorenzo (1970) reported translocation of 50 nm silver-coated colloidal gold nanoparticles along the axons to the olfactory bulb in monkeys. The average particle displacement speed was around 2.4 mm/h, with some particles appearing in the olfactory bulb 30 to 60 minutes after nasal inoculation. This was confirmed by Oberdorster *et al.* (2004). Wang *et al.* (2005) showed in mice that inhaled 20 and 200 nm titanium oxide particles can both be translocated to the mouse's brain by the olfactory nerve. The translocation speed depended on the size.

Oberdörster *et al.* (1994) published one of the first studies on the comparison of fine (250 nm) and ultrafine (20 nm) TiO₂ particles. In this inhalation study in rats, the authors observed greater pulmonary retention of ultrafine particles three months post-exposure. The concentrations administered were similar for fine and ultrafine particles (respectively 22.3 ± 4.2 and $23.5 \pm 2.9 \text{ mg/m}^3$). A greater number of 20 nm particles were found in the lymphatic ganglia, a phenomenon indicating penetration of the interstitial spaces. The ultrafine pulmonary clearance time was lengthened and translocation of these particles in the pulmonary interstitium and the regional lymphatic nodules was significantly higher for the 20 nm particles. The specific surface is the parameter best correlated with the observed effects.

To study the distribution of iridium-192 (Ir^{192}) nanoparticles by inhalation in rats, Kreyling *et al.* (2002) ventilated the anesthetized animals and exposed them to 15 and 80 nm aerosols (at 2.5 µg/cm⁻³). The thoracic fractions of the particles were 0.49 and 0.28 respectively. They observed radioactive iridium in the animals' liver, heart and brain. This phenomenon was ten times greater for 15 nm nanoparticles. Iridium nanoparticles are insoluble and were not absorbed in the intestine. The authors conclude that these nanoparticles are translocated to the organs, resulting in circulation of nanoparticles by the pulmonary blood vessels. Also using Ir^{192} , Semmler-Behnke *et al.* (2007) tracked the elimination of this substance from rat lungs after intratracheal inhalation over a six-month period. Immediately after inhalation, the authors found Ir^{192} nanoparticles in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids. Subsequently, nanoparticles were mainly associated with alveolar macrophages. After three weeks, the NP content of the BAL was no more than 6% of the pulmonary load, which contrasts strongly with the behaviour of the micrometric particles associated with alveolar macrophages. Three weeks after inhalation, 80% of the retained Ir^{192} was translocated to the pulmonary epithelium and interstitium. The authors conclude that nanoparticles are phagocyted less efficiently than micrometric particles but are displaced efficiently from the lung surface to the interstitium. From these interstitial sites, they are eliminated in the larynx in the long term via the macrophages (Semmler-Behnke *et al.* 2007).

A study by Mortelmans and Nemery (2002) cited by Hervé-Bazin (2005) confirmed the passage into the human bloodstream with carbon particles (< 100 nm) marked with radioactive technetium. Radioactivity in the blood was maximal 10 to 20 minutes after inhalation and for about one hour. The same study revealed the liver as the principal organ accumulating these particles.

Oberdörster *et al.* (2002) studied the body distribution of 20 - 29 nm carbon-13 nanoparticles (insoluble) in an inhalation study in rats. The animals were placed in an exposure chamber at concentrations of 0, 80 and 170 μ g/cm³. No increase in concentration was observed in several animal organs (lungs, heart, brain, olfactory bulb and kidneys) up to 24 hours after exposure. However, the researchers observed a large accumulation of carbon-13 in the livers of both groups of animals, 18 and 24 hours after exposure. The authors explain the liver concentration by translocation of nanoparticles from the respiratory system to the circulatory system, and then to the liver.

In a longer-term inhalation study in rats, Oberdörster *et al.* (2004) studied the cerebral distribution of carbon-13 (insoluble). In the exposure chambers, the rats were exposed for 6 hours to concentrations of 0, 150 and 170 μ g/cm³, then sacrificed on days 1, 3, 5 and 7. The analysis of the animals' brain, the cerebellum and the olfactory bulbs showed significant capture in the exposed rats on day 1, which persisted only in the olfactory bulbs, extending to day 7. To explain cerebral capture of carbon-13, the authors postulate translocation from the lung to the bloodstream, and then passage through the hematoencephalic barrier. Transport from the respiratory zones to the olfactory bulbs and then translocation by axonal migration to the brain may have contributed to transport of nanoparticles.

Mills *et al.* (2006) studied translocation of carbon nanoparticles marked with technetium-99 (4-20 nm) in the blood of 10 healthy volunteers (inhalation of about 100 MBq of Technegas in 3 respirations). Radioactivity was detected immediately in the blood and reached a maximum after one hour. The authors observed 95.6 \pm 1.7% retention of Technegas in the lungs after 6 h and no accumulation of radioactivity was detected in the liver or the spleen. The authors conclude that most of the carbon nanoparticles remained in the lungs up to 6 h after inhalation and these results do not support the hypothesis that carbon nanoparticles marked with technetium-99 are translocated rapidly into the circulatory system. A soluble species not linked to carbon nanoparticles (^{99m}Tc-pertechnetate) is said to be responsible for the increased reactivity in the blood (Mills *et al.*, 2006).

6.1.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) is a substance contained in sunscreens⁴. Lademann *et al.* (1999) did not observe significant absorption of coated TiO₂ nanocrystals (17 nm), beyond the corneal layer of the skin of human volunteers, except for a small quantity (< 1%), which had penetrated the hair follicles. Since the follicles are also isolated from living tissue by a corneal layer, the authors conclude that cutaneous absorption of TiO₂ is absent in living cutaneous tissues.

Schulz *et al.* (2002) did not observe cutaneous absorption of nanocrystalline TiO_2 in the skin layers below the corneum stratum in human skin, after testing the application of three formulations with different particulate characteristics (T805: 20 cubic nm; Eusolex T200: 10-15 cubic nm, agglomerating into needle-shaped 100 nm nanoparticles; Tioveil AQ-10P: 100 nm, in the form of coated needles of Al_2O_3 and SiO_2 and particulate forms of TiO_2 ; variable affinities for water and oil; coated or not). These results suggest a low probability of absorption of nanoparticulate TiO_2 beyond the dermis and its transport to the bloodstream.

6.1.2.3. Ingestion exposure

Hillyer and Albrecht (2001) reported blood and tissue distribution of ingested colloidal gold nanoparticles in mice. They noted absorption in the animals' brain, lungs, heart, kidneys, intestines, stomach, liver and spleen, more pronounced for 4 and 10 nm nanoparticles, in comparison with 28 and 58 nm particles.

6.1.2.4. Exposure by other routes

Paciotti *et al.* (2004) studied colloidal gold nanoparticles injected intravenously in mice in which they had implanted colon tumour cells. Nanoparticle distribution occurred preferentially at the tumour site, without significant accumulation in the liver, the spleen or the animals' other organs.

Hainfeld *et al.* (2004) showed that gold nanoparticles in solution, injected intravenously into mice with induced breast tumours, were found in the kidneys 5 minutes after injection (tumour/kidney ratio = 0.4) and then were located preferentially at the tumour site (tumour/healthy tissue ratio = 8) and, to a lesser degree, in the liver (tumour/liver ratio = 1.8).

The preliminary results of a study by Vyvyan Howard evoke the possibility that gold particles injected in gestating female rates are transferred to the fetus (Wootliff, 2004).

6.1.2.5. In vitro

No data

6.1.3. Metabolism

Jia *et al.* (2005a) compared the subchronic toxicity of selenium nanoparticles (Nano-Se; 20-60 nm) with sodium selenite (Na₂SeO₃) and proteins with a high selenium content in Sprague-Dawley rats of both sexes (0, 2, 3, 4 and 5 ppm of Se in the food for 13 weeks). The authors observed an increase in alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity in rats exposed to Nano-Se (5 ppm of Se), to

⁴ Researchers' focused their attention on sunscreens in the past few years, particularly due to the potential of some of their components to generate production of free radicals and changes in cellular DNA – and thus potentially cancer. This mainly would be linked to their photoinstability.

sodium selenite (4 and 5 ppm of Se) and the proteins with a high Se content (4 and 5 ppm of Se). An increase in aspartate aminotransferase (AST) activity was observed in rats exposed to proteins with a high Se content (5 ppm of Se). A decrease in total proteins and albumin was observed in rats exposed to sodium selenite (4 and 5 ppm of Se) and to proteins with a high Se content (5 ppm of Se).

6.1.4. Excretion

In their experiment with rat inhalation of radiomarked iridium particles, Kreyling *et al.* (2002) showed that nanoparticles were eliminated in the animals' feces without significant intestinal absorption.

6.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration)

6.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

The results of a case-control study performed by Robertson and Ingalls (1989) of factory workers of 7 carbon black producers in the United States indicate that carbon black exposure in the work environment does not increase the workers' risk of being affected by circulatory, malignant or respiratory disorders. The exposure level of workers affected by various disorders was no higher than among the disease-free controls (0.06-1.72 mg/m³ depending on the position held and periods ranging from 7 to 202 months). Two controls were selected for each case according to age (\pm 2.5 years) and one of the two controls also had a length of employment in the carbon black industry comparable to the case (\pm 2.5 years).

6.2.1.1 Effects on the organs

6.2.1.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data

6.2.1.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system

In their inhalation experiment with rats, Oberdörster *et al.* (1994) and Ferin *et al.* (1992) observed a significant increase in inflammation signs or parameters during administration of 20 nm TiO_2 particles in comparison with the same mass of 250 nm particles. Until these studies performed by the same team, titanium oxide was considered to be a non-toxic dust and served as an inert control in several toxicological studies. Damage to the pulmonary epithelium, obstruction of Kohn's pores, development of sources of interstitial fibrosis and alteration of macrophage functions (inflammation mediators) were significantly greater. These results show that inert particles can become biologically active when nano-scaled.

Zhang *et al.* (2005b) report that Donaldson (2001) and his team had proved that nanoparticulate forms (< 50 nm) of titanium oxide, aluminium oxide and carbon black increased the pulmonary inflammation parameters 10 times more than administration of fine particles of the same products. Borm *et al.* (2004b), in a lung cancer journal, point out that low-solubility particles, such as carbon black and titanium oxide, are recognized to cause fibroses, neoplasic lesions and pulmonary tumours in rats. The quantity of these products required to generate the same effects is much smaller with nanoparticles.

Sayes *et al.* (2006b) exposed human skin fibroblasts and pulmonary epithelial cells with 10 nm spherical nanoparticles of anatase (a crystalline form of TiO₂), 5.2 nm spherical particles of rutile (another crystalline form of TiO₂) and 3.2 nm mixed anatase/rutile spherical particles with specific surfaces of 112 (rutile) to $153 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ (anatase). Cytotoxicity and inflammation were observed starting at 100 µg/mL concentrations, according to classical dose-response behaviour, and the effects increased in relation to time and concentration. The effects observed were not correlated to the particle surface, since anatase (specific surface $153 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$) is 100 times more toxic than rutile (specific surface $123 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$) at equal concentrations. The most cytotoxic particles were the most efficient in generating reactive oxygen species and toxicity increased rapidly with ultraviolet illumination, a factor favouring free radical generation.

Warheit *et al.* (2006) studied acute toxicity of TiO_2 particles and rods in rats. Anatase rods (200 nm x 35 nm; 26 m²/g surface) and anatase particles (~ 10 nm; 169 m²/g surface) were administered by intratracheal instillation at doses of 1 or 5 mg/kg. Rutile particles (~ 300 nm; 6 m²/g surface) served as negative controls while quartz was used as a positive control. The authors observed a transient inflammation and cell damage 24 h after exposure to the anatase rods and the anatase particles. The effects observed were no different than the pulmonary effects observed after exposure to the 300 nm TiO₂ particles, despite the substantial surface differences. Exposure to quartz particles triggered a dose-dependent inflammatory response characterized by an accumulation of neutrophils and macrophages, as well as a thickening of the lung tissue indicating development of a pulmonary fibrosis. The authors conclude that these results are in disagreement with the hypotheses that the specific surface is a major factor associated with the toxicity of nano-scaled particles, but they point out that the causes at the basis of this discrepancy are unclear.

Chen *et al.* (2006b) exposed adult male ICR mice to a single intratracheal dose (0.1 or 0.5 mg) of TiO_2 (19-21 nm). TiO_2 induces pulmonary emphysema, macrophage accumulation, type II pneumocyte hyperplasia and epithelial cell apoptosis. The authors also noted a differentiated expression of hundreds of genes, which, among other effects, disrupted the cellular cycle, caused apoptosis, modified the placental growth factor and led to the expression of certain chemokines, capable of causing pulmonary emphysema and alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis.

In another study, Warheit *et al.* (2007a) conclude that the surface properties are critical to determine the effects of ultrafine TiO_2 particles. By intratracheal instillation at doses of 1 to 5 mg/kg with one fine rutile particle sample, another ultrafine sample and a batch containing 80% anatase and 20% rutile with a quartz positive control, they exposed rats (5 rats per group, per dose and per time) and evaluated them 24 hours, one week and three months post-instillation. Exposure to quartz, and to a lesser degree to the anatase/rutile mixture (only for tests at high concentrations for the mixture) produced pulmonary inflammation, cytotoxicity and clearly different histopathological effects in the pulmonary tissues. However, the fine and ultrafine TiO_2 particles only had a transient inflammatory effect and only represent a low pulmonary risk. The authors conclude that the differences in effects are due to the crystalline structure, the pH of the particles and the surface chemical reactivity, since anatase/rutile particles produce more free radicals than rutile particles, which would represent one of the

sources of inflammation and cytotoxicity. The effects were not totally explicable only by the particle surface.

Grassian *et al.* (2007) exposed mice in an exposure chamber acutely (4 hours) and subacutely) (4 h/day for 10 days) to aggregated crystalline anatase (TiO₂) (elementary particles of 2 to 5 nm; average aggregates of 123 nm) to concentrations of 0.77 and 7.22 mg/m³. Acute exposure produced minimal pulmonary toxicity or inflammation while subacute exposure led to a higher total cell and macrophage count in the bronchoalveolar fluid. The inflammatory response was moderate but significant. The mice recovered three weeks after exposure.

By intratracheal instillation of 14 nm spherical particles of colloidal silica in mice at concentrations up to 100 μ g, Kaewamatawong *et al.* (2006) measured moderate to severe acute pulmonary inflammation at 30 or 100 μ g accompanied by tissue damage. The total number of bronchoalveolar fluid cells increased up to 15 days and then returned to a level comparable with the controls after 30 days. The authors noticed a thickening of the alveolar septum walls and some interstitial fibroses after 30 days and conclude that oxidative stress and cell apoptosis can induce the observed tissue impairments.

Warheit *et al.* (2007b) exposed rats (5 rats per group, per dose and per time) by intratracheal instillation to 12, 50, 300 and 500 nm quartz particles, which had specific surfaces of 4.2 to 90 m²/g, and measured the hemolytic potential and surface activity of the particles. After 24 hours, one week, one month and three months, they evaluated the cell proliferation and performed a histopathological assessment of the lung tissue. Exposure to the different quartz particles produced a sustained and dose-dependent inflammatory response, accumulation of alveolar macrophages with early development of pulmonary fibrosis and cytotoxic effects. The observed effects are not always linked to the particle surface but are well correlated to the hemolytic surface activity of the measured effects correlates better with the hemolytic surface activity of the *in vitro* test than with surface area, size, crystallinity, metal content (iron) or surface radicals.

Zhang *et al.* (2000) studied the effect in rats of intratracheal instillation of the nanoparticulate form of cobalt (20 nm), in comparison with the administration of 5 μ m cobalt particles 1, 3, 7, 15 and 30 days after exposure. The authors observed much greater signs of pulmonary inflammation with the nanometric fraction. Analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid revealed an increase in pulmonary permeability and inflammation (increase in neutrophils and proteins, increase in LDH activity). Cytokines indicating an inflammatory reaction modulated by macrophages or monocytes were also present with the two forms of cobalt, but in greater quantity and on a more sustained basis after administration of the nanometric fraction.

In a study by Stearns *et al.* (1994) cited by Hervé-Bazin (2005), exposure of hamsters to ultrafine particles of CuO, Cu₂O and Cu(OH)₂ (11 nm, 60 minutes) triggered an increase (factor of 4) in pulmonary resistance for 24 h. Signs of inflammation, particularly the presence of neutrophils and eosinophils, were also observed.

Zhang *et al.* (2003) studied the effect in rats of intratracheal instillation of the ultrafine form of nickel (20 nm) at doses of 0 to 5 mg in comparison with the

administration of 5 μ m nickel particles 1, 3, 7, 15 and 30 days after exposure. The authors report indications of pulmonary inflammation and damage for both nickel sizes and the same intensity of effects for 1 and 5 mg of ultrafine nickel. The effects were much more noticeable for ultrafine nickel, particularly in the release of proinflammatory cytokines for 30 days post-exposure. They also report that the number of neutrophils and LDH activity in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluids were much more noticeable for ultrafine nickel than for micrometric nickel.

In a study by Roth *et al.* (1994) cited by Hervé-Bazin (2005), exposure of 3 healthy men (volunteers) to ultrafine iridium particles marked with indium (average diameter of 18 nm) for 2 or 3 respiratory cycles triggered a slowing of pulmonary clearance up to 8 days after exposure. The concentrations were not specified. Larger particles (> 2 μ m) have less persistence in the lungs (Hervé-Bazin, 2005). The presence of ultrafine particles in the lungs was also associated with a decrease in forced expiratory volume (Witschger and Fabriès, 2005).

The bactericidal capacity of the lungs was reduced in Guinea pigs and mice exposed to respective concentrations of 15 and 1.5 mg/m^3 of carbon black (Smith and Musch, 1982). The exposure times were not specified.

Studies conducted with workers showed that inhalation of carbon black can foster the development of chronic bronchitis and a slight decrease in pulmonary function (IARC, 1996, 2006a). However, IARC (1996, 2006a) points out that these effects can be attributed to non-specific caused by exposure to dusts. A reaction in the fibrous tissue was also observed around the carbon black deposits in the pulmonary parenchyma (IARC, 1996, 2006a).

Exposure of rats to carbon black at doses greater than 0.5-1 mg/g of lung triggers a slowing of clearance, which translates into an accumulation of particles in the lungs (IARC, 1996, 2006a). An inflammatory response is then observed and develops into active chronic inflammation. An increase in collagen deposition (coming from fibroblast proliferation) and epithelial cell proliferation, as well as metaplasia, were observed in rats subjected to a high dose of carbon black (IARC, 1996, 2006a). No details were provided on the carbon black used.

In a subchronic study by Driscoll *et al.* (1996), rats were exposed to concentrations of 1.1, 7.1 and 52.8 mg/m³ of carbon black for 6 hours per day, 5 days a week for 13 weeks. After 13 weeks of exposure, the concentrations of 1.1, 7.1 and 52.8 mg/m³ corresponded respectively to depositions of 354, 1826 and 7861 μ g of carbon black in the rats' lungs. Exposure of the rats to 7.1 and 52.8 mg/m³ triggered a slowing of clearance, pulmonary tissue damage and inflammation, an increase in chemokine expression (MIP-2 and MCP-1), epithelial hyperplasia and fibrosis. The effects were more pronounced at the highest concentration and no effect was observed at 1.1 mg/m³.

Li *et al.* (1999) exposed rats to fine (260 nm) and ultrafine (14 nm) carbon black particles by intratracheal instillation (single dose of $125 \mu g$). The authors observed an alveolitis (increase in neutrophils) 6 hours after exposure to the ultrafine particles. The fine particles had a similar effect on the phosphate buffered saline (PBS) used for the controls. An increase in LDH and proteins in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and a decrease in glutathione in the pulmonary tissues were also observed with the ultrafine particles. The fine particles had a less noticeable effect on the increase in proteins and the decrease in glutathione. The increase in neutrophils was still observable 7 days after exposure. TNF

production by the leukocytes increased gradually after instillation and NO production remained high up to 7 days.

Brown *et al.* (2000) studied the role of the transition metals in the effects observed after exposure to carbon black. Female Sprague Dawley rats were exposed to fine (320 nm) and ultrafine (14 nm) carbon black particles by intratracheal instillation (single dose of 500 μ g). The authors observed an increase (8 times) in the number of neutrophils in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid with ultrafine carbon black particles 24 hours after exposure. The inflammation caused by fine particles was the same as in the controls. Treatment of ultrafine particles with a chelator (desferal) had no influence on the number of neutrophils. The product of leaching of 1 mg of particles did not trigger any significant inflammation in rat lungs. The authors conclude that inflammation caused by ultrafine carbon black particles is not attributable to the presence of transition metals or other soluble elements released by the particles.

Inoue et al. (2005) exposed ICR mice to carbon black nanoparticles (14 and 56 nm; 50 μ g/week), ovalbumin (antigen; 1 μ g/2 weeks) and a combination of ovalbumin and carbon black (according to the same respective protocols) by intratracheal instillation once a week for 6 weeks. The 14 and 56 nm nanoparticles triggered an aggravation of allergic inflammation in the airway (infiltration of eosinophils, neutrophils and mononuclears and increase in the number of goblet cells in the bronchial epithelium). Simultaneous exposure to the nanoparticles and the antigen triggered an increase in expression of cytokines (IL-5, IL-6, IL-13) and chemokines (eotaxin, MCP-1 and RANTES⁵) in the lungs while administration of the antigen alone did not have this effect. The production of an oxidative stress marker (8-OHdG) was more pronounced with the combination of the nanoparticles and the antigen than with the nanoparticles or the antigen administered separately. In general, the effects were more noticeable with 14 nm nanoparticles than with 56 nm nanoparticles. Finally, the 14 nm particles had an adjuvant effect on the total IgE immunoglobulins (involved in allergic reactions) and on the IgG_1 specific immunoglobulins (involved in the defence against infection) and IgE. The authors conclude that nanoparticles can aggravate allergic inflammation in the airway and that this effect can be caused in part by the local increase of IL-5 and eotaxin (involved in recruiting eosinophils) and by the expression of IL-13, RANTES, MCP-1 and IL-6.

Several recent studies discussed the toxicity of nano-scaled carbon black and will not be set out in detail here, because they are normally considered to be ultrafine particles, not nanoparticles (Frampton *et al.*, 2004). Among others, there is the study by Yamamoto *et al.* (2006) by intratracheal instillation in mice, which concludes that there is greater pulmonary inflammation with smaller carbon black particles. The effects are correlated to the particle surface, as in the studies by Stoeger *et al.* (2006) and Koite *et al.* (2006). Apoptosis and pulmonary epithelial cell proliferation can also be caused by carbon black (Stoeger *et al.*, 2006; Sydlik *et al.*, 2006).

⁵ RANTES (*Regulation upon activation, normal T expressed and secreted*) is a cytokine, which induces chemotactism of monocytes and memory T cells (glossary of the CSST occupational asthma site, <u>http://www.asthme.csst.qc.ca/Document/Info Med/Formation/ApLatence/Latence11.html</u>).

6.2.1.1.3. Liver effects

No data

- 6.2.1.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 6.2.1.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 6.2.1.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation

Exposure of monkeys to carbon black $(53.0 \text{ mg/m}^3; 1000-10000 \text{ hours})$ triggered minimal changes in the electrocardiogram and low ventricular hypertrophy (Smith and Musch, 1982).

Harder *et al.* (2005) observed a slight increase in cardiac rhythm (4.8%) and a decrease in variability of cardiac rhythm in rats after pulmonary deposition of ultrafine carbon particles (38 nm, 180 μ g/m³, 24 h). According to the authors, these changes are related to an autonomic nervous system imbalance caused by activation of a pulmonary receptor.

- 6.2.1.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system No data
- 6.2.1.1.8. Effects on the nervous system

Pisanic *et al.* (2007) exposed rat PC12 neuronal cells (20 000 cells/mL) to Fe_2O_3 nanoparticles (0.15 to 15 mM) and observed internalization of NP, mainly in the cytoplasm and the endosomes and an accumulation in the perinuclear region. They also noted a decrease in dose-dependent cell viability and a lowering of the cells' capacity to develop neurites. They conclude that Fe_2O_3 exposure reduces the capacity of PC12 cells to respond appropriately to the nerve growth factor.

- 6.2.1.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 6.2.1.3. Effects on reproduction No data
- 6.2.1.4. Development effects No data
- 6.2.1.5. Genotoxic effects

A significant increase in the frequency of hprt gene mutation was observed in rat alveolar epithelial cells after 13 weeks of exposure to 7.1 and 52.8 mg/m³ of carbon black (Driscoll *et al.*, 1996). The same effect was observed 3 and 8 months after the end of exposure in rats exposed to 52.8 mg/m³.

Contrary to the extracts obtained with organic solvents, intact carbon black particles did not show any mutagenic activity (Watson et Valberg, 2001). Carbon black does not show mutagenic potential in most of the studies (IARC, 1996, 2006a).

6.2.1.6. Carcinogenic effects

Exposure of mice or monkeys (56.5-84.7 mg/m³) and of Guinea pigs, hamsters, mice or primates (53.0-113.1 mg/m³) to carbon black did not trigger any

carcinogenic effect (Smith and Musch, 1982). The exposure times were not specified.

A study of female mice exposed to carbon black by inhalation did not show an increase in the incidence of airway tumours (IARC, 1996, 2006a). However, studies in which rats were exposed to carbon black by inhalation or intratracheal instillation revealed a significant increase in the incidence of malignant pulmonary tumours in females (IARC 1996, 2006a). An increase in the incidence of benign lesions was also observed.

According to Borm *et al.* (2005), the overload of the body's defence mechanisms resulting from a chronic inflammation explains the carcinogenic effect of carbon black in rats. The results obtained by Driscoll *et al.* (1996) support this hypothesis, because the mutagenic effects were observed only at concentrations causing inflammation and hyperplasia.

A study conducted in the United Kingdom revealed excess mortality due to lung cancer (SMR of 1.5) in a cohort of workers assigned to carbon black production (IARC, 1996, 2006a). In a control-case study conducted in Canada (Montreal), in which exposure to several substances was assessed in a population sample, an excess risk of esophageal, kidney and lung cancer was observed in relation to carbon black exposure (IARC, 1996, 2006a). No excess risk was observed for the following sites: stomach, colon, rectum, pancreas, prostate, bladder, melanoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.

IARC (1996, 2006a) considers that carbon black may be carcinogenic for humans (group 2B), even though the evidence is currently insufficient. According to Watson and Valberg (2001), an increased risk of lung cancer could not be proved in workers exposed to carbon black during its production.

Epidemiological studies did not show an increased risk of morbidity or mortality linked to lung cancer in workers assigned to TiO_2 production (NIOSH, 2005). No study has been performed concerning workers handling or using TiO_2 . NIOSH considers that there is currently insufficient evidence to designate TiO_2 as a potential carcinogenic agent. IARC (2006b) considers that the evidence of TiO_2 carcinogenicity in humans is insufficient, but that it is sufficient in animals. IARC (2006b) thus considers that TiO_2 is potentially carcinogenic for humans.

6.2.1.7. Cellular and humoural effects

In an experiment conducted by intratracheal instillation in rats, Hohr *et al.* (2002) observed an increase in pulmonary neutrophils, early parameters of inflammation, for 20-30 nm TiO₂ nanoparticles. This effect was not as significant with administration of 180 nm particles. Coating by methylation to render the particles hydrophobic, and thus less soluble, slightly reduced neutrophil production for the 2 particulate dimensions of TiO₂ when the doses were 1 mg, but had little impact on 6 mg doses. The authors conclude that particle surface is the determining factor in pulmonary inflammation, while methylation coating played a marginal role in the inflammation parameters.

6.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

6.2.2.1. Effects on the organs

ActicoatTM is a product consisting of a nylon/polyester mesh, trapping polyethylene and including a silver nanocrystal layer. This product has been used for several years to accelerate healing of wounds and reduce bacterial colonization. In the presence of moisture, the product releases ions and silver radicals that would be responsible for antibacterial action. In an *in vitro* study of cultured human keratinocytes, Lam *et al.* (2004b) observed a substantial decrease in cell viability (0 to 9% cell viability after 30 minutes of incubation) and conclude cytotoxicity of silver nanocrystals (0.005 – 0.01% of silver) released by ActicoatTM. Poon and Burd (2004), in an *in vitro* study of human fibroblasts and keratinocytes, observed an LD₁₀₀ at low concentrations, comparable to the therapeutic concentrations (7 – 55 X $10^{-4}\%$).

Cross *et al.* (2007) conclude that less than 0.03% of the applied zinc oxide nanoparticle used in sunscreen formulations penetrated the human epidermis after 24 hours of exposure.

- 6.2.2.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 6.2.2.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 6.2.2.4. Development effects No data
- 6.2.2.5. Genotoxic effects

Bergeron and Archambault (2005) report the results of two studies in which it was shown that the TiO_2 and ZnO contained in sunscreens damaged DNA by free radical production in skin cells.

6.2.2.6. Carcinogenic effects

No effect of carbon black on skin cancer was observed in a control-case study conducted with rubber industry workers (IARC, 1996, 2006a).

No carcinogenic effect was observed following cutaneous application of carbon black in mice (IARC, 1996, 2006a).

6.2.2.7. Cellular and humoural effects

No data

6.2.3. Ingestion exposure

Jia *et al.* (2005a) observed a more pronounced toxicity with sodium selenite and proteins with a high Se content than with Nano-Se. The authors determined a noobserved-adverse-effect-level (NOAEL) dose of 3 ppm for Nano-Se, which corresponds to doses of 0.22 and 0.33 mg/kg of body weight per day for males and females respectively. For sodium selenite and proteins with a high Se content, the authors determined a NOAEL of 2 ppm, which corresponds to doses of 0.14 and 0.20 mg/kg body weight/day for males and females respectively. In their study, the authors conclude that Nano-Se is less toxic than sodium selenite and proteins with a high Se content. A study cited by Jia *et al.* (2005a) showed that Nano-Se (LD₅₀: 113 mg/kg body weight) has an acute toxicity level 7 times lower than sodium selenite (LD₅₀: 15 mg/kg bw) in mice and that their bioavailability is similar in rats. Jia *et al.* (2005a) also observed a decrease in body weight in rats exposed to Nano-Se (20-60 nm), sodium selenite and proteins with a high Se content at concentrations of 4 and 5 ppm of Se.

Zhang *et al.* (2005a) observed a lower incidence of retarded growth in mice, after ingestion of the nanoparticulate form of selenium (Nano-Se), compared to animals receiving non-nanoparticulate sodium selenite.

Chen et al. (2006a) studied the acute effects of administration of copper nanoparticles by gavage in mice. They compared the effects of nanoparticles (23.5 nm; 108 to 1080 mg/kg) and microparticles (17 μ m; 500 to 5000 mg/kg) of copper metal and copper ions (CuCl₂·2H₂O; 24 to 237 mg/kg) with purity over 99.9% The specific surface of the nanoparticles and microparticles was 2.95×10^5 and 3.99×10^2 cm²/g respectively. The number of particles present in 1 µg of matter was 1.7×10^{10} for nanoparticles and 44 for microparticles. 90 mice of both sexes were examined for morphological and pathological changes and 90 other were used for biochemical blood tests. The authors found LD₅₀ of 110, 413 and >5000 mg/kg for ions, nanoparticles and microparticles respectively. Copper nanoparticles and ions thus are classified as moderately toxic, while microparticles are classified as practically non-toxic (classes 3 and 5 respectively on the Hodge and Sterner scale) (Chen et al., 2006a). The toxic effects of copper nanoparticles were more pronounced in males than in females exposed to the same mass of particles.

Wang *et al.* (2006) studied the acute toxicity of zinc powder nanoparticles by gastrointestinal administration in CD-ICR mice of both sexes. The authors administered a dose of 5 g/kg by body weight of nanoparticles (58 ± 16 nm) and microparticles ($1.08 \pm 0.25 \mu$ m) with purity over 99.99%. A group of 20 mice to which sodium carboxymethyl cellulose were administered served as controls. The mice to which zinc nanoparticles were administered showed severe symptoms of lethargy and anorexia, vomiting and diarrhea in the first days of treatment. The death of two mice (attributable to an intestinal obstruction caused by aggregation of zinc nanoparticles) occurred in the first week (days 2 and 6). A slight lethargy but no deaths were observed in the mice receiving the zinc microparticles. Over the first three days, the authors observed a 22% reduction in weight gain among mice exposed to nanoparticles compared to the controls. No weight difference between the controls and the mice exposed to nanoparticles was observed in the same period. However, the mice exposed to nanoparticles regained their weight 6 days after treatment.

6.2.3.1. Effects on the organs

Jia *et al.* (2005a) observed an increase in the relative weight of the organs (for example, liver, spleen, brain) in rats exposed to Nano-Se (20-60 nm; 5 ppm), to sodium selenite (4 and 5 ppm) and to proteins with a high Se content (3, 4 and 5 ppm).

Chen *et al.* (2006a) observed a severe atrophy (at doses ranging from 232 to 1080 mg/kg) and a change in spleen colour in mice exposed to metallic copper nanoparticles (23.5 nm). The authors also observed an atrophy of the splenic units, lymphocyte reduction and fibrosis in the interstitium of the spleen. Chen *et al.* (2006a) conclude that the spleen is one of the target organs for metallic copper nanoparticles. The spleen of mice exposed to microparticles (17 μ m; 1077 mg/kg) was slightly different from that of mice used as controls and

exposed to a solution containing 1% hydroxypropylmethylcellulose K4M (HPMC). The authors also observed a black coloration of the gall bladder in certain mice exposed to nanoparticles. In these mice, several organs, including the kidneys, the spleen and the liver suffered major damage (at all doses) and the severity of the effects depended on the dose administered. The kidneys and the liver are also target organs for metallic copper nanoparticles.

Chen *et al.* (2006a) also measured certain biochemical parameters that reflect the hepatic and renal functions in the blood of mice exposed to metallic copper nanoparticles (23.5 nm; 108-736 mg/kg). All the parameters measured (blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, total bile acid and alkaline phosphatase) were significantly higher than in the controls. No measurement was taken at the highest dose (1080 mg/kg), given that all the animals died within 72 h.

- 6.2.3.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data
- 6.2.3.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system No data

6.2.3.1.3. Liver effects

Jia *et al.* (2005a) observed growth inhibition and degeneration of hepatic cells in mice exposed to sodium selenite and to proteins with a high Se content at a concentration of 3 ppm of Se. Nano-Se (20-60 nm) had no effect at this dose and had a significantly lower effect than sodium selenite and proteins with a high Se content at doses of 4 and 5 ppm of Se.

Zhang *et al.* (2005a) observed less hepatic function alterations in mice that ingested selenium nanoparticles (Nano-Se; 20-60 nm; 2 and 4 mg/kg for 15 days), compared to those to which non-nanoparticulate sodium selenite had been administered.

Chen *et al.* (2006a) observed steatosis around the central veins of the hepatic tissues in mice exposed to metallic copper nanoparticles (23.5 nm; 341 mg/kg).

Mouse livers exposed to zinc nanoparticles (58 nm) or microparticles (1.08 μ m) in the study by Wang *et al.* (2006) exhibited edema, hydropic degeneration and a slight necrosis of the hepatocytes around the central vein. An increase in certain biochemical parameters (alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase and LDH) measured in the blood also indicated liver damage induced by microparticles and nanoparticles. In general, zinc microparticles induced more severe liver damage than nanoparticles.

6.2.3.1.4. Kidney effects

Jia *et al.* (2005a) observed a necrosis of the epithelial cells in the medullar zone of the kidneys in 4 of 24 rats exposed to sodium selenite and to proteins with a high Se content at a concentration of 5 ppm of Se. No pathological change was observed in rats exposed to Nano-Se.

Chen *et al.* (2006a) observed a substantial kidney colour change in mice exposed to metallic copper nanoparticles (23.5 nm; 1080 mg/kg). Damage to the proximal tubule cells and signs of glomerulonephritis (swelling of the glomeruli,

for example) were also observed. At a dose of 341 mg/kg, the authors observed degeneration of the epithelial cells of the proximal convoluted tubule and a dose of 1080 mg/kg triggered massive and irreversible necrobiosis of these same cells. The nuclei of the epithelial cells of the renal tubule became less and less visible (starting at 341 mg/kg) and nearly disappeared at 1080 mg/kg. Finally, protein fluid (indicating a disorder of the protein metabolism) containing a purple deposition (sign of precipitation of copper salts) was found in the renal tubules of mice exposed to doses ranging from 341 to 1080 mg/kg. The kidneys of mice exposed to microparticles (17 μ m; 1077 mg/kg) were similar to those of the controls.

Wang *et al.* (2006) observed a slight swelling of the glomeruli in the kidneys of mice exposed to zinc nanoparticles or microparticles. Dilation of the renal tubules and the presence of protein moulds were observed only in mice exposed to nanoparticles. An increase in certain biochemical blood parameters (blood urea nitrogen and creatinine) in mice exposed to microparticles suggested a renal dysfunction consecutive to exposure. Nanoparticles induced more severe kidney damage than microparticles despite the absence of changes in the blood parameters following exposure to nanoparticles. The elevation of blood urea nitrogen in mice exposed to microparticles could be caused in part by a hepatic dysfunction (Wang *et al.*, 2006).

6.2.3.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system

A slight inflammation of the stomach and the intestine was observed in mice exposed to zinc nanoparticles and microparticles in the study by Wang *et al.* (2005). No significant pathological change was observed in the other organs.

All the mice that received metallic copper nanoparticles in the study by Chen *et al.* (2006a) exhibited gastrointestinal disorders (appetite loss, diarrhea, vomiting) contrary to those that received microparticles (in the same mass concentrations). Some mice that received nanoparticles or ions also exhibited various symptoms, such as tremors or hypopnea.

6.2.3.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation

Fatty degeneration was observed in the cardiovascular cells of the cardiac tissues in mice exposed to zinc nanoparticles in the study by Wang *et al.* (2006). Such degeneration can be caused by anemia. No histopathological alteration of the cardiac tissues was observed following exposure to microparticles. An increase in certain biochemical blood parameters (creatinine kinase, aspartate aminotransferase, LDH and hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase) in mice exposed to nanoparticles or microparticles also indicates cardiac impairment.

6.2.3.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system

Jia *et al.* (2005a) observed a decrease in certain hematological parameters (hemoglobin, erythrocytes and platelets) in rats exposed to Nano-Se (5 ppm of Se), to sodium selenite (4 and 5 ppm of Se) and to proteins with a high Se content (4 and 5 ppm of Se).

Wang *et al.* (2006) observed an increase in blood platelets and the red blood cell distribution index, as well as a decrease in hemoglobin and haematocrit in mice exposed to zinc nanoparticles (58 nm) and microparticles (1.08 μ m) compared to

the controls. The decrease in hemoglobin and haematocrit was more noticeable with nanoparticles than with microparticles. This indicates that nanoparticles triggered more severe anemia than microparticles. No significant difference was observed in certain coagulation parameters (prothrombin time, fibrinogen and activated partial thromboplastin time) following exposure to nanoparticles or microparticles.

- 6.2.3.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 6.2.3.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 6.2.3.3. Effects on reproduction No data
- 6.2.3.4. Development effects No data
- 6.2.3.5. Genotoxic effects No data
- 6.2.3.6. Carcinogenic effects

No satisfactory study of the carcinogenic potential of carbon black administered by ingestion could be identified in the literature.

6.2.3.7. Cellular and humoural effects

No data

6.2.4. Exposure by other routes

- 6.2.4.1. Effects on the organs
 - 6.2.4.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data
 - 6.2.4.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system No data
 - 6.2.4.1.3. Liver effects No data
 - 6.2.4.1.4. Kidney effects No data
 - 6.2.4.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system

In an analysis of human histological specimens including control cases, Gatti (2004) showed a correlation of the presence of microparticles or nanoparticles with colon cancer and Cröhn's disease, an inflammatory bowel disease. The composition of the inclusions in the intestinal tissues was varied and the author postulates a possible association with ceramics or other dental products, prosthetic alloys, food pollutants or previous exposure to barium-based colourings.

6.2.4.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation

Exposure of human aortic endothelial cells to Fe_2O_3 , Y_2O_3 and ZnO at concentrations of 0.001 to 50 µg/mL led to their dose-dependent cellular internalization for the three metallic oxides (Gojova *et al.*, 2007). Iron oxide does not trigger an inflammatory response at any of the concentrations tested. Yttrium and zinc oxides trigger a strong inflammatory response at a concentration over 10 µg/mL. At the maximum concentration, zinc oxide nanoparticles are cytotoxic and lead to a high proportion of cell deaths (Gojova *et al.*, 2007).

6.2.4.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system

In an experiment intended to assess the blood compatibility of various forms of titanium dioxide (TiO₂), Maitz *et al.* (2003) did not observe any effects of the nanocrystalline form on several parameters of platelet-rich human plasma (platelet aggregation and coagulation time).

- 6.2.4.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 6.2.4.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 6.2.4.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system

Braydich-Stolle *et al.* (2005) studied the toxicity of Ag nanoparticles of different diameters on the cells of the male mouse germ line (C18-4). The authors did not observe any cytotoxicity for nanoparticles of 55, 80 and 130 nm, but cytotoxicity was observed with nanoparticles of 25 nm (EC_{50}^{6} : 100 µg/mL) and 30 nm (EC_{50} : 25 µg/mL). The authors also observed a loss of LDH by the membrane of the cells exposed to nanoparticles of 25 nm (5 µg/mL) and 30-80 nm (10 µg/mL). In addition, the authors observed a decrease in activity of Fyn kinase (member of the Src cytoplasmic kinase family involved in the proliferation of normal strain spermatogonia) with nanoparticles larger than 30 nm. According to Braydich-Stolle *et al.* (2005), these results suggest that nanoparticle size plays a role in the toxicity mechanism.

6.2.4.4. Development effects

No data

6.2.4.5. Genotoxic effects

Rahman *et al.* (2002) studied the potential of TiO₂ particles (≤ 20 and > 200 nm) to induce chromosomal changes (signalled by presence of micronuclei) in golden hamster embryonic cells. The authors observed a significant increase in induction of micronuclei in cells exposed to particles 20 nm and smaller (1.0 µg/cm²) after 12, 24, 48, 66 and 72 h of exposure. The authors also observed apoptosis of the cells.

6.2.4.6. Carcinogenic effects

The one-year survival rate of mice with induced breast tumours in the Hainfeld et al. (2004) experiment was high (86%), even at the maximum dose of gold

 $^{^{6}}$ The effective concentration 50 (EC₅₀) is the concentration which causes toxicity in 50% of the cells.

nanoparticles (concentration of 270 mg/cc) administered intravenously for therapeutic purposes before radiotherapy. These results give reason to believe in the low toxicity of this type of formulation.

Sarcomas were observed in male and female mice after subcutaneous injection of carbon black containing an appreciable quantity of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) (IARC, 1996, 2006a). Subcutaneous injection of carbon black in which PAH were not detected did not trigger sarcomas.

6.2.4.7. Cellular and humoural effects

Stone *et al.* (2000) observed an increase (1.6 times) in the cytosolic calcium (Ca^{2+}) at rest in monocytic cells (Monomac 6) exposed to ultrafine carbon black particles (14 nm; 66 µg/mL). Exposure to fine carbon black particles (260 nm) did not have this effect. Calcium is involved in activation of proinflammatory transcription factor (such as NF-kB) (Brown *et al.*, 2000). According to Stone *et al.* (2000), ultrafine carbon black particles could partially activate the opening of Ca^{2+} channels by a mechanism involving reactive oxygen species and thus allow extracellular Ca^{2+} to enter the cells. The study by Brown *et al.* (2000) confirmed the results obtained by Stone *et al.* (2000).

Wagner *et al.* (2001) exposed rat alveolar macrophages to aluminium oxide nanoparticles (Al₂O₃; 30 and 40 nm) and pristine aluminium nanoparticles (Al; 50, 80 and 120 nm). Toxicity was observed 96 and 144 h after exposure to Al₂O₃ nanoparticles (100 and 250 µg/mL). Al nanoparticles triggered slight toxicity after 24 h at the same doses. The authors also observed a decrease in phagocytosis in cells exposed to 25 µg/mL of Al after 24 h. 50 nm Al particles caused a significant decrease in phagocytosis at a dose of 5 µg/mL. No inflammatory response (production of NO, TNF- α or MIP-2) was observed after exposure to the 2 types of nanoparticles. The authors conclude that aluminium nanoparticles are slightly toxic for rat alveolar macrophages.

Renwick *et al.* (2001) exposed alveolar macrophages (J774.2 M Φ) to fine and ultrafine particles of TiO₂ (250 and 29 nm) and carbon black (260.3 and 14.3) for 8 h. No significant cytotoxicity was observed, but a decrease in macrophage capacity for phagocytosis was observed at a concentration of 0.39 µg/mm² for ultrafine carbon black particles and 0.78 µg/mm² for all particles. At all concentrations, ultrafine carbon black particles had a more noticeable effect than the other particles on the macrophages. In general, the effects on phagocytosis were manifested at a lower concentration for ultrafine particles (0.39 µg/mm² compared to 0.78 µg/mm² for fine particles). The authors conclude that the slowing of ultrafine particle clearance in the lungs is caused in part by a decrease in macrophage capacity for phagocytosis resulting from macrophage exposure to particles.

Germain *et al.* (2003) compared the *in vitro* cytotoxicity of nanoparticles of a cobalt-chromium (Co/Cr) alloy⁷ and alumina ceramic, which were produced by simulated wear of prosthetic joints. Two concentrations were tested on histiocytes and pulmonary fibroblasts in mice. Cell viability was tested 5 days after exposure. The Co/Cr nanoparticles (5 - 20 nm) triggered high cytotoxicity in

⁷ Co and Cr ions have sensitizing and carcinogenic potential.

human histiocytes, which depended on the concentration (respective reductions of cell viability from 97% and 42% to 50 and 5 μ m³) and on the mouse fibroblasts (respective reductions of 95% and 73%). Co/Cr particles of 10 μ m had no significant effect on cell viability. Alumina ceramic nanoparticles (5 - 20 nm) only produced low cytotoxicity in human histiocytes (18% reduction), and only at high concentrations.

Researchers have taken an interest in the study of cellular phenomena manifested by induction of various mechanisms or by the production of inflammation mediators. An *in vitro* study by Lucarelli *et al.* (2004) showed that SiO₂ and cobalt (Co) nanoparticles exhibited significant proinflammatory activity for the activity of human marrow monocytes, while TiO₂ and ZrO₂ nanoparticles were less active.

Tkachenko *et al.* (2004) have obtained various degrees of *in vitro* capture of modified gold particles by the nuclei of human cervical tumour cell nuclei liver tumor cells and by mouse fibroblastoma cells. Nanoparticles could pass through the three barriers (cellular, endosomal and nuclear membrane) to reach the nucleus. Extrapolation of these results to healthy human cells remains limited, because only tumour cells have been studied.

Peters *et al.* (2004), studying the behaviour and viability of human endothelial cells *in vivo*, observed that PVC, TiO_2 , SiO_2 and Co nanoparticles were incorporated into the cell vacuoles. The Co nanoparticles showed high proinflammatory and cytotoxic potential, while the SiO_2 nanoparticles had low proinflammatory potential and the TiO_2 nanoparticles had even lower potential, although still observable, despite the fact that this substance is often considered biologically amorphous. The PVC and Ni nanoparticles did not generate these effects.

The *in vitro* cytotoxicity of MMPC 1 gold nanoparticles (cationic nanoparticle with a quaternary ammonium complex) and MMPC 2 (carboxylic nanoparticle in its anionic form, recognized as not bonding to DNA) was studied by Goodman *et al.* (2004) in primate cells, human red blood cells and *E. Coli* bacteria. The researchers observed cytotoxicity in the MMPC 1 cationic nanoparticles after one hour of incubation (LD₅₀: 1.0 ± 0.5 ; 1.1 ± 0.1 ; 3.1 ± 0.6). The MMPC2 nanoparticles did not cause significant toxicity, even after 24 hours of incubation. The authors postulate an interaction of nanoparticles with the cellular membrane and the presence of electrostatic attraction mechanisms.

Braydich-Stolle *et al.* (2005) studied the toxicity of different nanoparticles in cells of the male mouse germ line (C18-4). The authors incubated cells with nanoparticles of silver (Ag; 15 nm), molybdenum (MoO₃; 30 nm) and aluminium (Al; 30 nm) at concentrations of 5, 10, 25, 50 and 100 µg/mL for 48 h. Cadmium oxide (CdO; 1000 nm) was used as a positive control at concentrations of 1, 2, 5, 10 and 25 µg/mL. No change cell morphology was observed after 48 h of incubation with MoO₃ (at all concentrations). CdO triggered major morphological changes (cell shrinkage and irregularity) at 1 µg/mL and the cells detached from the culture medium and became necrotized starting at 5 µg/mL. Ag nanoparticles triggered apoptosis and necrosis of certain parts of the cells starting at 10 µg/mL. At a concentration below 10 µg/mL, Al nanoparticles accumulated in the cell cytoplasm, where they formed aggregated incapable of penetrating the nucleus, but they did not trigger necrosis, apoptosis or

morphological changes in the cells. Ag nanoparticles were the most toxic, but all the nanoparticles tested were less toxic than CdO (Braydich-Stolle *et al.*, 2005).

In their study, Braydich-Stolle *et al.* (2005) examined the mitochondrial function of cells exposed to nanoparticles. Cadmium oxide inhibited mitochondrial activity at a concentration less than 1 µg/mL (EC₅₀ : 0.5 µg/mL). In comparison, cadmium chloride, considered to be toxic, had no significant effect at a concentration less than 5 µg/mL (EC₅₀ : 21.3 µg/mL). The toxic effects of silver nanoparticles (15 nm) on the mitochondria began to appear between 5 and 10 µg/mL (EC₅₀: 8.75 µg/mL). In comparison, silver carbonate, not considered dangerous, had no effect on the mitochondria up to a concentration of 100 µg/mL (EC₅₀: 408 µg/mL). Molybdenum nanoparticles triggered toxic effects on cellular metabolic activity starting at 50 µg/mL (EC₅₀: 90 µg/mL). By comparison, sodium molybdate, considered moderately toxic to humans and animals at an EC₅₀ of 322 µg/mL. The effect of aluminium nanoparticles on mitochondrial activity could not be assessed given that the particles accumulated and formed aggregates in the cytoplasm of the cells at low concentrations.

Braydich-Stolle *et al.* (2005) also assessed the integrity of the cytoplasmic membrane of cells exposed to nanoparticles. Cadmium oxide caused a dose-dependent loss of LDH by the cellular membrane (EC₅₀: 2.5 μ g/mL). Nanoparticles also caused a dose-dependent loss of LDH by the cellular membrane at low concentrations (EC₅₀ Ag: 2.5 μ g/mL; EC₅₀ Al: 4.7 μ g/mL; EC₅₀ MoO₃: 5 μ g/mL). Finally, the authors observed a dose-dependent increase in the number of apoptotic cells at concentrations of 1-5 μ g/mL for CdO and 10-50 μ g/mL for nanoparticles. The number of necrotized cells also increased according to the concentration.

Barlow *et al.* (2005b) exposed bovine fetal serum to fine carbon black particles (260 nm in diameter; 10 mg/mL) and carbon black nanoparticles (14 nm in diameter; 5 and 10 mg/mL). They showed that substances present in serum exposed to 10 mg/mL of carbon black nanoparticles were responsible for 1.8 times more migration of macrophages (from mouse alveoli) than fine carbon black particles. The effect seemed to be linked to an oxidative phenomenon, because adding antioxidants reduced it.

In another study, Barlow *et al.* (2005a) exposed rat type II alveolar epithelial cells (line L-2) to carbon black nanoparticles (14.3 nm; 6 h). Type II epithelial cells are said to play a major role in the inflammatory process in the lungs by production of proinflammatory cytokines. These are responsible for migration of leukocytes to the inflammation sites (by chemotaxis). The authors observed significant production of chemoattractants by the type II cells, measured by macrophage migration. TiO₂ nanoparticles (29 nm) and fine carbon and TiO₂ particles (260.2 and 250 nm respectively) did not have this effect. A dose-dependent increase in LDH production after exposure to the four types of particles was also observed. The authors conclude that carbon nanoparticles are very likely responsible for production of chemoattractants by type II cells.

Gurr *et al.* (2005) studied the effect of ultrafine TiO_2 particles on human bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) in the absence of photoactivation. Anatase particles of 10 and 20 nm (10 µg/mL) triggered oxidative DNA damage, lipid peroxidation, formation of micronuclei and increased H₂O₂ and NO production in the cells. Anatase particles of 200 nm (or larger) did not induce oxidative stress

in the absence of light. However, 200 nm rutile particles induced H_2O_2 production and oxidative DNA damage in the absence of light. Finally, the level of oxidative DNA damage was slightly higher after exposure to a mixture of anatase and rutile (200 nm; 10 µg/mL for 1 h in total darkness) compared to exposure to the two forms of TiO₂ separately. The authors conclude that the smaller the size of the particles, the higher their potential to induce oxidative stress (in the absence of photoactivation). Ultrafine TiO₂ particles are usually considered biocompatible in the absence of photoactivation (Gurr *et al.*, 2005).

Exposure of mouse microglia *in vitro* to non-photoactivated TiO_2 nanoparticles (2.5-120 ppm) trigged rapid (< 5 minutes) and prolonged (2 h) production of reactive oxygen species (Long *et al.*, 2006). The authors also observed phagocytosis of nanoparticles by the microglia. Prolonged production of reactive oxygen species by microglia could cause damage to the neighbouring cells, particularly the neurons (Thrall, 2006).

Gupta and Gupta (2005) exposed human skin fibroblasts to superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION) (40-45 nm) and to SPION coated with pullulan (Pn-SPION) at concentrations ranging from 0 to 2.0 mg/mL. SPION turned out to be toxic for the cells while Pn-SPION showed no toxicity. The authors observed internalization of both types of particles, but according to different mechanisms. They conclude that endocytosis of particles is influenced by the surface characteristics of the particles.

Human pulmonary epithelial cells were exposed *in vitro* to silica nanoparticles containing iron, cobalt, manganese and titanium, as well as nanometric oxides of these metals. The authors (Limbach *et al.* 2007) used very well characterized particles with the same morphologies, as well as comparable dimensions, forms and degrees of agglomeration. They showed that these particles effectively penetrate the cells and trigger up to eight times more oxidative stress in the case of cobalt and manganese than the aqueous solutions of the same metals. They conclude that the risk assessment should also account for the chemical composition and catalytic properties of nanoparticles.

Table 3 summarizes the documented health effects of certain inorganic nanoparticules.

	Inorganic nanoparticles ²							
Effect	Route							
	Inhala-	Cuta-	Oral	Other				
Toxicokinetics								
Irritation								
Systemic ⁴								
Acute								
Intermediate								
Chronic								
Neurological								
Immunological								
Development								
Reproductive								
Genotoxic								
Cancer								

Table 3. Documented health effects of certain inorganic nanoparticles ¹

¹ Existing human (\blacksquare) or animal (\blacktriangle) studies. Adopted from the ATSDR.

² Inorganic nanoparticles tested: carbon, copper and some copper compounds (CuCl₂·2H₂O, CuO, CuO₂, Cu(OH)₂), or colloidal, selenium, titanium dioxide (TiO₂), iridium-192, zinc, cerium oxide, aluminium oxide, cobalt, silver, SiO₂, chromium, molybdenum, iron oxide.

³ Including intratracheal instillation.

⁴ Systemic effects: acute (\leq 14 days), intermediate (15 to 364 days) and chronic (\geq 365 days).

7. HEALTH EFFECTS OF ORGANIC NANOPARTICLES

As in the case of inorganic nanoparticles (Chapter 6), insoluble organic nanoparticles can be composed of various organic substances, often insoluble polymers to which different organic radicals can be grafted. Some substances can also be made soluble under specific conditions. Often, only their nanometric dimensions distinguish organic nanoparticles from the same products normally found on a larger scale. However, it is precisely because of their unique nano-scaled properties that these particles are produced. On the nano-scale, they display catalytic, chemical or other properties that do not exist when in larger dimensions.

Organic nanoparticles can also be materials involving entrapment, encapsulation or surface adsorption of an active biological substance (Zimmer, 1999). One of their interests depends on their use for transport and optimal targeting of drugs. Medina et al. (2007) report on the use of nanoparticles in pharmacology. Kreuter (2001), Lockman et al. (2002, 2003) and Tiwari et al. (2006), among others, produced literature reviews concerning the use of nanoparticulate systems for cerebral transport of different drugs. The different systems used (coated or uncoated polymers, etc.) have turned out to be an effective tool to help drugs pass through the hematoencephalic barrier (dalargin, doxorubicin, etc.) in several animal species. Tests were performed with various types of nanoparticles: polymeric nanoparticles (Kante et al., 1982; Couvreur et al., 1982; Gibaud et al., 1996; Sakuma et al., 2002), colloidal nanoparticles (Nemmar et al., 2002a, 2002b), carbon nanotubes (Kostarelos et al. 2007) and lipidic nanospheres (Fukui et al., 2003). Recently, Ryan et al. (2007) reported that SWCNT can inhibit certain allergic reaction mechanisms. The results are promising regarding the therapeutic aspects, mainly for polymeric nanoparticles, but the data are inadequate concerning their toxicity in the work environment because of the unusual route used and the limited information concerning their toxicological assessment. These particles will not be discussed exhaustively in this document.

7.1. Toxicokinetics

7.1.1 Absorption

Alvarez-Román *et al.* (2004) studied cutaneous absorption of polystyrene nanoparticles containing FITC (fluorescein isothiocyanate-5) on pig skin. The authors observed that the polystyrene nanoparticles (20 and 200 nm) accumulated preferentially in the hair follicles. Nanoparticle accumulation in the hair follicles increased according to time and particle size, with the smallest particles (20 nm) displaying greater accumulation. After application of a saturated FITC solution (not bound to nanoparticles), FITC was observed mainly on the surface of the skin after 30 minutes and 1 h. However, a higher FITC concentration was observed in the hair follicles after 2 h of exposure. The authors also observed an accumulation of 20 and 200 nm particles in the interpapillary ridges, but no absorption was observed at these sites. FITC accumulated in the corneocytes.

7.1.2. Distribution

7.1.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure No data

7.1.2.2. Cutaneous exposure No data 7.1.2.3. Ingestion exposure

Jani *et al.* (1990) showed that polystyrene nanoparticles (30, 100 and 300 nm) administered by gavage in rats (1.25 mg/kg/day for 10 days; Hoet *et al.*, 2004a) could be detected in the blood and in several organs, such as the liver and spleen. None were found in the heart and lungs.

7.1.2.4. Exposure by other routes

Douglas *et al.* (1996) studied the biodistribution of poly(butyl 2-cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles, whether polymer-coated or not, in rabbits (intravenous injection of 1 mL of each preparation). About 60% of the nanoparticles were located in the liver and the spleen, while about 30% remained in the bloodstream. The coating had no significant influence on nanoparticle distribution.

Sakuma *et al.* (2002) showed that certain hydrophilic polymeric nanoparticles (poly(N-isopropylacrylamide), poly(N-vinylacetamide), poly(vinylamine) and polymethacrylic acid) administered by perfusion increase the permeability of the rat jejunum (part of the intestine) to salmon calcitonin (hypocalcemic drug).

Lockman *et al.* (2003) showed that nanoparticles to which Brij78 and Brij72/tween 80 emulsions are added have no *in vivo* effect on rats and no *in vitro* effect (bovine brain cells) on the integrity of the hematoencephalic barrier. Koziara *et al.* (2003) showed that nanoparticles to which Brij78 and Brij72 are added could pass through the hematoencephalic barrier in rats without affecting the barrier's biological integrity.

Lockman *et al.* (2004) studied the effect of the nanoparticle load on the integrity and permeability of the hematoencephalic barrier. The authors exposed rats to wax nanoparticles by perfusion in the left carotid. Neutral nanoparticles $(74.7 \pm 53.4 \text{ nm}; 10 \text{ and } 20 \text{ µg/mL})$ and low-concentration anionic nanoparticles $(127.1 \pm 70.6 \text{ nm}; 10 \text{ µg/mL})$ had no acute effect on the integrity of the hematoencephalic barrier. However, high-concentration anionic nanoparticles (20 µg/mL) and cationic nanoparticles $(97.2 \pm 68.9 \text{ nm}; 10 \text{ and } 20 \text{ µg/mL})$ had a rupturing effect on the hematoencephalic barrier in less than 60 seconds. The authors also observed higher permeability for anionic nanoparticles $(7.93 \pm 0.98 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mL/s/g})$ compared to neutral nanoparticles $(4.10 \pm 0.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mL/s/g})$ and cationic nanoparticles $(2.73 \pm 0.2 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mL/s/g})$ at a concentration of 10 µg/mL.

Ferritin and iron dextran nanoparticles were found in the hypoglossal nucleus after injection in the mouse tongue (Oberdörster *et al.*, 2005b). When they were injected in mouse facial muscles, the same particles were absorbed by the synapses. In addition, ferritin cations were detected in the facial neurons, which indicates that the particle load has an influence on absorption of particles by the axons and their transport along the axons (Oberdörster *et al.*, 2005b).

Kim *et al.* (2006) studied the toxicity and distribution of magnetic silica nanoparticles containing rhodamine B isothiocyanate. The 50 nm nanoparticles were administered by intraperitoneal injection to ICR mice for 4 weeks (25, 50, 100 mg/kg). A dose of 10 mg/kg was used to assess the effects on the hematoencephalic barrier. Nanoparticles were detected in all organs, including the brain, liver, lungs, kidneys, spleen, heart, testicles and uterus. The highest nanoparticle concentrations were observed in the liver and spleen, while distribution in the lungs was minimal. The nanoparticles passed through the

hematoencephalic barrier without affecting its permeability and were absorbed by the neurons. Distribution in the organs was time-dependent.

7.1.2.5. In vitro No data

7.1.3. Metabolism

No data

7.1.4. Excretion

No data

7.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration)

7.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

Positively charged polystyrene nanoparticles (60 nm) administered by intratracheal instillation to hamsters (50 and 500 μ g per animal) triggered inflammation in the lungs (increase in neutrophils, LDH and histamine in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid) and a vascular thrombosis after 1 h (Nemmar *et al.*, 2003).

7.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

No data

7.2.3. Ingestion exposure

No data

7.2.4. Exposure by other routes

7.2.4.1. Effects on organs

The biochemical, hematological and histological analyses performed by Kim *et al.* (2006) on mice exposed to magnetic silica nanoparticles containing rhodamine B isothiocyanate did not reveal any apparent toxicity in any organs after 4 weeks.

7.2.4.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes

Kante *et al.* (1982) did not observe any irritant effects at the injection site of poly(isobutyl cyanoacrylate) and poly(polybutyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles (~0.2 μ m in diameter, single intravenous injection; 0, 12.5 to 40 mL/kg) during a Lethal Dose 50 (LD₅₀) determination test in mice.

7.2.4.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system No data

7.2.4.1.3. Liver effects

Fernandez-Urrusuno *et al.* (1997) showed that single or repeated intravenous injection of 214 nm poly(isobutyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles or 128 nm polystyrene nanoparticles can temporarily reduce the antioxidant defence of isolated rat hepatocytes.

- 7.2.4.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 7.2.4.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 7.2.4.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation No data
- 7.2.4.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system No data
- 7.2.4.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 7.2.4.2. Immunological and allergic effects

Meng *et al.* (2004), in a biocompatibility assessment, did not observe any harmful effects in animals (inflammation, etc.) during muscle implantation of a material composed of hydroxapatite and polyamide nanocrystals.

Tomazic-Jezic *et al.* (2006) injected mice (the route is not specified) with intact or antigen-coated 50 and 500 nm polystyrene particles. The concentrations are not specified. The authors observed monocyte and macrophage infiltration at the injection site with both types of particles. No toxicity in the liver, kidneys or lungs was observed. Both types of particles had an adjuvant effect on IgG production, but the 50 nm nanoparticles also increased IgE antibody production.

- 7.2.4.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data.
- 7.2.4.4. Development effects

Bosman *et al.* (2005) exposed mouse embryos with stage 2 cells and at the blastocyte stage to polystyrene nanoparticles (40-120 nm; 11.0 million/mL). The authors did not observe any difference in the hatching, implantation and degeneration of the embryos compared to the controls. The nanoparticles did not inhibit embryo development up to the blastocyte stage. Smaller nanoparticles were internalized by endocytosis or pinocytosis, but no effect on embryo development was observed. The nanoparticles were located mainly in the trophoblasts.

7.2.4.5. Genotoxic effects

Kante *et al.* (1982) did not observe any mutagenic effect of poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) and poly(methyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles and their degradation products during the Ames test (5 *Salmonella typhimurium* strains).

Leong-Morgenthaler *et al.* (1997) showed that benzo(a)pyrene dissolved in sunflower oil and encapsulated in lipid nanoparticles exercised a mutagenic action on human cells *in vitro* similar to benzo(a)pyrene dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide. A single dose was tested.

Kim *et al.* (2006) observed an increase in the number of reverse mutations during the Ames test performed with magnetic silica nanoparticles containing rhodamine B isothiocyanate (50 nm). However, the changes observed were not

concentration-dependent and were not reproducible. Thus, no conclusion can be drawn as to the toxicity of these nanoparticles.

7.2.4.6. Carcinogenic effects No data7.2.4.7. Cellular and humoural effects No data

Table 4 summarizes documented health effects of certain organic nanoparticles that have been considered for this study. It puts emphasis on the very limited and incomplete data existing on health hazards related to these compounds.

Organic nanoparticles² Effect Route Cuta-Oral Other Inhalation³ neous Toxicokinetics ▲ ▲ Irritation Systemic⁴ Acute Intermediate Chronic Neurological Immunological ▲ Development Reproductive Genotoxic Cancer

Table 4. Documented health effects of certain organic nanoparticles¹

¹ Existing human (\blacksquare) or animal (\blacktriangle) studies. Adopted from the ATSDR.

² Organic nanoparticles tested: fluorescein isothiocyanate-5 (FITC), polystyrene, poly(butyl 2-cyanoacrylate, poly(N-isopropylacrylamide), poly(N-vinylacetamide), poly(vinylamine), polymethacrylic acid, ferritin, iron dextran, magnetic silica, poly(isobutyl cyanoacrylate), poly(polybutyl cyanoacrylate), poly (methyl cyanoacrylate) hydroxyapatite, polyamide, wax.

³ Including intratracheal instillation.

⁴ Systemic effects: acute (\leq 14 days), intermediate (15 to 364 days) and chronic (\geq 365 days).

8. HEALTH EFFECTS OF NANOCAPSULES, NANOSPHERES AND NANOSHELLS AND DENDRIMERS

Nanocapsules, nanospheres and nanoshells can be composed of a wide variety of insoluble organic polymers. Some of these structures are developed to be capable of integration with other substances, often medications. The surface of these nanoparticles can also be modified to interact specifically with certain sites of the body. Because of their nanometric dimensions, these particles can circulate in a living organism, serve as a drug vector or fix to specific cells. They represent a very active research sector with potentially major medical spin-offs.

8.1. Toxicokinetics

8.1.1 Absorption

In 1987, Aprahamian *et al.* showed the intestinal absorption of a drug (Lipiodol) transported by polymeric nanocapsules of about 300 nm in dogs. Within less than one hour after intraintestinal injection of the drug and laparotomy of the animals, the nanocapsules were observed in the lumen of the jejunum (small intestine) and then in the intracellular spaces, in the lamina propria, and finally in the intestinal capillaries.

8.1.2. Distribution

- 8.1.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure No data
- 8.1.2.2. Cutaneous exposure No data
- 8.1.2.3. Ingestion exposure No data
- 8.1.2.4. Exposure by other routes

In a study by Malik *et al.* (2000), PAMAM cationic dendrimers (marked with iodine-125) administered by intravenous or intraperitoneal injection to Wistar rats were eliminated rapidly from the bloodstream. Only 0.1-1.0% of the dose of approximately 10 μ g/mL was found in the blood one hour after injection. The liver was identified as the organ of accumulation with 60-90% of the dose. Anionic dendrimers showed a longer residence time in the blood.

In a study conducted in rats, Cahouet *et al.* (2002) intravenously injected nanocapsules (20 to 100 nm) with a lipid core and a shell composed of 2-hydroxy-polyethylene glycol (PEG) stearate and lecithin. The nanocapsules were marked with iodine-125 and technetium-99. The authors observed a longer-than-expected persistence of the nanocapsules in the blood compartment. They attributed the longer persistence to the PEG coating. The nanocapsules were distributed in the animals' liver, intestines, stomach and penis, but there was no significant cerebral distribution.

Nigavekar *et al.* (2004) studied the distribution of PAMAM dendrimers (poly(amidoamine); 5 nm) in male C57BL/6J mice injected with mouse melanoma cells and in male nude (nu/nu) mice injected with human prostate

carcinoma cells (DU145). 500 μ L of a solution containing 8.8 μ g of positively charged dendrimers and 17.5 μ g of neutral dendrimers were administered to the C57BL/6J mice by intravenous injection. The nude mice only received the positively charged dendrimers. The authors observed a homogenous distribution of the dendrimers in the mouse liver, indicating that uniform nanoparticle distribution occurred in the vascular organs after administration. The dendrimers were eliminated rapidly from the bloodstream and nanoparticles were found in all the major organs and in the tumour tissues. Deposition of positively charged dendrimer absorption occurred in the lungs, kidneys and liver one hour after injection, while the lowest absorption occurred in the brain. No acute toxicity was observed.

8.1.2.5. In vitro

No data

8.1.3. Metabolism

No data.

8.1.4. Excretion

Digestive elimination of nanoparticles radiomarked with iodine-125 and technetium-99 was noted in the Cahouet *et al.* (2002) study of rats. After 24 hours, iodine-125 was still excreted in the animals' urine.

Nigavekar *et al.* (2004) observed rapid initial elimination in the urine of dendrimers administered to mice within 24 h after injection. Subsequently, the nanoparticle level remained relatively stable and decreased very slowly over time. 48.3% of the neutral dendrimers and 29.6% of the positively charged dendrimers were excreted in the urine after 7 days. There was less substantial excretion of dendrimers in the feces over the same period (5.41% of the neutral dendrimers and 2.96% of the positively charged dendrimers). The authors assume that the unexcreted dendrimers are deposited in the microvasculature of various organs and internalized by the endothelium or the cells adjacent to the endothelium.

8.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration)

8.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

8.2.1.1. Effects on the organs

8.2.1.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data

8.2.1.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system

Dailey *et al.* (2006) exposed Balb-C mice to biodegradable nanoparticles of poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) and DEAPA-PVAL-g-PLGA (a PLGA derivative) and to 75 and 220 nm polystyrene nanospheres (intratracheal instillation of 1 and 2.5 μ g/mL). The authors observed an increase in inflammation markers (LDH, proteins, MIP-2 RNAm, neutrophils) in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of mice exposed to the 75 nm nanospheres. After 24 h, the neutrophils represented 41% and 74% of the cells present in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of the mice exposed to the 75 and 220 nm nanospheres respectively. Biodegradable particles of comparable diameter triggered a lower inflammatory response and neutrophil
recruiting was comparable to that of mice exposed to an isotonic glucose solution (control).

- 8.2.1.1.3. Liver effects No data
- 8.2.1.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 8.2.1.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 8.2.1.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation No data
- 8.2.1.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system

Rabbits exposed to 70 μ g/m³ of nanospheres (unidentified) for 3 h showed a coagulation time twice as fast as rabbits exposed to air not containing nanospheres (Raloff, 2005). Blood vessels in the rabbits' ears had been damaged previously by researchers with a laser.

- 8.2.1.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 8.2.1.2. Immunological and allergic effects
- No data 8.2.1.3. Effects on reproduction
- No data
- 8.2.1.4. Development effects

No data

- 8.2.1.5. Genotoxic effects No data
- 8.2.1.6. Carcinogenic effects

No data

8.2.1.7. Cellular and humoural effects No data

8.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

No data

8.2.3. Ingestion exposure No data

8.2.4. Exposure by other routes

- 8.2.4.1. Effects on the organs
 - 8.2.4.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data
 - 8.2.4.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system No data
 - 8.2.4.1.3. Liver effects No data

8.2.4.1.4. Kidney effects No data

- 8.2.4.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 8.2.4.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation No data

8.2.4.1.7 Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system

In a study by Malik *et al.* (2000), PAMAM cationic dendrimers, DAB (poly(propylene imine)) and DAE (diaminoethane) caused hemolysis of rat red blood cells (in a saline solution) after one hour at a concentration greater than 1 mg/mL. For PAMAM dendrimers, the hemolytic effect depended on the generation⁸ (those of generation 1 had no effect). Changes in red blood cell morphology were observed at a concentration of 10 μ g/mL with PAMAM and DAB dendrimers (after one hour).

- 8.2.4.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 8.2.4.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 8.2.4.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 8.2.4.4. Development effects No data
- 8.2.4.5. Genotoxic effects No data
- 8.2.4.6. Carcinogenic effects No data
- 8.2.4.7. Cellular and humoural effects

A study by Roberts *et al.* (1996) cited by Duncan and Izzo (2005) revealed a decrease in the viability of Chinese hamster lung fibroblasts (V79) exposed to PAMAM cationic dendrimers. A concentration of 1 nM (\sim 7 ng/mL; generation 3) triggered the death of 90% of the cells while concentrations of 10 nM (\sim 280 ng/mL) for generation 5 and 100 nM for generation 7 were necessary to trigger the death of so many cells. Cytotoxicity of the dendrimers with an NH₂ group in a terminal position is concentration-dependent and usually generation-dependent (Duncan and Izzo, 2005).

Torres-Lugo *et al.* (2002) studied the *in vitro* cytotoxicity of hydrogel nanospheres, substances that can bypass the upper digestive tract and act as pharmacological vectors directly in the intestine. Using cultures of human

⁸ The generations correspond to the successive layers of molecules added during dendrimer production. The addition of these layers has the effect of increasing the size of the molecules and the number of surface groups. For example, growth of PAMAM dendrimers between generations 1 and 10 has the effect of increasing their diameter from 1.1 to 12.4 nm (Duncan and Izzo, 2005).

intestinal cells to which methacrylic acid ethylene glycol nanospheres have been added, the authors conclude that this nanomaterial has low toxicity. However, the authors observed a reversible alteration of the electrical resistance of the epithelial cells, as well as opening of the junctional membrane complexes. This raised the possibility of cellular transport of the nanocomplex.

The results of a study by Hong *et al.* (2004) reported by Duncan and Izzo (2005) showed that generation 7 PAMAM dendrimers (10-100 nM) triggered formation of holes 15 to 40 nm in diameter in a DMPC lipid bilayer (1,2-dimyristoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine) while generation 5 PAMAM dendrimers only enlarged the holes at already damaged sites. Generation 5 PAMAM dendrimers were not cytotoxic up to a concentration of 500 mM (Duncan and Izzo, 2005). Moreover, generation 5 PAMAM dendrimers with an acetamide (C_2H_5NO) terminal group had no effect on the integrity of the cellular membrane up to a concentration of 500 nM.

In an *in vitro* study, Zhou *et al.* (2005) showed that application of a nanosphere formulation to administer arsenic trioxide reduces the blood toxicity of this product, used against bladder cancer, and renders its action more specific to cancer cells.

Duncan and Izzo (2005) compared cytotoxicity of PAMAM, DAB and DAE dendrimers on 3 cell lines (mouse melanoma cells (B16F10), human lymphoblastic leukemia cells (CCRF) and human hepatoma cells (HepG2)) after 72 h of incubation. The authors observed IC₅₀ ranging from 50 to 300 μ g/mL for generation 4 of the PAMAM, DAB and DAE dendrimers. Generations 1 to 4 of the PAMAM cationic dendrimers were cytotoxic and exhibited IC₅₀ similar to the PLL (poly(L-lysine) used as a control. The PAMAM dendrimers were slightly less toxic than the DAB dendrimers, which had an equivalent surface functionality. Considerable changes in the morphology of the B16F10 cells were observed after exposure to the DAB and DAE dendrimers for 1 h (generation 4; 5 μ g/mL) did not have an effect on cell morphology, but signs of cell membrane damage were observed after 5 h of incubation.

Duncan and Izzo (2005) point out that dendrimer cytotoxicity depends more on the nature of their surface than on the chemistry of the molecular centre. In a study by Chen *et al.* (2004) cited by Duncan and Izzo (2005), cationic dendrimers exercised greater toxicity than anionic or PEG-coated dendrimers in rat liver cells (Clone 9) exposed for 3 h. PAMAM-OH dendrimers were less toxic than PAMAM-NH₂ dendrimers due to coating of the internal positive charges by the surface hydroxyl groups (Duncan and Izzo, 2005).

Table 5 summarizes actually documented health effects of certain nanocapsules, nanosphères, nanoshells and certain dendrimères.

	Nanocapsules, nanospheres nanoshells and dendrimers ² Route				
Effect					
	Inhala- tion ³	Cuta- neous	Oral	Other	
Toxicokinetics					
Irritation					
Systemic ⁴					
Acute					
Intermediate					
Chronic					
Neurological					
Immunological					
Development					
Reproductive					
Genotoxic					
Cancer					

Table 5. Documented health effects of certain nanocapsules, nanosphères, nanoshells and certain dendrimers¹

¹ Existing human (\blacksquare) or animal (\blacktriangle) studies. Adopted from the ATSDR.

² Nanocapsules, nanospheres, nanoshells and dendrimers tested: nanospheres (polystyrene 75, hydrogel, methacrylic acid ethylene glycol), dendrimers (poly(amidoamine), poly(propyleneimine, diaminoethane), poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)).

³ Including intratracheal instillation.

⁴ Systemic effects: acute (\leq 14 days), intermediate (15 to 364 days) and chronic (\geq 365 days).

9. HEALTH EFFECTS OF QUANTUM DOTS

Quantum dots (or nanocrystals) are heterogeneous nanoparticles consisting of a colloidal nucleus surrounded by one or more surface coatings (Ryman-Rasmussen *et al.*, 2006). Their size ranges from 2 to 100 nm (Hardman, 2006). The nuclei of quantum dots may be composed, among other materials, of semiconductors, noble metals or magnetic transition metals (Hardman, 2006). The number of atoms in quantum dots, which can range from 1,000 to 100,000, makes them neither an extended solid structure nor a molecular entity (Aitken *et al.*, 2004). The principal research studies have focused on semiconductor quantum dots, which display distinctive quantal effects depending on the dimensions. The light emitted can be adjusted to the desired wavelength by changing the overall dimension (Aitken *et al.*, 2004).

Because of their diversity, quantum dots cannot be considered a uniform group of nanomaterials and their toxicity will have to be characterized individually according to each type of quantum dot (Hardman, 2006).

9.1. Toxicokinetics

9.1.1 Absorption

Quantum dots are used as fluorescent probes in diagnostic medical imaging and in therapeutics, because of their optical properties and their capacity to form covalent bonds with peptides, antibodies, nucleic acids or other low-weight molecules (Smith *et al.* 2004). Chan and Nie in 1998, cited by Smith *et al.* (2004), were the first to demonstrate *in vivo* that CdSe / ZnS quantum dots coated with mercaptoacetic acid could bond to blood transferrine. This fluorescent complex was absorbed selectively by cancer cells.

Ryman-Rasmussen et al. (2006) studied the absorption of different types of quantum dots in intact pig skin. The authors observed that spherical quantum dots coated with polyethylene glycol (PEG; 35 nm), carboxylic acid (14 nm) and PEG-amine (15 nm) were absorbed by the skin after 8 h of exposure. Quantum dots coated with PEG and carboxylic acid were found mainly in the epidermis, while quantum dots coated with PEG-amine were found mainly in the dermis. Ellipsoidal quantum dots coated with PEG (45 nm) and PEG-amine (20 nm) were found mainly in the epidermis after 8 h. However, ellipsoidal quantum dots coated with carboxylic acid (18 nm) were only absorbed after 24 h. The authors conclude that the skin is permeable to nanomaterials and can serve as a gateway for quantum dots and other nanomaterials, in both producers and users of these materials. Moreover, the results indicate that no mechanical stress (such as abrasion) is necessary for nanomaterials to penetrate the skin. The mechanism involved is said to be passive diffusion through the intercellular spaces. However, this conclusion does not seem to be applicable to all substances. Thus, Tinkle et al. (2003) showed that 0.5 and 1.0 µm beryllium particles penetrated the corneal layer to reach the epidermis and occasionally the dermis in human skin samples subjected to flexion simulating a wrist movement (20 flexions per minute). The authors suggested that the movement was necessary for the beryllium particles to penetrate the skin.

9.1.2. Distribution

- 9.1.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure No data
- 9.1.2.2. Cutaneous exposure No data
- 9.1.2.3. Ingestion exposure No data
- 9.1.2.4. Exposure by other routes

Dubertret *et al.* (2002) revealed the transfer of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots (coated with PEG-PE and PC and conjugated to an oligonucleotide) to daughter cells during cell division in Xenopus frog embryos. The authors observed quantum dots in the daughter cells after several days of development (up to the tadpole stage). Quantum dots were present in the cytoplasm and in the nuclear envelope of the embryonic cells.

In an intravenous study of mice, Akerman *et al.* (2002) report that the nature of the CdSe / ZnS quantum dot coating could alter the distribution of these nanomaterials in the tissues and organs. It was found that PEG coating reduced capture by the liver and spleen by about 95% and prolonged the half-life of the quantum dots in the bloodstream. Other types of peptide coatings increased distribution in the lungs or in breast tumours induced during the experiment. The authors note the absence of quantum dots in the skin covering the tumour site, in the brain and in the kidneys of the animal subjects.

A study by Kim *et al.* (2004) cited by Oberdörster *et al.* (2005b) confirmed that quantum dots administered by intradermal injection were found in the lymphatic ganglia after penetrating the dermis. The study was performed on mice and pigs. The macrophages and the Langerhans cells of the skin are possibly responsible for transport to the lymphatic ganglia (Oberdörster *et al.*, 2005b).

In a study by Hoshino *et al.* (2004a) cited by Hardman (2006), EL-4 cells containing CdSe/ZnS-SSA quantum dots were observed in the kidneys, liver, lungs and spleen of mice up to seven days after their administration by injection. The spleen and the lungs showed a greater accumulation.

In another study cited by Hardman (2006), Ballou *et al.* (2004) observed a differential deposition in the tissues and organs of mice exposed to quantum dots with coatings of different molecular weights. Deposition depended on time and quantum dot size. The quantum dots with the highest molecular weight (5000) remained in the bloodstream for at least 3 h, while the quantum dots with the lowest molecular weight (750) were eliminated from the blood in less than one hour and were found in the lymphatic ganglia, the liver and the bone marrow 24 hours after injection. The quantum dots with the lowest molecular weight were still present in the bone marrow lymphatic ganglia 133 days after injection.

9.1.2.5. In vitro

Parak *et al.* (2002) cited by Hardman (2006) observed endocytosis and storage and vesicular transport of silicon dioxide-coated CdSe/ZnS quantum dots in the perinuclear region of human mammary tumour cells.

Dubertret *et al.* (2002) also revealed endocytosis and active transport of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots coated with *n*-poly(ethylene glycol) phosphatidylethanolamine (PEG-PE) and phosphatidylcholine (PC) after their injection in Xenopus frog embryos.

A study by Kloepfer *et al.* (2003) cited by Hardman (2006) revealed an increase in fluorescence (attributed to intracellular oxidation of the quantum dots) and intracellular Se concentration in *Staphylococcus aureus* cultures after two weeks of exposure to quantum dots conjugated to transferrine. The authors observed cellular internalization of free Cd and Se, but internalization of quantum dots.

Jaiswal *et al.* (2003), cited by Hardman (2006), observed incorporation by endocytosis of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots conjugated to avidine and DHLA by the *Dictyostelium discoideum* (AXS) amoeba and HeLa cells.

Incorporation of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots conjugated to methacrylic acid (MAA) in rat hepatocytes was observed by Derfus *et al.* (2004).

Hoshino *et al.* (2004a) cited by Hardman (2006) observed adhesion to the surface of EL-4 cells by CdSe/ZnS quantum dots conjugated to sheep serum. The authors then observed incorporation of quantum dots by endocytosis and a time-dependent increase in cytosolic concentration.

In a study cited by Hardman (2006), Chen and Gerion (2004) observed CdSe/ZnS quantum dots conjugated to a nuclear localization signal peptide of the SV40 virus in the nuclear compartment of HeLa cells.

In a study by Lidke *et al.* (2004) cited by Hardman (2006), quantum dots conjugated to epidermal growth factor (CdSe/ZnS-EGF) were internalized rapidly in the endosomes of Chinese hamster ovarian cells. Quantum dots thus can be internalized through membrane receptors when the quantum dots carry specific molecules for a type of receptor (for example, erbB1 for CdSe/ZnS-EGF quantum dots) or surface proteins (Hardman, 2006).

Lovric *et al.* (2005) exposed rat pheochromocytoma cells (PC12) and mouse microglia cells (line N9) to CdTe quantum dots (coated with mercaptopropionic acid or cysteamine). Red cationic quantum dots (5.2 nm; 3.75 and 37.5 μ g/mL) were distributed in the cytoplasm of the PC12 cells but were not detected in the nucleus. The same phenomenon was observed in the N9 cells after one hour of exposure. However, green cationic quantum dots (2.2 nm) were found mainly in the nucleus (after 1 h). Green quantum dots conjugated to bovine serum albumin were observed mainly in the cytoplasm. The authors conclude that quantum dot distribution in the cell is influenced in part by their size.

9.1.3. Metabolism

In a study by Hoshino *et al.* (2004a) cited by Hardman (2006), about 10% of the EL-4 cells incubated with CdSe/ZnS-SSA quantum dots still contained quantum dots after 10 days of culture. The fluorescent intensity was concentrated in the endocytotic vesicles, which suggests intracellular degradation of the quantum dots (Hardman, 2006). Hoshino *et al.* (2004a) also observed a decrease in fluorescence, possibly caused by a low pH, oxidation of the quantum dot surface structures or the presence of intracellular factors adsorbed to the quantum dot surfaces.

In a study cited by Hardman (2006), Hoshino *et al.* (2004b) observed that the surface coating of quantum dots could detach under acidic or oxidizing conditions in the endocytotic vesicles and be released into the cell cytoplasm.

The results of a study by Gao *et al.* (2004) cited by Hardman (2006) suggest that quantum dot ligands and surface coatings are slowly degraded *in vivo*, leading to an alteration of their surface and a decrease in fluorescence. However, Gao *et al.* (2004) observed that quantum dots coated with a high molecular weight polymer and having an 8-carbon alkyl side chain showed greater stability *in vivo* than quantum dots coated with a single polymer or amphiphilic lipids. In another study cited by Hardman (2006), Aldana *et al.* (2001) observed that the photochemical stability of CdSe nanocrystals was linked to the thickness and density of the ligand monolayer.

9.1.4. Excretion

Akerman *et al.* (2002) observed that the PEG coating of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots was almost entirely suppressed by the lymphatic system's non-specific elimination of quantum dots.

In general, quantum dots are eliminated by the primary excretion organs and systems, such as the liver, the spleen and the lymphatic system (Hardman, 2006).

PEG-coated CdSe/ZnS quantum dots administered to mice by subcutaneous injection were eliminated from the injection site and accumulated in the lymphatic ganglia (Hardman, 2006).

9.2. Effects according to routes of exposure (administration)

9.2.1. Inhalation and airway exposure

According to Hardman (2006), inhalation exposure can pose potential risks, given that studies have shown that quantum dots were incorporated by endocytosis into different types of cells and that they can reside there for weeks, and even months. It is not known whether quantum dots form aggregates in the ambient air (Hardman, 2006).

9.2.2. Cutaneous exposure

The risks related to cutaneous absorption of quantum dots are not currently known, according to the literature review performed by Hardman (2006).

9.2.3. Ingestion exposure

The risks related to accidental ingestion of quantum dots are not currently known, according to the literature review performed by Hardman (2006).

9.2.4. Exposure by other routes

In a study by Larson *et al.* (2003) cited by Hardman (2006), mice given 20 nM and 1 μ M solutions of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots by intravenous injection showed no sign of disease.

A study by Ballou *et al.* (2004) cited by Hardman (2006) showed that mice given amphiphilic polymer-coated quantum dots of polyacrylic acid (amp-QDs) and amp-QDs conjugated to PEG-amine groups (intravenous injection of 20 pmol/g

by body weight) exhibited no sign of necrosis at the particle deposition site. The mice were viable for 133 days.

- 9.2.4.1. Effects on the organs
 - 9.2.4.1.1. Effects on the skin and the mucous membranes No data
 - 9.2.4.1.2. Effects on the respiratory system No data

9.2.4.1.3. Liver effects

The release of cadmium after surface alteration of quantum dots by photoactivation and oxidation triggered hepatic cytotoxicity *in vitro* (US EPA, 2005).

- 9.2.4.1.4. Kidney effects No data
- 9.2.4.1.5. Effects on the gastrointestinal system No data
- 9.2.4.1.6. Effects on the heart and blood circulation No data
- 9.2.4.1.7. Effects on the blood and the hematopoietic system No data
- 9.2.4.1.8. Effects on the nervous system No data
- 9.2.4.2. Immunological and allergic effects No data
- 9.2.4.3. Effects on reproduction and the reproductive system No data
- 9.2.4.4. Development effects

In their study of Xenopus frog embryos exposed to CdSe/ZnS quantum dots coated with PEG-PE and PC, Dubertret *et al.* (2002) conclude the absence of significant toxicity for embryo development (at a concentration lower than 5×10^9 quantum dots per cell).

9.2.4.5. Genotoxic effects

In a study by Hoshino *et al.* (2004b) cited by Hardman (2006), reversible DNA damage was observed in human lymphoblast cells (WTK1) after 2 h of exposure to quantum dots conjugated to carboxylic acid at a concentration of 2 μ M.

In the same study cited by Hardman (2006), Hoshino *et al.* (2004b) assessed the cytotoxicity of three quantum dot surface coatings (MUA, cysteamine and thioglycerol) and two impurities (tri-*n*-octylphosphine oxide (TOPO) and ZnS) in human lymphoblast cells (WTK1). Exposure to MUA caused cytotoxicity (12 h; $> 100 \ \mu\text{g/mL}$) and DNA damage (2 h; 50 $\mu\text{g/mL}$). Low genotoxicity was

observed after 12 h of exposure to cysteamine. Thioglycerol toxicity was negligible. According to Hardman (2006), the results of Hoshino *et al.* (2004b) suggest that genotoxicity was caused by the hydrophilic surface coatings and not by the core of the quantum dots. Moreover, Chen and Gerion (2004), cited by Hardman (2006), attributed the absence of quantum dot genotoxicity to a silica coating, which prevented interaction of Cd, Se, Zn and sulphur with the proteins and DNA in the nucleus.

9.2.4.6. Carcinogenic effects

No data.

9.2.4.7. Cellular and humoural effects

In a study by Jaiswal *et al.* (2003) cited by Hardman (2006), CdSe/ZnS quantum dots coated with DHLA (400-600 nM) had no effect on the growth and development of HeLa cells and the *Dictyostelium discoideum* amoeba. The cells remained marked by the quantum dots for more than one week.

In an *in vitro* study, Derfus *et al.* (2004) assessed the cytotoxicity of CdSe quantum dots. The viability of hepatocytes incubated in a solution containing the quantum dots decreased according to the concentration (0.0625 < 0.25 < 1 mg/mL) and diminished further if the quantum dots had been subjected to ultraviolet (UV) radiation for periods of 1, 2 and 4 hours. The quantum dots that had been exposed to UV for 8 hours reduced the cell viability significantly and comparably for the three concentrations (6% viable cells). Exposure of the quantum dots to air 30 minutes before coating with MAA also reduced cell viability, which fell from 98% to 21% at a concentration of 0.0625 mg/mL (Hardman, 2006). The authors conclude that there is significant cytotoxicity of CdSe quantum dots, secondary to oxidation of their surface and the release of Cd²⁺ ions, recognized as carcinogenic in humans. Encapsulation of quantum dots with ZnS tended to reduce this effect (66% cell viability), but fell to almost zero if the quantum dots were encapsulated with 98% bovine serum albumin.

Shiohara *et al.* (2004) studied the *in vitro* cytotoxicity of CdSe / ZnS quantum dots coated with mercaptoundecanoic acid and sheep serum albumin. They produced three forms of quantum dots, which differed according to their photoluminescence. Primate kidney cells, human hepatocytes and cervical cancer cells were exposed to 0, 0.05, 0.1 and 0.2 mg/mL for 24 hours. The authors observed a decrease in the viability of the 3 cell lines at concentrations of 0.1 and 0.2 mg/mL, which increased with the concentration.

A study by Hoshino *et al.* (2004a) cited by Hardman (2006) revealed the toxicity of the materials used to coat quantum dots. The authors observed cytotoxicity after exposure of mouse T lymphoma cells (EL-4) to mercaptoundecanoic acid (MUA) (12 h; 100 μ g/mL). However, Hardman (2006) points out that it is unlikely that the effects observed in the study by Lovric *et al.* (2005) are attributable only to mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) and to the cysteamine coating the quantum dots.

In the same study by Hoshino *et al.* (2004a) cited by Hardman (2006), the viability of EL-4 cells incubated with CdSe/ZnS-SSA quantum dots diminished dose-dependently at a concentration greater than 0.1 mg/mL, and most of the cells incubated at a concentration of 0.4 mg/mL were not viable beyond 6 h. Moreover, no toxicity was observed after administration to nude mice by

intravenous injection of EL-4 incubated in 0.1 mg/mL with quantum dots conjugated to sheep serum albumin (Hardman, 2006).

A study by Voura *et al.* (2004) cited by Hardman (2006) showed no difference between the growth of melanoma cells (B16F10) exposed to CdSe/ZnS quantum dots coated with dihydroxylipoic acid (DHLA) at a concentration of 5 μ L/mL and the growth of unexposed cells.

No cytotoxicity was observed in a study by Chen and Gerion (2004) cited by Hardman (2006) of cells HeLa transfected by CdSe/ZnS quantum dots conjugated to a nuclear localization signal peptide of the SV40 virus. Quantum dots had a minimal impact on cell survival at a concentration of about 100 nM (100 pmol/ 10^6 cells).

Kirchner *et al.* (2005) exposed the cytotoxicity of CdSe nanocrystal solutions and of CdSe / ZnS for tumour cells and human fibroblasts. This effect was greater if the nanocrystal coating was made of mercaptopropionic acid, an unstable coating, while more stable coatings (PEG-silica) reduced toxicity in the concentrations used. Phosphosilicate coatings increased the effect, producing Cd⁺² ions within the cell. It must be noted that polymer-coated inert gold nanoparticles also had a cytotoxic effect comparable to that of CdSe / ZnS nanoparticles. The authors conclude that the toxic effect can be linked to the direct effect of precipitated particles on the cells and not only to production of Cd⁺² ions.

Green and Howman (2005) conducted an *in vitro* experiment in which they incubated coiled double-stranded DNA in a cadmium selenide solution encapsulated in zinc sulphite functionalized with surface biotin. Ultraviolet (UV) radiation was also used. The results of this study show that the quantum dots altered the DNA by producing SO_2 free radicals, resulting from ZnS oxidation. The proportion of DNA alterations varied according to the presence (56%) or absence (29%) of UV. According to the authors, these results suggest that the mechanism by which quantum dots damage DNA is not only a free radical generation process linked mainly to light. The authors also observed DNA damage at time 0, which signifies that quantum dots have an immediate effect on DNA. DNA incubated alone in darkness or under UV light showed no damage.

Lovric et al. (2005) exposed rat pheochromocytoma cells (PC12) to red cationic CdTe quantum dots (5.2 nm; 37.5 μ g/mL). After one hour of exposure, the authors observed a modification of the shape of the cells, chromatin condensation and formation of vesicles on the nuclear membrane (cellular toxicity indicators). After 24 h of exposure, 50% of the cells had a nuclear morphology indicating chromatin condensation. Lovric et al. (2005) also observed a decrease in cellular metabolic activity after 24 h of exposure to quantum dots (10-100 µg/mL). Green quantum dots (2.2 and 2.3 nm) were significantly more toxic than red quantum dots (5.2 and 5.7 nm) at the strongest concentration tested on the PC12 cells (100 µg/mL). The authors conclude that cytotoxicity of CdTe quantum dots is linked in part to particle size. Red and green quantum dots also triggered a decrease in metabolic activity in mouse microglia (line N9) after 24 h of exposure. The presence of serum in the medium protected the PC12 and N9 cells from the effects of both types of quantum dots. No decrease in PC12 cellular metabolic activity was observed after addition of N-acetyl cystein (NAC, a cadmium toxicity inhibitor) in the medium 2 h before exposure to red cationic quantum dots. Bovine serum albumin, whether conjugated or not to anionic quantum dots (green 2.3 nm and red 5.7 nm) protected the PC12 cells against cytotoxicity. The protection provided by NAC and bovine serum albumin suggests that toxicity is partially attributable to the presence of Cd^{2+} . However, Trolox (vitamin E analog) had no protective effect at the same concentrations, which suggests that the quantum dot toxicity mechanism is not only linked to free radical formation (Lovric *et al.*, 2005).

CdTe quantum dots tend to form aggregates in the biological fluids and can possibly form complexes with cellular proteins (Lovric *et al.*, 2005).

A study by Hanaki *et al.* (2003) cited by Hardman (2006) showed no effect of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots coated with MUA and conjugated to SSA on the viability of Vero cells exposed to a concentration of 0.24 mg/mL (2 h of exposure followed by lavage of the cells and a new incubation). Quantum dots were observed in the endosomes and lysosomes near the perinuclear region of the cells 5 days after exposure. However, the authors point out that they do not know whether quantum dots affect cell viability when they are found distributed in the cytosol of the cells (Hardman, 2006).

 Table 6 summarizes the documented health effects of quantum dots.

Table 6. Documented health effects of quantum do	ts
--	----

		Quanti	ım dots	2
Effect	Route			
	Inhala- tion ³	Cuta- neous	Oral	Other
Toxicokinetics				
Irritation				
Systemic ⁴				
Acute				
Intermediate				
Chronic				
Neurological				
Immunological				
Development				
Reproductive				
Genotoxic				
Cancer				

¹ Existing human (\blacksquare) or animal (\blacktriangle) studies. Adopted from the ATSDR.

² Quantum dots tested: CdSe/ZnS, CdTe, polyacrylic acid.

³ Including intratracheal instillation.

⁴ Systemic effects: acute (\leq 14 days), intermediate (15 to 364 days) and chronic (\geq 365 days).

10. HEALTH EFFECTS OF OTHER NANOMATERIALS

The diversity of the nanoparticles that can be synthesized is almost infinite. We have covered the substances to which most workers may potentially be exposed. However, with the rapid increase of new publications and new journals specializing in nanotoxicology, an exhaustive review of the risks and benefits related to these substances goes far beyond the objectives of this study. Some recent reviews covering these aspects are available (Zhao and Nalwa, 2007; Medina *et al.*, 2007).

11. DISCUSSION

Several studies were performed with different animal species and humans to determine whether nano-scaled particles, ultrafine dusts, have harmful health effects. In most of the existing studies, the documented ultrafine dusts are undesirable secondary reaction products, such as welding fumes, diesel emissions, etc. However, nanoparticles essentially are new engineered particles. Their production relies on their unique properties, based on their small size, their large specific surface and the quantal effects, which allow consideration of new industrial and commercial perspectives. The introduction summarizes the current knowledge of toxicity of ultrafine particles. It clearly emerges that ultrafine particles, which have granulometric properties similar to engineered nanoparticles, show toxic effects of various natures in many organs, even if they are absorbed almost exclusively by the pulmonary route. These effects have been measured in animals and shown by different clinical and epidemiological studies in humans.

This literature review, the first edition of which had been published in 2006 (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2006a), focuses on the different nanoparticles synthesized intentionally for large-scale commercial use. They mainly include single-walled and multi-walled carbon nanotubes, organic and inorganic nanoparticles, quantum dots and dendrimers.

Soluble nanoparticles dissolve and their toxic effects are linked to their different components, regardless of the particle's initial size. These effects are well known depending on the chemical composition and are not described in this review. However, the situation is totally different for insoluble or very low-solubility nanoparticles (Oberdörster, 2005a, 2005b). The data currently available on the toxicity of insoluble nanoparticles is very limited and does not always allow a quantitative risk assessment (Kuempel, 2006) or extrapolation to humans for any of the engineered nanoparticles, except possibly for TiO_2 (NIOSH, 2005). In reading this report, it is easy to note the large number of situations for which there is absolutely no information currently available. Moreover, the information is presented by product class, and these classes include many products, each of which can display unique properties. For example, in the case of fullerenes, these nanoparticles may contain from 28 to over 100 carbon atoms. Information is available almost exclusively on the form containing 60 carbon atoms and with a purity, which, most of the time, is undocumented.

Nonetheless, the data currently available on some products reveal various information that, while preliminary, already allows us to conclude that engineered nanoparticles must be handled with care and that workers' exposure must be minimized, since these effects are extremely variable from one product to another. Accordlingly, the IRSST will publish, in 2008, a guide of safe practices suggesting different approaches to work safely with nanoparticles in occupational settings.

Absorption of manufactured nanoparticles

The first feature of nanoparticles is their pulmonary deposition mode, whereby the particles, even though they are very small, will be deposited throughout the pulmonary system and not only in the alveolar region. Oberdörster (2005a, 2005b) clearly shows that mucociliary clearance and phagocytosis are well-documented pulmonary clearance mechanisms for ultrafine or micrometric particles. Because of their extremely small size, nanometric particles can enter the extrapulmonary organs. This involves migration of solid particles, translocation, through the pulmonary epithelial layers to the blood and lymphatic systems and through the olfactory nerve

endings, along the neuronal axons to the central nervous system. Nemmar *et al.* (2002a) present three major hypotheses concerning translocation of ultrafine particles to the blood-air barrier in the alveoli. Transport is accomplished via active processes, such as phagocytosis and endocytosis of the alveolar macrophages and the endothelial cells respectively: passive transport by diffusion; passive or active transport through pores in the cytoplasm of endothelial cells or interstices between the alveolar epithelial cells.

Another potential important route of exposure for workers is cutaneous exposure. In fact, cutaneous absorption could be an even more important route of exposure than inhalation for workers handling nanomaterials prepared and used in colloidal form (Colvin, 2003). Liposoluble nanoparticles could possibly travel in the intercellular space of the corneal layer and pass through the cells, the hair follicles or the sweat glands (Monteiro-Riviere and Inman, 2006). The unvascularized zone of the skin could also serve as a reservoir for nanoparticles, from which they could not be eliminated by macrophages (Monteiro-Riviere and Inman, 2006). Nanoparticles absorbed by the skin can end up in the circulatory system after passing through all the skin layers (Monteiro-Riviere and Inman, 2006). Absorption can be facilitated if the corneal layer of the skin is damaged. In addition, the conditions of exposure in the work environment (the humidity rate, for example) can influence cutaneous absorptions. In the case of nanoparticles weakly absorbed by the skin, an allergy and/or contact dermatitis could be observed (Monteiro-Riviere and Inman, 2006). Warheit *et al.* (2007c) conclude that, in the vast majority of situations, potential pulmonary absorption in the work environment would be at least one order of magnitude greater than cutaneous absorption.

Good personal hygiene practices in the work environment should greatly limit ingestion of nanoparticles. Nonetheless, nanoparticles can be found in the gastrointestinal tract after elimination in the digestive system of nanoparticles coming from the respiratory system via the mucociliary escalator. Also, nanoparticles are now used as additives in the food industry, medications and certain associated products (Zhao *et al.*, 2007b). When nanoparticles will be in widespread use in different industrial, agricultural or other products, a certain quantity will end up in the environment, among other places, due to industrial releases, wastewater or disposal of nanomaterials or products containing nanoparticles. In the environment, they may be absorbed by different bioorganisms and eventually enter the food chain.

The scientific studies examined to produce this literature review suggest a very different intestinal behaviour for nanometric particles compared to microparticles. Some experiments with rats or mice showed specific effects unique to nanoparticles following ingestion: severe symptoms of lethargy, anorexia, vomiting, diarrhea, and substantial loss of body weight and death of certain animals by intestinal obstruction (Wang *et al.*, 2006). Translocation from the intestine to the blood and lymph is possible for certain nanoparticles and depend on size, surface charge, hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity, biological coating and bonds to different ligands, chemical coating with surfactants, etc. (Zhao *et al.*, 2007a). For example, translocation would be greater for hydrophobic particles and for small particles.

Thus, insoluble nanoparticles can be found in the blood after passing through the respiratory, cutaneous or gastrointestinal protective mechanisms and distributing to the different organs throughout the body, including the brain, and being stored in the cells. Oberdorster *et al.* (2007), clearly show the scientific consensus regarding the propensity of nanoparticles to pass through the cell barriers. Once they have penetrated the cells, nanoparticles interact with the subcellular structures, leading to induction of oxidative stress as the principal nanoparticle action mechanism. These properties are currently very studied in pharmacology because they could allow use of nanoparticles as vectors to route drugs to targeted sites in the body. In the United States, the Food

and Drug Administration (FDA) has already approved the therapeutic use of certain NP (<u>http://www.fda.gov/nanotechnology</u>). On the downside, workers in some companies will be exposed by inhalation or by cutaneous contact and nanoparticles could be distributed throughout the body after absorption. Some of these nanoparticles have shown major toxic effects in studies of laboratory animals.

Principal parameters influencing nanoparticle toxicity

The toxicity of microscopic particles is normally well correlated to the mass of the toxic substance. The first nanoparticle studies clearly showed that toxicity, for a specific substance, varied substantially by size for the same nanoparticle mass and that toxicity was correlated to the surface of these particles rather than their mass (Oberdörster 2005b; Monteiller et al., 2007). Moss (2006) shows that the number of particles is just as important as their surface when assessing toxicity. Indeed, the functional changes in the macrophages indicated by the reduction in their ability to eliminate nanoparticles has already been shown to be well correlated to the surface of these particles. Moss (2006) maintains that these effects are not only related to the NP surface but to the number of particles because the NP deposited on the macrophages mask their surface. The author concludes that the number and the surface must be considered and help predict the potential obstruction of molecular mechanisms. It is considered that the macrophages are overloaded when the volume occupied by foreign bodies exceeds 6%. Moss (2006) studied the percentage coverage of macrophages by nanoparticles. He concludes that the cellular responses potentially linked to the NP surface may be due not only to the effects of surface chemistry but to obstruction of the cellular processes by the presence of particles or a combination of the two. If the quantity of particles present allows the cell to be covered more than twice, this means an overload and biologically significant physical obstruction. These two parameters (specific surface and number of particles) can be extraordinarily high for nanoparticles and thus directly influence their toxicity. Moreover, a large proportion of nanoparticle atoms are found on their surface, conferring great reactivity (Borm et al., 2006a; Fiorito et al., 2006a, 2006b; Powell and Kanarck, 2006). However, it must not be forgotten that most studies concern rats, a species particularly sensitive to the development of pulmonary reactions to low-solubility particles (Warheit 2006).

Nanoparticle toxicity can also be modified by surface properties, such as charge and reactivity (Hoet *et al.*, 2004a; US EPA, 2005; Haasch *et al.*, 2005). The charge of particles influences absorption and distribution of nanoparticles in the body, in particular (US EPA, 2005). For example, the study by Lockman *et al.* (2004) revealed greater permeability of the hematoencephalic barrier to anionic nanoparticles. Thus, the greater photocatalytic activity of Nano TiO₂ anatase is not the result of greater surface area, but instead depends on surface characteristics. Sayes *et al.* (2006b) hypothesize that the ability of Nano TiO₂ to produce free radicals is the critical parameter governing photoreactivity, toxicity and cellular inflammation. Individual susceptibility, interaction of particles with biological components and evolution of particles once they have entered the body are other factors that must be considered (AFSSET, 2006). Dobrovolskaia and McNeil (2007) clearly show that any surface modification can affect toxicity and that the compatibility of a nanoparticle with the immune system is largely dependent on surface chemistry.

Wallace *et al.* (2007) highlight the fact that NP entering the lungs will interact with the pulmonary fluids, particularly by adsorbing the surfactants present in the lungs to the particle surfaces. This conditions the particle surfaces and affects their expression of genotoxicity or cytotoxicity *in vitro*. These effects can be specific to NP surface composition.

Warheit and his team (2005, 2006) performed two pulmonary inflammation studies in rats with fine and nanometric quartz particles. A first study (2005) showed that nanometric particles (50 nm) produced a less intense and sustained pulmonary inflammatory response than micrometric particles (1600 nm). The second study led to the opposite conclusion. The authors conclude that many factors can influence the toxicity of these particles: number of particles, size, area and concentration, surface dose, surface coverage of the particles, degree of agglomeration of the particles and pulmonary deposition site, "age" of the particles, surface charge of the particles, their form, potential electrostatic attraction and capacity for agglomeration, method of synthesis of the particles and post-synthesis modifications. The nanotube studies also showed that the presence of metals could foster free radical formation and favour pulmonary inflammation. Moreover, several studies led to rat mortality, due to overloading and mechanical blockage of the lungs and not to specific toxicity of the tested product. Other researchers, including Borm et al. (2006b) point out that chemical composition and delivery of surface components, colloidal and surface properties of NP, compartmentation in the lung passages and biopersistence are other factors contributing another dimension of complexity to NP toxicity. The slow dissolution of certain NP or certain NP components in the body can become a major factor in their toxicity. Porosity and crystalline structure should also be considered (Oberdorster et al., 2005c). Warheit et al. (2007c) presented the conclusions of an expert workshop organized by ECETOX in 2005. They concluded that, for the time being, it is neither possible nor desirable to try to characterize exposure or toxicity based on a single parameter, such as specific surface, number of particles or any other parameter. However, Wittmaack (2007), exploiting the results already published in the literature regarding the inflammatory response of rat and mouse lungs subjected to different nanoparticles, concludes that several parameters give a linear dose-response ratio with the toxicity measured: number of particles, product of the number of particles by average size, and real specific surface. The specific surface estimated from the particle size did not provide a very good correlation, however.

Beyond all these parameters capable of influencing nanoparticle toxicity, Sayes *et al.* (2007a, 2007b) conclude that when the toxicity of different nanometric particles is considered, the comparison of results between the *in vivo* and *in vitro* tests often shows little correlation, particularly when different variables are considered. These authors conclude that the cellular systems *in vitro* will have to be developed better, standardized and validated in relation with the *in vivo* effects if they are to be useful as toxicity detection tools for different types of inhaled particles.

There now seems to be a consensus in the scientific community that the next nanoparticle toxicity studies will have to be based on extremely well characterized products (Hurt *et al.*, 2006; Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2006). For example, CNT contain a mixture of CNT, non-fibrous carbon products and metals, with different lengths and degrees of agglomeration, etc. The purification and suspension mode to perform toxicological studies can also lead to major modifications of the surface properties of these products, and their interaction with fluid and biological tissues.

The metals used during the synthesis of carbon nanotubes could thus contribute to the toxicity of these products in a variable way, depending on their degree of solubility and biological availability.

Table 7 summarizes the parameters most commonly identified in the literature as contributing to the toxicity of NPs. Proper characterization of NPs would later lead to the availability, once the toxicity mechanisms have been identified, of all of the information required to interpret the results. The only parameter that is currently the subject of a consensus is that the mass does not

allow the dose of NPs to be correlated with the measured effects. The mass should be documented as well, because it is often the only parameter that is known or that has been reported in earlier studies.

Table 7: Main parameters for proper characterization of nanoparticles for toxicological studies

	Parameters
-	Mass, concentration
-	Chemical composition (purity and impurities)
-	Solubility
-	Specific area
-	Number of particles
	Particle size and distribution
•	Surface properties (charge/zeta potential, reactivity, chemical composition, functional groups, redox potential, potential to generate free radicals, presence of metals, surface covering, etc.)
-	Shape, porosity
-	Degree of agglomeration/aggregation
-	Biopersistence
-	Crystalline structure
-	Hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity
-	Site of pulmonary deposition
-	Age of particles
•	Producer, process and source of material used

Scope and limitations of the literature review

The number of publications on the toxicity of NPs is growing rapidly, and our literature review is interested only in the NPs synthesized for commercial use and for which the reviews remain fragmentary. This is why several natural and industrial pollutants, such as welding fumes, diesel motor emissions or even blast furnace fumes have not been considered, or have not been extensively documented, and why information on carbon black (IARC, 1996, 2006a; Frampton et al., 2004) or titanium dioxide (NIOSH, 2005; IARC, 2006b) has only been briefly presented, these products having already been the subject of detailed reviews.

In fact, the lack of current toxicological data is explained by the little information available, the complexity of NP-human body interactions, and the difficulty arriving at a definitive conclusion about the toxicity of a specific NP. The two main limiting factors seem to us to be related to the few studies on identical products by using methodologies and absorption pathways that are representative of occupational exposure, and to the often incomplete characterizations of NPs that do not ensure that identical NPs are being used. The upcoming availability of international reference products will at least allow identical products to be used in different laboratories and will therefore contribute to a better identification of the variables that affect toxicity.

With the high level of uncertainty relating to the toxicity of the majority of available NPs, as well as the almost complete lack of information on occupational exposure, it is difficult to evaluate quantitatively the specific risk of each NP. It is essential, in such a context, to take a preventive and even precautionary approach, and to consider NPs as being very toxic. In order to facilitate the development and implementation of means of controlling exposure in a context of risk-related uncertainty, we will publish a good practices guide in 2008 that promotes safe work with NPs (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2008b), as well as a review of different aspects that can be taken into consideration in evaluating risks and in selecting preventive measures (Ostiguy *et al.*, 2008a).

Fullerenes

Several fullerene toxicity studies have been produced. Although no carcinogenic effects were observed after cutaneous application in mice, several toxic effects were reported following ingestion and injection in rats. Intraperitoneal injection disrupted reproduction in mice (mortality, malformation, etc.). Nonetheless, the existing information concerning the health effects of fullerenes remains very limited, as shown in Table 1. Contradictory results were obtained in genotoxicity tests of non-mammalian cells. The same is true of the studies by Sayes *et al.* (2005, 2007a), which conclude much greater toxicity of C_{60} than of C_{60} (OH)₂₄ in pulmonary epithelial cells *in vitro* but find an absence of toxicity of these two products *in vivo*. Workers' main potential exposure is pulmonary, yet Table 1 clearly reveals the total absence of information on inhalation absorption, and the total absence of human data. The cytotoxicity induced by C_{60} fullerenes is said to be mainly due to molecular surface modification by irradiation, derivation or functionalization (Fiorito *et al.*, 2006a, 2006b). It seems probable that only modified fullerenes would be cytotoxic (Andrievsky *et al.*, 2005; Fiorito *et al.*, 2006a, 2006b).

Carbon nanotubes (CNT)

Carbon nanotubes can be single-walled (SWCNT) or multi-walled (MWCNT). Their purity can vary widely.

Huczko and Lange (2001a) did not observe any cutaneous irritation in humans and rabbits, or any in rabbit eyes. However, Shvedova *et al.* (2003) note the possibility of cancer and dermatological disorders associated with excess iron (alteration of pigmentation, inflammation, porphyria, etc.), among other consequences.

The exploratory study by Huczko *et al.* (2001b) could not show impairment of pulmonary function or any anomaly in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in Guinea pigs exposed to SWCNT. Shvedova *et al.* (2003b) conclude that exposure to unrefined SWCNT can lead to increased pulmonary toxicity in workers due to oxidative stress, which in turn is related to the iron associated with SWCNT. Two studies showed that the types of SWCNT tested were capable of causing granulomas in rats and mice after acute exposure (Warheit *et al.*, 2004; Lam *et al.*, 2004a).

In the Quebec context, two hypotheses have been raised concerning the health risks of CNT exposure. At present they are exclusively speculative and will need to be proved:

- 1) formation of pulmonary granulomas and similarity with the effects of certain agents, particularly beryllium;
- 2) cancer due to the similarity with asbestos.

Formation of pulmonary granulomas was shown in rats and mice after a single exposure by intratracheal instillation. Their formation was observed upon exposure to several agents of occupational origin, particularly metals, and in certain diseases (tuberculosis, sarcoidosis, etc.). In the Quebec context, beryllium is receiving special attention among metals because of the recent significance of berylliosis in Quebec. Berylliosis is a disease that appears in the form of systemic

granulomatosis, with predominant pulmonary impairment, although several other organs can also be affected. Berylliosis can be attributed to an immunoallergic mechanism (Service du répertoire toxicologique, 2005). However, currently there is not enough evidence of the role of carbon nanotubes in the inflammation and the immunological component involved in berylliosis to allow adequate extrapolation from one to the other. The hypothesis has yet to be confirmed.

According to several authors (The Royal Society, 2004; Hoet et al., 2004a, 2004b; Harris, 1999; Donaldson et al., 2006; Poland et al., 2008) some carbon nanotubes (CNT) are similar to asbestos fibres. Contrary to nanoparticles, the toxicity of carbon nanotubes increases with their agglomeration (Swiss Engineering, 2006). These agglomerates resemble asbestos fibres both in appearance and toxicity (Swiss Engineering, 2006). From the toxicological point of view, carbon nanotubes are fibres and their toxicity will be correlated to their persistence in the lungs (Lam et al., 2006). However, Muller et al. (2006) point out that inhalation exposure to carbon nanotubes in industrial environments is very low, given their propensity to form agglomerates with an aerodynamic diameter above the respirability threshold (> 5 μ m). However, from the study of Maynard *et al.*, (2004), one could conclude that in most situations, generation of free airborne carbon nanotubes is difficult and then, the level of exposure in occupational settings should be extremely low in most situations. This does not mean that the respiratory toxicity risk is negligible, particularly in cases where nanotubes undergo any transformation (Muller et al., 2006). In a recent study, Poland et al. (2008) showed that exposing the mesothelial lining of the body cavity of a mice to long MWCNT results in asbestos-like pathogenic behaviour, including inflammation and formation of granulomas. Several types of CNT contain iron, e.g., 26.9% in raw CNT and 2.14% in refined CNT (Lam et al., 2004). Iron is also found in amphibolic asbestos fibres, accounting for about 30% of their weight. According to Shvedova et al. (2003), several researchers observed that an excessive quantity of iron accelerated the growth of neoplasic cells and that, in humans and animals, primary neoplasms develop at sites with rich iron deposits. They also mention that high exposure to ferrous materials in the work environment has been associated with the increased risk of lung cancer in workers. Harris (1999) mentions that chrysotile and CNT have a different tubular structure. The hypothesis of cancer based on the similarity of structure with asbestos seems plausible but has yet to be confirmed. This comparison recalls the asbestos problem in Ouebec, with an increased incidence of pleural mesothelioma during the period from 1982 to 1996 (De Guire et al., 2003). In 2007, asbestos was still the substance causing the most death by occupational disease in Quebec (CSST, 2008).

In their review of the available data on toxicity of carbon nanostructures, Panessa-Warren et al. (2006) clearly show that the experimental protocols used sometimes have limited physiological meaning due to pulmonary overload or obstruction, as well as instillation-related stress in animals. Nonetheless, CNT seem to have greater pulmonary toxicity than carbon black or ultrafine quartz. It was also observed that non-biodegradable CNT pass rapidly through the alveolar walls to lodge in the living tissues (Hoet et al. 2004b; Oberdörster 2002). Table 2 summarizes the principal information regarding the toxic effects assessed for carbon nanotubes.

Inorganic nanoparticles

Cutaneous studies of TiO_2 in various sunscreen formulations did not show absorption beyond the dermis (in healthy skin) in human subjects. We did not find any other study of cutaneous exposure to nanoparticles that could be transposed to the work environment. However, in a study of crystalline silver nanoparticles in therapeutic application, Lam *et al.* (2004b) and Poon and Burd (2004) raise the possibility of cytotoxicity in lesioned skin or in growing human fibroblasts or keratinocytes.

Shimada *et al.* (2007), in a study of translocation of 14 nm carbon black particles by tracheal instillation, showed nanoparticle accumulation in the spaces between the alveolar epithelial cells with passage into the bloodstream, possibly resulting in cytoplasm shrinkage due to stimuli generated by nanoparticle mediated bonding with the alveolar epithelial cells, followed by occasional NP penetration of the alveolar membrane.

In a rat inhalation study intended to examine the role of the size of particles found in polluted air, Cassee *et al.* (2002) observed that the signs of pulmonary toxicity and pulmonary absorption of soluble CdCl₂ particles was greater for nanoparticles than for fine or coarse particles. The comparative study of other fine and ultrafine particles also seems to indicate that the effects of the same substance on the lungs, such as inflammation, fibrosis and cancer, are greater as the particulate dimensions decrease. Some authors postulate that nanoparticles could escape surveillance of alveolar macrophages and migrate to the interstitial compartment, the most vulnerable zone of the respiratory system (Oberdörster *et al.*, 1994; Warheit, 2004). Hohr *et al.* (2002) also had observed an increase in pulmonary inflammatory reaction in rats after inhalation of the nanoparticulate form of TiO₂ in comparison with the microparticulate form.

At the pulmonary level, rapid translocation of several types of nanoparticles to the bloodstream has been observed in several animal experiments (Kreyling *et al.*, 2002; Oberdörster *et al.*, 1994, 2002, 2005a, 2005b). This phenomenon can lead to redistribution of nanoparticles in organs such as the liver. Attempting to explain a link between air pollution and the incidence of cardiovascular diseases, Nemmar *et al.* (2002a) had observed rapid translocation to the bloodstream of 5 to 10 nm radioactive carbon particles inhaled by 5 human subjects. However, a recent study by Mills *et al.* (2006) casts doubt on the conclusions of Nemmar *et al.* (2002a). The authors studied translocation of 4 to 20 nm radioactive nanoparticles in 10 healthy volunteers after inhalation of the same gas used by Nemmar *et al.* (2002a), Technegas. Their results suggest that soluble Technetium-99 species are responsible for the increase in blood radioactivity. The authors conclude that the results reported by Nemmar *et al.* (2002a) evoke a high degree of contamination by Pertechnegas, a by-product of oxidation of Technegas.

In a recent study, Nemmar *et al.* (2005) did not observe translocation of modified polystyrene particles (24, 110 and 190 nm) from the alveolar space to the vascular compartment. However, the study was performed on the lungs of isolated and perfused rabbits and the relevance of these results for *in vivo* exposure has yet to be established (Nemmar *et al.*, 2005).

Alternative translocation mechanisms have also been revealed. Some inhaled nanoparticles have passed through the hematoencephalic barrier to be identified in the cerebral zones. This phenomenon could also be secondary to migration of nanoparticles along the axonal routes, from the olfactory bulbs. According to Gatti and Rivasi (2002), ingested particles smaller than 20 μ m (20,000 nm) can pass through the intestinal barrier and enter the bloodstream. Intestinal persorption has been revealed for colloidal gold nanoparticles (Hillyer and Albrecht, 2001).

One case study (Gatti, 2004) showed that certain nanoparticles and microparticles were found in the intestinal walls and seemed to be associated with inflammatory bowel diseases and intestinal cancer. Although it is recognized that the toxicity of nanoparticles is often linked to their small size, this factor does not always check out. Peters *et al.* (2004) show in their *in vitro* study that Ni, a recognized sensitizing agent, did not trigger a proinflammatory cellular reaction when administered in nanoparticulate form. Nanoparticulate TiO_2 induces such an effect, however, contrary to its microparticulate form. Several studies on the development of biopharmacological applications reveal a decrease in the general toxicity or cytotoxicity of colloidal gold (Hainfeld *et al.*, 2004; Paciotti *et al.*, 2004), selenium (Zhang *et al.*, 2005a) or arsenic trioxide (Zhou *et al.*, 2005) in nanoparticulate formulations, compared to non-nanoparticulate forms. Regarding cellular effects, some studies report the cytotoxicity of nanoparticles (Peters *et al.*, 2004; Germain *et al.*, 2003) or their passage through the different cellular membranes (Tkachenko *et al.*, 2004). Table 3 summarizes the documented health effects of some inorganic nanoparticles.

Organic nanoparticles

Generally, organic nanoparticles are materials in which an active biological substance is trapped, encapsulated or adsorbed to the surface (Zimmer, 1999). Their main interest is in their use for transport and optimal targeting of medications.

Tests have been performed with various types of nanoparticles: polymeric nanoparticles (Kante *et al.*, 1982; Couvreur *et al.*, 1982; Gibaud *et al.*, 1996; Sakuma *et al.*, 2002), colloidal nanoparticles and spherical lipid nanoparticles (Fukui *et al.*, 2003). The therapeutic results are promising, primarily for organic nanoparticles, but the data are insufficient concerning their toxicity in the work environment. Table 4 summarizes the documented health effects of some organic nanoparticles.

Nanocapsules, nanospheres, nanoshells, quantum dots and dendrimers

Nanocapsules, nanospheres and nanoshells are used primarily as pharmacological vectors in biopharmacology. Quantum dots are particularly used in medical imaging. Dendrimers can be used in production of nanotubes and nanocapsules and as diagnostic and therapeutic agents.

The published studies of these nanomaterials deal with the development of products with low toxicity or very specific properties (targeting an organ or tumour cells, bypassing the upper digestive tract, passing or not passing through the hematoencephalic barrier...). This subject goes beyond the scope of this document. There were few toxicity studies relevant to exposure of workers in the work environment.

The studies reveal that coating these nanomaterials can alter their charge, affinity for oil or water, or physiological stability. The results of the comparative studies of various forms of coatings vary widely and depend on the biomedical application developed.

The toxicity of certain quantum dots could be linked to the release of cytotoxic ions, oxidative mechanisms (Kirchner *et al.*, 2005) and other less well-elucidated phenomena (Shiohara *et al.*, 2004). According to Hardman (2006), several studies suggest that quantum dot cytotoxicity is caused by photolysis or oxidation. The study by Derfus *et al.* (2004) showed a greater reduction in the hepatocytic viability of rats exposed to quantum dots after subjection to UV radiation or air. In his review of quantum dot toxicity, Hardman (2006) points out that the exposure times were generally short (15 minutes to 8 h) in the studies in which no cytotoxicity was observed. Moreover, cadmium and selenium are both constituents the most often used in quantum dots and are recognized to cause acute and chronic toxicity in vertebrates (Hardman, 2006). Quantum dot toxicity is said to be linked to the stability of the surface coating (Hardman, 2006; Powell and Kanarck, 2006). According to Lovric *et al.* (2005), commercial quantum dots conjugated to proteins are larger than uncoated and unconjugated CdTe or CdSe quantum dots and are considered non-toxic at concentrations between 20 and 40 nmol. Table 5 summarizes the documented health effects of quantum dots.

12. CONCLUSION

This second edition of the literature review regarding the health risks of nanoparticles reveals the scope of current research in this field and observes that current knowledge of the toxic effects of nanoparticles is relatively limited. Nonetheless, the available data indicate that some insoluble NPs can pass through the different protective barriers, be distributed through the body and accumulate in certain organs and within cells. Toxic effects have already been documented at the pulmonary, cardiac, reproductive, renal, cutaneous and cellular levels. Significant accumulations have been shown in the lungs, brain, liver, spleen and bones.

While a first review concluded that toxicity was well correlated to the surface of the particles rather than to their mass, it now clearly appears that the situation is enormously more complex and that many other factors can influence the toxicity of these products. These factors include, in particular, size, number of particles, form and crystalline structure, tendency to aggregation, surface reactivity, chemical composition and solubility. Synthesis and surface coverage methods rank among other factors potentially affecting toxicity. Obviously, the risk assessment will also have to consider the route of exposure, its duration and its concentration, as well as individual susceptibility and interaction of particles with biological components and their biological destiny.

The development of new materials in this field is being pursued intensively and the health effects cannot all be studied (Won Kang and Hwang, 2004). Moreover, toxicological tests will have to consider that nanoparticles surfaces normally are altered to prevent aggregation. Currently, about 90% of TiO_2 nanoparticles go through a post-production treatment and are coated with mineral or organic substances (Borm, 2005). This treatment radically alters the toxicological properties of nanoparticles.

Although major trends can emerge and show many nanoparticles-related toxic effects, each product, and even each synthesized nanoparticles batch, may have its own toxicity. Any modification of the process or surface can have an impact on the resulting product's toxicity. The documented toxic effects on animals and the physicochemical characteristics of nanoparticles justify immediate application of all necessary measures, based on the preventive approach and the precautionary principle, to limit exposure and protect the health of potentially exposed individuals. In this context, the introduction of strict preventive procedures is still the only way to prevent any risk of occupational disease in researchers and students who develop these products and in workers who synthesize, transform or use nanoparticles.

Given the context, the authors will publish, in 2008, a guide on safe practices to work safely with nanoparticles in occupational settings. The authors also consider that the IRSST should favour the introduction of strict preventive procedures, which are still the only way to prevent occupational exposure. The authors strongly recommend that the IRSST concentrate its future research efforts on the development of exposure assessment strategies and tools and on the development and measurement of the effectiveness of methods for controlling occupational exposure to nanoparticles.

13. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Afsset, Agence française de sécuritaire sanitaire de l'environnement et du travail, 2006. Les nanomateriaux : Effets sur la santé de l'homme et sur l'environnement, july 2006, 248 pages.

Aitken RJ, Creely KS, Tran CL, 2004. Nanoparticles: an occupational hygiene review. Sudbury, Suffolk, G.-B. HSE, 100p. http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrpdf/rr274.pdf.

Akerman ME, Chan WC, Laakkonen P, Bhatia SN, Ruoslahti E, 2002. Nanocrystal targeting in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 99 (20) : 12617-21.

Alvarez-Román R, Naik A, Kalia YN, Guy RH, Fessi H, 2004. Skin penetration and distribution of polymeric nanoparticles. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 99 : 53-62.

Andrievsky G, Klochkov V, Derevyanchenko L, 2005. Is the C₆₀ Fullerene Molecule Toxic? *Fullerenes, Nanotubes, and Carbon Nanostructures*, 13 : 363-376.

Aprahamian M, Michel C, Humbert W, Devissaguet JP, Damge C, 1987. Transmucosal passage of polyalkylcyanoacrylate nanocapsules as a new drug carrier in the small intestine. *Biol Cell* 61 (1-2): 69-76.

Arnall AH, 2003. Future technologies, today's choices, nanotechnology, artificial intelligence and robotics a technical, political and institutional map of emerging technologies. London, G.-B. Greenpeace Environmental Trust, 69 p. http://www.greenpeace.org.uk/MultimediaFiles/Live/FullReport/5886.pdf.

Babynin EV, Nuretdinov IA, Gubskaia VP, Barabanschikov BI, 2002. Study of mutagenic activity of fullerene and some of its derivatives using His+ reversions of Salmonella typhimurium as an example. *Genetika*, Apr 38 (4) : 453-457. [Article in Russian]

Barlow PG, Clouter-Baker A, Donaldson K, MacCallum J, Stone V, 2005a. Carbon black nanoparticles induce type II epithelial cells to release chemotaxins for alveolar macrophages, *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 2 : 11. <u>http://www.particleandfibretoxicology.com/content/2/1/11</u>.

Barlow PG, Donaldson K, MacCallum J, Clouter A, Stone V, 2005b. Serum exposed to nanoparticle carbon black displays increased potential to induce macrophage migration. *Toxicol Lett* 155 (3) : 397-401.

Bateson TF, Schwartz J, 2001. Selection bias and confounding in case-crossover analyses of environmental time-series data. *Epidemiology* 12:654–661.

Bergeron S, Archambault É, 2005. Canadian Stewardship Practices for Environmental Nanotechnology, Science-Metrix, Montréal, Mars 2005, 65 p.

Bodegal M, Gleiche M, Guibert JC, Hoffschulz H, Locatelli S, Malsh I, Morrison M, Nicollet C, Wagner V, 2003. Nanotechnology and its implications for the health of the EU citizen. Mark Morrison, Éd., <u>http://www.Nanoforum.org</u>.

Borm PJA, 2003. Toxicology of ultrafine particles, *In* BIA-Report 7/2003e: BIA-Workshop "Ultrafine aerosols at workplace", 21 and 22 August 2002 at the BG Institute for Occupational Safety and Health – BIA, Sankt Augustin, Germany, p. 41-58.

http://www.hvbg.de/e/bia/pub/rep/rep04/pdf_datei/biar0703/topic_b.pdf

Borm PJA, Schins RPF, Albrecht CA, 2004. Inhaled particles and lung cancer. Part B: Paradigms and risk assessment. *Int J Cancer*, 110 (1) : 3-14. Review.

Borm PJA, 2005. Hazards and risks of nanomaterials: a look forward, 2005. Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Occupational Health Implications of Nanomaterials, 12-14 October 2004, Buxton, Great-Britain. Edited by the Health and Safety Executive, Great-Britain and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, United States, July 2005, p 65-71. http://www.hsl.gov.uk/capabilities/nanosymrep_final.pdf.

Borm PJA, Cakmak G, Jermann E, Weishaupt C, Kempers P, Van Schooten FJ, Oberdorster G, Schins RPF, 2005. Formation of PAH-DNA adducts after in vivo and vitro exposure of rats and lung cells to different commercial carbon blacks, *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 205 : 157-167.

Borm PJA, Robbins D, Haubold S, Kuhlbusch T, Fissan H, Donaldson K, Schins R, Stone V, Kreyling W, Lademann, J, Krutmann J, Warheit D, Oberdörster E, 2006a. The potential risks of nanomaterials: a review carried out for ECETOC. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 3 : 11.

Borm P, Klaessig FC, Landry TD, Moudgil B, Pauluhn J, Thomas K, Trottier R, Wood S, 2006b. Research strategies for safety evaluation of nanomaterials, part V: role of dissolution in biological fate and effects of nanoscale particles, *Toxicological Sciences* 90 (1): 23-32.

Bosi S, Feruglio L, Da Ros T, Spalluto G, Gregoretti B, Terdoslavich M, Decorti G, Passamonti S, Moro S, Prato M, 2004. Hemolytic Effects of Water-Soluble Fullerene Derivatives. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 47: 6711-6715.

Bosman SJ, Nieto SP, Patton WC, Jacobson JD, Coreselli JU, Chan PJ, 2005. Development of mammalian embryos exposed to mixed-size nanoparticles. *Clinical and Experimental Obstetrics and Gynecology* 32(4): 222-224.

Bottini M, Bruckner S, Nika K, Bottini N, Bellucci S, Magrini A, Bergamaschi A, Mustelin T, 2006. Multiwalled carbon nanotubes induce T lymphocyte apoptosis, *Toxicology Letters*, 160: 121-126.

Braydich-Stolle L, Hussain S, Schlager JJ, Hoffman M-C, 2005. *In Vitro* Cytotoxicity of Nanoparticles in Mammalian Germline Stem Cells. *Toxicological Sciences*, 88 (2) : 412-419.

Braydich-Stolle LK, Hussain S, Schlager JJ, Hoffman M-C, 2006. Effect of Silver Nanoparticles on SRC Activity in Male Germ-Line Stem Cells. Air Force Research Laboratory, Human Effectiveness Directorate, Wright-Patterson AFB, OH USA.

http://stinet.dtic.mil/oai/oai?&verb=getRecord&metadataPrefix=html&identifier=ADA444778.

Brenneman KA, Wong BA, Buccellato MA, Costa ER, Gross EA, Dorman DG, 2000. Direct olfactory transport of inhaled manganese (⁵⁴MnCl₂) to the rat brain: toxicokinetic investigations in a unilateral nasal occlusion model. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 169:238-248.

Brown DM, Stone V, Findlay P, MacNee W, Donaldson K, 2000. Increased inflammation and intracellular calcium caused by ultrafine carbon black is independent of transition metals or other soluble components. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 57 : 685-691.

Brown JS, Zeman KL, and Bennett WD, 2002. Ultrafine Particle Deposition and Clearance in the Healthy and Obstructed Lung. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 166 : 1240-1247.

Brunekreef B, Janssen NAH, de Hartog JJ, Oldenwening M, Meliefste K, Hoek G, Lanki T, Timonen KL, Vallius M, Pekkanen J, Van Grieken R, 2005. Personal indoor and outdoor exposures to PM_{2.5} and its components for groups of cardiovascular patients in Amsterdam and Helsinki. Health Effects Institute, Report 127, January, 79 p.

Bruske-Hohlfeld I, Peters A, Wichmann HE, 2005. Epidemiology of nanoparticles. Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Occupational Health Implications of Nanomaterials, 12-14 October 2004, Buxton, Great-Britain. Edited by the Health and Safety Executive, Great-Britain and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, United States, July 2005, p 53-58. http://www.hsl.gov.uk/capabilities/nanosymrep_final.pdf.

Bucher JR, 2006. Evaluating Human Health Risks from Nanomaterials. National Toxicology Program, September 7, 2006. Page d'accueil visionnée le 25/10/06. <u>http://www.toxicology.org/ai/gm/Bucher.pdf</u>.

Cahouet A, Denizot B, Hindre F, Passirani C, Heurtault B, Moreau M, Le Jeune J, Benoit J, 2002. Biodistribution of dual radiolabeled lipidic nanocapsules in the rat using scintigraphy and gamma counting. *Int J Pharm* 242 (1-2) : 367-71.

Cassee FR, Muijser H, Duistermaat E, Freijer JJ, Geerse KB, Marijnissen JC, Arts JH, 2002. Particle sizedependent total mass deposition in lungs determines inhalation toxicity of cadmium chloride aerosols in rats. Application of a multiple path dosimetry model. *Arch Toxicol* 76 (5-6) : 277-86.

Chen B, Wilson S, Das M, Coughlin D, Erlanger B, 1998a. Antigenicity of fullerenes: antibodies specific for fullerenes and their characteristics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95 : 10809-10813.

Chen HH, Yu C, Ueng TH, Chen S, Chen BJ, Huang KJ, Chiang LY, 1998b. Acute and subacute toxicity study of water-soluble polyalkylsulfonated C_{60} in rats. *Toxicol Pathol* 26 (1) : 143-51.

Chen Y-W, Hwang KC, Yen C-C, Lai Y-L, 2004. Fullerene derivatives protect against oxidative stress in RAW 264.7 cells and ischemia-reperfused lungs. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 287 : R21-R26.

Chen Z, Meng H, Xing G, Chen C, Zhao Y, Jia G, Wang T, Yuan H, Ye C, Zhao F, Chai Z, Zhu C, Fang X, Ma B, Wan L, 2006a. Acute toxicological effects of copper nanoparticules in vivo. *Toxicology Letters* 163 (2): 109-120.

Chen HW, Sheng-Fang Su, Chien CT, Lin WH, Yu SL, Chou CC, Chen JJW, Yang PC, 2006b. Titanium dioxide nanoparticles induce emphysema-like lung injury in mice. The FASEB Journal. 2006 (20) : 2393-2395.

Cherukuri P, Bachilo SM, Litovsky SH, Weisman RB, 2004. Near-infrared fluorescence microscopy of single-walled carbon nanotubes in phagocytic cells. *J Am Chem Soc* 126 : 15638-15639.

Christiansen K, 2004. Background paper on environmental and risk aspects of nanotechnology. Copenhagen: Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation. 30 p.

Colvin VL, 2003. The Potential Environmental Impact of Engineered Nanomaterials, *Nature Biotechnology*, 21(10): 1166-1170.

Commission Européenne, 2004. Direction générale santé et protection des consommateurs. Nanotechnologies, a preliminary risk analysis on the basis of a workshop organized in Brussels on 1-2 March 2004 by the Health and Consumer Protection Directorate General of the European Commission. Luxembourg : Office des publications officielles des Communautés Européennes, 2004, 143 p. http://europa.eu.int/comm/health/ph_risk/documents/ev_20040301_en.pdf

Couvreur T, Kante B, Grislain L, Roland, M, Speiser, P, 1982. Toxicity of polyalkyl-cyanoacrylate nanoparticles II: doxorubicin-loaded nanoparticles. *J Pharm Sci* 71 (7): 790-792.

Cross SE, Innes B, Roberts MS, Tsuzuki T, Robertson TA, McCormick P, 2007. Human skin penetration of sunscreen nanoparticles : in vitro assessment of a novel micronized zinc oxide formulation. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology* 20 (3) : 148-154.

CSST, 2008. Annual Activity report 2007. Commission de la santé et de la sécurité du travail du Québec, 79 p.

Cui D, Tian F, Ozkan CS, Wang M, Gao H, 2005. Effect of single wall carbon nanotubes on human HEK293 cells. *Toxicol Lett* 155 : 73-85.

Daigle CC, Chalupa DC, Gibb FR, Morrow PE, Oberdörster G, Utell MJ, 2003. Ultrafine particle deposition in humans during rest and exercise. *Inhal Toxicol* 15 : 539-552.

Dailey LA, Jekel N, Fink L, Gessler T, Schmehl T, Wittmar M, Kissel T, Seeger W, 2006. Investigation of the proinflammatory potential of biodegradable nanoparticles drug delivery systems in the lung. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 215 (1): 100-108.

De Guire L, Camus M, Case B, Langlois A, Laplante O, Lebel G, Lévesque B, Rioux M, Siemiatycki J, 2003. Épidémiologie des maladies reliées à l'exposition à l'amiante : Report of the Committee on epidemiology of asbestos exposure related diseases. INSPQ. INSPQ-2003-046. http://www.inspq.qc.ca/

De Lorenzo A, 1970. In Taste and Smell in Vertebrates Edited by G. Wolstenholme, JP Knight, CIBA Foundation Symposium Series, London, p 151.

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2006. Characterising the potential risks posed by engineered nanoparticles, UK Government research – a progress report, octobre, 95 p.

Derfus AM, Chan WCW, Bhatia SN, 2004. Probing the cytotoxicity of semiconductor quantum dots. *Nanoletters* 4 (1).

Dhawan A, Taurozzi JS, Pandey AK, Shan W, Miller SM, Hashsham SA, Tarabara VV, 2006. Stable colloidal dispersions of C_{60} Fullerenes in water: Evidence for Genotoxicity. *Env Sci & Technol* 40 (23) : 7394-7401.

Ding L, Stilwell J, Zhang T, Elboudwarej O, Jiang H, Selegue JP, Cooke PA, Gray JW, Chen FF, 2005. Molecular Characterization of the Cytotoxic Mechanism of Multiwall Carbon Nanotubes and Nano-Onions on Human Skin Fibroblast. *Nano Letters* 5 (12): 2448-2464.

Dockery DW, Pope CA, 1994. Annu Rev Public Health 15: 107.

Dominici F, Peng RD, Bell ML, Pham L, McDermott A, Zeger SL, Samet JM, 2006. Fine particulate air pollution and hospital admission for cardiovascular and respiratory diseases. *JAMA* 295 (10) : 1127-1134.

Donaldson K, Stone V, Clouter A, Renwick L, MacNee W, 2001. Ultrafine particles. *Occup Environ Med*, 58 (3) : 211-6.

Donaldson K, Stone V, 2004. Nanoscience Fact versus Fiction, Technical Opinion. *Communication of the* ACM, 47(11): 113-115.

Donaldson K, Tran L, Jimenez LA, Duffin R, Newby DE, Mills N, MacNee W, Stone V, 2005. Combustion-derived nanoparticles: a review of their toxicology following inhalation exposure. *Part Fibre Toxicol*.2:10. doi: 10.1186/1743-8977-2-10. [PubMed]

Donaldson K, 2005. The toxicology of airborne nanoparticules p 30-34. Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Occupational Health Implications of Nanomaterials, 12-14 October 2004, Buxton, Great-Britain. Edited by the Health and Safety Executive, Great-Britain and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, United States, July 2005. http://www.hsl.gov.uk/capabilities/nanosymrep final.pdf.

Donaldson K, Aitken R, Tran L, Stone V, Duffin R, Forrest G, Alexander A, 2006. Carbon Nanotubes: a Review of Their Properties in Relation to Pulmonary Toxicology and Workplace Safety. *Toxicological Sciences*, 92 (1): 5-22.

Dorman DC, Brenneman KA, McElveen AM, Lynch SE, Roberts KC, Wong BA, 2002. Olfactory transport: a direct route of delivery of inhaled manganese phosphate to the rat brain. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 65 : 1493-1511.

Douglas DJ, Davis SS, Illum L, 1996. Biodistribution of poly(butyl 2-cyanoacrylate) nanoparticules in rabbits. *Int J Pharm* 34 : 146-152.

Dreher KL, 2003. Nanotechnology implications in health and the environment. In: National science and technology council. Committee on technology. Subcommittee on nanoscale science engineering and technology. *Nanotechnology grand challenge in the environment*, p. 40-44. Arlington, Virginia, National Science and Technology Council. <u>http://134.67.99.14/ncer/nano/publications/nanotechnology 4-20-04.pdf</u>.

Driscoll KE, Carter JM, Howard BW, Hassenbein DG, Pepelko W, Baggs RB, Oberdörster G, 1996. Pulmonary inflammatory, chemokine, and mutagenic responses in rats after subchronic inhalation of carbon black. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 136 (2): 372-380.

Dubertret B, Skourides P, Norris DJ, Noireaux V, Brivanlou AH, Libchaber A. 2002. In vivo imaging of quantum dots encapsulated in phospholipid micelles. *Science* 298 (5599) : 1759-62.

Dobrovolskaia MA, McNeil SE, 2007. Immunological properties of engineered nanomaterials. *Nature Nanotechnology*, published on line, 29 July 2007.

Dumortier H, Lacotte S, Pastorin G, Marega R, Wi W, Bonifazi D, Briand JP, Prato M, Muller S, Bianco A, 2006. Functionalized carbon nanotubes are non-cytotoxic and preserve the functionality of primary immune cells, *NanoLetters* 6 (7) : 1522-1528.

Duncan R, Izzo L, 2005. Dendrimer biocompatibility and toxicity. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 57 : 2215-1237.

Durrenberger F, Hock J, Hohener K, 2004. Overview of completed and ongoing activities in the field: safety and risks of nanotechnology. Arbon, Suisse, Temas Ag. 60 p.

http://www.temas.ch/nano/nano_homepage.nsf/vwRes/Safety/\$FILE/NANOSafety_Version2_2.pdf

Elder ACP, Gelein R, Finkelstein JN, Cox C, Oberdörster G, 2000. Pulmonary inflammatory response to inhaled ultrafine particles is modified by age, ozone exposure, and bacterial toxin. *Inhalation Toxicology* 12 (Suppl. 4) : 227-246.

Elder ACP, Gelein R, Azadniv M, Frampton M, Finkelstein J, Oberdörster G, 2002. Systemic interactions between inhaled ultrafine particles and endotoxin. *Ann Occup Hyg* 46 (Suppl 1) : 231-234.

Elder ACP, Gelein R, Azadniv M, Frampton M, Finkelstein J, Oberdörster G, 2004. Systemic effects of inhaled ultrafine particles in two compromised, aged rat strains. *Inhal Toxicol* 16 : 461-471.

Elder A, Gelein R, Silva V, Fiekert T, Opanashuk L, Carter J, Potter R, Maynard A, Ito Y, Finkelstein J, Oberdorster G, 2007. Translocation of Inhaled Ultrafine Manganese Oxide Particles to the Central Nervous System. *Env Health Perspec* 114(8) : 1172-1178.

Feigenbaum D, Nsamirisi A, Sinclair-Desgagné B, 2004. Les Nanotechnologies: leurs bénéfices et leurs risques potentiels. Montréal, CIRANO, 45 p. <u>http://www.cirano.qc.ca/pdf/publication/2004s-44.pdf</u>.

Fenoglio I, Tomatis M, Lison D, Muller J, Fonseca A, Nagy JB, Fubini B, 2006. Reactivity of carbon nanotubes : Free radical generation or scavenging activity? *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 40: 1227-1233.

Ferin J, Oberdörster G, Penney DP, 1992. Pulmonary retention of fine and ultrafine particles in rats. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 6 : 535–542.

Fernandez-Urrusuno R, Fattal E, Feger J, Couvreur P, Therond P, 1997. Evaluation of hepatic antioxydant systems after intravenous administration of polymeric nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* 18 : 511-517.

Fiorito S, Serafino A, Andreola F, Togna A, Togna G, 2006a. Toxicity and Biocompatibility of Carbon Nanoparticles. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 6 (3): 591-599.

Fiorito S, Serafino A, Andreola F, Bernier P, 2006b. Effects of fullerenes and single-wall carbon nanotubes on murine and human macrophages. *Carbon* 44 : 1100-1105.

Fiorito S, 2007. Carbon Nanoparticles: Benefits and Risks for Human Health *In* Nanotoxicology, Interactions of Nanomaterials with Biological Systems, édité par Zhao Y, Nalwa HS, American Scientific Publishers, 2007, p 167-180.

Fortner JD, Lyon DY, Sayes CM, Boyd AM, Falkner JC, Hotze EM, Alemany LB, Tao YJ, Guo W, Ausman KD, Colvin VL, Hughes JB, 2005. C₆₀ in Water: Nanocrystal Formation and Microbial Response. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 39 : 4307-4316.

Frampton MW, Utell MJ, Zareba W, Oberdörster G, Cox C, Huang L-S, Morrow PE, Lee F E-H, Chalupa D, Frasier LM, Speers DM, Stewart J, 2004. Effects of Exposure to Ultrafine Carbon Particles in Healthy Subjects. Health Effects Institute, Research Report 126, 74p. http://www.healtheffects.org/Pubs/Frampton2004.pdf

Fukui H, Koike T, Saheki A, Sonoke S, Tomii Y, Seki J, 2003. Evaluation of the efficacy and toxicity of amphotericin B incorporated in lipid nano-sphere (LNS®). *Int J Pharm* 263 (1-2) : 51-60.

Gatti AM, 2004. Biocompatibility of micro- and nano-particles in the colon. Part II. *Biomaterials* 25 (3) : 385-92.

Germain MA, Hatton A, Williams S, Matthews JB, Stone MH, Fisher J, Ingham E, 2003. Comparison of the cytotoxicity of clinically relevant cobalt-chromium and alumina ceramic wear particles in vitro. *Biomaterials* 24 (3) : 469-79.

Gibaud S, Demoy M, Andreux JP, Weingarten C, Gouritin B, Couvreur P, 1996. Cells involved in the capture of nanoparticles in hematopoietic organs. *J Pharm Sci* 85 (9) : 944-950.

Gojova A, Guo B, Kota RS, Rutledge JC, Kennedy IM, Barakat AL, 2007. Induction of inflammation in vascular endothelial cells by metal oxide nanoparticles: effect of particle composition. *Environ Health Persp* 115 (3) : 403-409.

Goodman CM, McCusker CD, Yilmaz T, Rotello VM, 2004. Toxicity of gold nanoparticles functionalized with cationic and anionic side chains. *Bioconjug Chem* 15 (4): 897-900.

Grassian VH, O'Shaughnessy PT, Adamcakova-Dodd A, Pettibone JM, ThornePS, 2007. Inhalation exposure study of titanium dioxide nanoparticles with a primary particle size of 2 to 5 nm, *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 115 (3) : 397-402.

Green TR, Fisher J, Stone MH, Wroblewski BM, Ingham E, 1998. Polyethylene particles of a 'critical size' are necessary for the induction of cytokins by macrophages in vitro. *Biomaterials* 19: 2297-2302.

Green M, Howman E, 2005. Semiconductor quantum dots and free radical induced DNA nicking. *Chem Commun (Camb)* (1): 121-3.

Grubek-Jaworska H, Nejman P, Czuminska K, Przybylowski T, Huczko A, Lange H, Bystrzejewski M, Baranowski P, Chazan R, 2006. Preliminary results on the pathogenic effects of intratrachal exposure to one dimensional nanocarbons. *Carbon* 44: 1057-1063.

Gupta AK, Gupta M, 2005. Cytotoxicity suppression and cellular uptake enhancement of surface modified magnetic nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 26 : 1565-1573.

Gurr JR, Wang ASS, Chen CH, Jan KY, 2005. Ultrafine titanium dioxide particles in the absence of photoactivation can induce oxidative damage to human bronchial epithelial cells. *Toxicology*, 213 : 66-73.

Haasch ML, McClellan-Green P, Oberdörster E, 2005. Consideration of The Toxicity of Manufactured Nanoparticles. American Institute of Physics Conference Proceedings, September 27, 2005, Volume 786, p. 586-590.

Hainfeld JF, Slatkin DN, Smilowitz HM, 2004. The use of gold nanoparticles to enhance radiotherapy in mice. *Phys Med Biol* 49 (18): N309-15.

Hameed Hyder MA, 2003. *Nanotechnology and environment: potential applications and environmental implications of nanotechnology*. Master's Thesis, Techniche Universitat Hamburg-Harburg, Allemagne. <u>http://www.nanoforum.de/dateien/temp/HyderFinalV-NT Thesis.pdf?03052005151941</u>

Harder V, Gilmour P, Lentner B, Karg E, Takenaka S, Ziesenis A, Stampfl A, Kodavanti U, Heyder J, Schulz, H, 2005. Cardiovascular Responses in Unretrained WKY Rats to Inhaled Ultrafine Carbon Particles. *Inhal. Toxicol.* 17 : 29-42.

Hardman R, 2006. A Toxicologic Review of Quantum Dots : Toxicity Depends on Physicochemical and Environmental Factors. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 114 (2): 165-172.

Harris PJF, 1999. Carbon nanotubes and related structures. Cambridge University Press, 279 p.

Health and Safety Executive. 2004. Health effects of particles produced for nanotechnologies., Health and Safety Executive, Great-Britain. 37 p.

Hervé-Bazin B, 2005. Valeurs limites « poussières totales et alvéolaires » : nécessité d'une ré-évaluation. INRS – Hygiène et sécurité du travail – Cahiers de notes documentaires – 1^{er} trimestre 2005 – 198, p. 55-64.

Hett A, 2004. *Nanotechnology: small matter, many unknowns*. Zurich, Suisse, Swiss Re, <u>http://www.swissre.com/INTERNET/pwsfilpr.nsf/vwFilebyIDKEYLu/ULUR-</u>68AKZF/\$FILE/Publ04 Nano en.pdf.

Hillyer JF, Albrecht RM, 2001. Gastrointestinal persorption and tissue distribution of differently sized colloidal gold nanoparticles. *J Pharm Sci* 90 (12) : 1927-36.

Hoet PHM, Brüske-Hohlfeld I, Salata OV, 2004a. Nanoparticles - known and unknown health risks. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 2 (1): 12-26. <u>http://www.jnanobiotechnology.com/content/pdf/1477-3155-2-12.pdf</u>

Hoet PHM, Nemmar A, Nemery B, 2004b. Health Impact of nanomaterials? Nature Biotech, 22 (1): 19.

Hohr D, Steinfartz Y, Schins RP, Knaapen AM, Martra G, Fubini B, Borm PJ, 2002. The surface area rather than the surface coating determines the acute inflammatory response after instillation of fine and ultrafine TiO2 in the rat. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 205 (3) : 239-44.

Holister P, Roman V, Harper T, 2003. *Fullerenes. Technology White Papers* #7. [S.l.] Cientifica, 2003, 12 p. <u>http://www.cientifica.com/html/Whitepapers/wpfiles/fullerenes_WP.pdf</u>.

Huczko A, Lange H, 2001a. Carbon nanotubes: experimental evidence for a null risk of skin irritation and allergy. *Fullerene Sci Technol* 9 (2) : 247-250.

Huczko A, Lange H, Calko E, Grubek-Jaworska H, Droszcz P, et al., 2001b. Physiological testing of carbon nanotubes: are they asbestos-like? Fullerene Sci Technol 9 (2) : 251-254.

Huczko A, Lange H, Bystrzejewski M, Baranowski P, Grubek-Jaworska H, Nejman P, Przybylowski T, Czumińska K, Glapiński J, Walton DRM, Kroto HW, 2005. Pulmonary toxicity of 1-D nanocarbon materials. *Fullerenes, nanotubes, and carbon nanostructures*, 13 : 141-145.

Hurt RH, Monthioux M, Kane A, 2006. Toxicology of carbon nanomaterials: status, trends, and perspectives on the special issue. *Carbon* 44 : 1-28-1033.

Hussain N, Jaitley V, Florence AT, 2001. Recent advances in the understanding of uptake of microparticulates across the gastrointestinal lymphatics. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 50 (1-2) : 107-42.

Iijima, S, 1991. Helical microtubules of graphite carbon. Nature 354: 56-58.

Inoue K, Takano H, Yanagisawa R, Sakurai M, Ichinose T, Sadakane K, Yoshikawa T, 2005. Effects of nanoparticles on antigen-related airway inflammation in mice. *Respiratory Research*, 6: 106.

IARC, 1996. Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Human, Summary and Evaluation, Carbon Black (Group 2B), volume 65. <u>http://www.inchem.org/documents/iarc/vol65/carbon.html</u>.

IARC, 2006a. Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Human, Carbon Black (Group 2B), volume 93. <u>http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Meetings/93-carbonblack.pdf</u>

IARC, 2006b. Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Human, Titanium Dioxide (Group 2B), volume 93. <u>http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Meetings/93-titaniumdioxide.pdf</u>

ISO, 2007. Air des milieux de travail – particules ultrafines, nanoparticules et aérosols nanostructurés – caractérisation et évaluation de l'exposition par inhalation. Techincal Report ISO/TR 27628, 34 p.

Iwata N, Mukai T, Yamakoshi TN, Hara S, Yanase T, Shoji M, Endo T, Miyata N, 1998. Effects of C_{60} , a fullerene, on the activities of glutathione s-transferase and glutathione-related enzymes in rodent and human livers. Fullerene *Science and Technology* 6 (2) : 213-226.

Jani P, Halbert GW, Langridge J, Florence AT, 1990. Nanoparticle uptake by rat gastrointestinal mucosa : quantification and particle size dependancy. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 42 : 821-826.

Jaques PA, Kim CS, 2000. Measurement of total lung deposition of inhaled ultrafine particles in healthy men and women. *Inhal Tox* 12: 715-731.

Jia G, Wang H, Tan L, 2005a. Cytotoxicity of carbon nanomaterials: single-wall nanotube, multi-wall nanotube, and fullerene. *Env Sci Technol*, 39 (5) : 1378-1383.

Jia X, Li N, Chen J, 2005b. A subchronic toxicity study of elemental Nano-Se in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Life Sciences*, 76 : 1989-2003.

Kaewamatawong T, Shimada A, Okajima M, Inoue H, Morita T, Inoue K, Takano H, 2006. Acute and subacute pulmonary toxicity of low dose of ultrafine colloidal silica particles in mice after intratracheal instillation, *Toxicologic Pathology*, 34 : 958-965.

Kagan VE, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Konduru NV, Potapovich AI, Osipov AN, Kisin ER, Schwegler-Berry D, Mercer R, Castranova V, Shvedova AA, 2006. Direct and Indirect Effects of Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes on RAW 264.7 Macrophages: Role of Iron, *Toxicology Letters*, 165 (1): 88-100.

Kamat JP, Devasagayam TPA, Privadarsini KI, 1998. Oxydative damage induced by the fullerene C_{60} on photosensitization in rat liver microsomes. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*. Vol. 114, p. 145-159.

Kante B, Couvreur P, Dubois-Krack G, De Meester C, Guiot P, Roland M, Mercier M, Speiser P, 1982. Toxicity of polyalkylcyanoacrylate nanoparticles I: free nanoparticles. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 71 (7) : 786-790.

Katz LC, Burkhalter A, Dreyer WJ, 1984. Fluorescent latex microspheres as a retrograde neuronal marker for in vivo and in vitro studies of visual cortex. *Nature* 310: 498-500.

Kim CS, Jaques PA, 2000. Phil Trans Roy Soc London A 358: 2693-2705.

Kim JS, Yoon T-J, Yu KN, Kim BG, Park SJ, Kim HW, Lee KH, Park SB Lee J-K, Cho MH, 2006. Toxicity and Tissue Distribution of Magnetic Nanoparticles in Mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 89 (1) : 338-347.

Kirchner C, Liedl T, Kudera S, Pellegrino T, Munoz Javier A, Gaub HE, Stolzle S, Fertig N, Parak WJ, 2005. Cytotoxicity of colloidal CdSe and CdSe/ZnS nanoparticles *Nano Lett* 5 (2) : 331-8.

Koike E, Kobayashi T, 2006. Chemical and biological oxidative effects of carbon black nanoparticles, *Chemosphere*, 65 : 946-951.

Kostarelos K, Lacerda L, Pastorin G, Wu W, Wieckowski S, Luangsivilay J, Godefoy S, Pantarotto D, Briand JP, Muller S, Prato M, Bianco A, 2007. Cellular uptake of functionalized carbon nanotubes is independent of functional group and cell type. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2 (2) : 108-113.

Koziara JM, Lockman PR, Allen DD, Mumper RJ, 2003. In situ blood-brain barrier transport of nanoparticles. *Pharm Res* 20 (11) : 1772-1778.

Kreuter J, 2001. Nanoparticulate systems for brain delivery of drugs. *Advance Drug Delivery Reviews* 47: 65-81.

Kreyling WG, Scheuch G, 2000. Chapter 7: Clearance of Particles deposited in the lungs. *In*: Particle lungs interactions (Gehr P, Heyder J, Eds), New-York – Basel: Marcel Dekker Inc, 323-376.

Kreyling WG, Semmler M, Erbe F, Mayer P, Takenaka S, Schultz H, Oberdorster G, Ziesenis A, 2002. Ultrafine insoluble iridium particles are negligibly translocated from lung epithelium to extrapulmonary organs. *J Tox Environ Health* 65 (20) : 1513-1530.

Kreyling WG, Semmler M, Moller W, 2004. Dosimetry and toxicology of ultrafine particles. Journal of *Aerosol Medecine* 17 (2) : 140-152.

Kroto HW, Heath JR, O'Brian SC, 1985. C₆₀: Buckminsterfullerene. Nature 318: 162-163.

Krusik PJ, Wasserman E, Keizer PN, Morton JR, Preston KF, 1991. Radical Reactions of C₆₀. *Science* 254 : 1183 – 1185.

Kuempel ED, 2006. Quantitative Risk Assessment Methods for Nanoparticles: Strategies and Data Needs, Ist International Conference on Nanotoxicology: Biomedical Aspects, February 1, 2006, Miami, Florida.

Lademann J, Weigmann H, Rickmeyer C, Barthelmes H, Schaefer H, Mueller G, Sterry W, 1999. Penetration of titanium dioxide microparticles in a sunscreen formulation into the horny layer and the follicular orifice. *Skin Pharmacol Appl Skin Physiol* 12 (5) : 247-56.

Lam CW, James JT, McCluskey R, Hunter RL, 2004a. Pulmonary toxicity of single-wall nanotubes in mice 7 and 90 days after intratracheal instillation. *Toxicological Sciences* 77 : 126-134.

Lam PK, Chan ES, Ho WS, Liew CT, 2004b. In vitro cytotoxicity testing of a nanocrystalline silver dressing (Acticoat) on cultured keratinocytes. *Br J Biomed Sci* 61 (3) : 125-7.

Lam CW, James JT, McCluskey R, Arepalli S, Hunter RL, 2006. A Review of Carbon Nanotube Toxicity and Assessment of Potential Occupational and Environmental Health Risks. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* 36 (3) : 189-217.

Lamy P, 2005. Nanomatériaux: Risques pour la santé et l'environnement. Centre National des Risques Industriels et Centre de Recherche sur la Matière Divisée.

Leong-Morgenthaler P, Horlbeck J, Suter F, Zulli F, 1997. Application of small lipid nanoparticles in vitro mutation assays. *In vitro Toxicology* 10 (1) : 129-132.

Li XY, Brown D, Smith S, MacNee W, Donaldson K, 1999. Short-term inflammatory responses following intratracheal instillation of fine and ultrafine carbon black in rats. *Inhalation Toxicology*, 11 (8): 709-731.

Li Z, Salmen R, Huldermen T, Kisin E, Shvedova A, Luster MI, Simeonova PP, 2005. Pulmonary exposure to carbon nanotubes induces vascular toxicity. *The Toxicologist* 84 (S-1) : 213 (abstr. 1045).

Li ZJ, Chapman R, Hulderman T, Salmen R, Shvedova A, Luster MI, Simeonova PP, 2006. Relationship between pulmonary exposure to multiple doses of single wall carbon nanotubes and atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mouse model. *The Toxicologist*, 90 (1): 213 (abstr. 1555).

Li Z, Hulderman T, Salmen R, Chapman R, Leonard SS, Young SH, Shvedova A, Luster MI, Simeonova PP, 2007. Cardiovascular effects of pulmonary exposure to single-wall carbon nanotubes. *Environ Health Perspect* 115 (3) : 377-382.

Limbach L, Li Y, Grass RN, Brunner TJ, HintermannM, Muller M, Gunther D, Stark WJ, 2005. Oxide Nanoparticle Uptake in Human Lung Fibroblasts: Effects of Particle Size, Agglomeration, and Diffusion at Low Concentrations. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39: 9370-9376.

Limbach LK, Wick P, Manser P, Grass RN, Bruinink A, Stark WJ, 2007. Exposure of engineered nanoparticles to human lung epithelial cells: influence of chemical composition and catalytic activity on oxydative stress. *Environ Sci Technol* 41 : 4158-4163.

Lockman PR, Mumper RJ, Khan MA, Allen DD, 2002. Nanoparticle technology for drug delivery across the blood-brain barrier. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 28 (1) : 1-12.

Lockman PR, Koziara J, Roder KE, Paulson J, Abbruscato TJ, Mumper RJ, Allen DD, 2003. In vivo and in vitro assessment of baseline blood-brain barrier parameters in the presence of novel nanoparticles. *Pharm Res* 20 (5) : 705-713.

Lockman PR, Koziara JM, Mumper RJ, Allen DD, 2004. Nanoparticle Surface Charges Alter Blood-Brain Barrier Integrity and Permeability. *Journal of Drug Targeting* 12 (9-10) : 635-641.

Long TC, Saleh N, Tilton RD, Lowry GV, Veronesi B, 2006. Titanium Dioxide (P25) Produces Reactive Oxygen Species in Immortalized Brain Microglia (BV2): Implications for Nanoparticle Neurotoxicity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 40 (14) : 4346-4352.

Lovric J, Bazzi HS, Cuie Y, Fortin GRA, Winnik M, Maysinger D, 2005. Differences in subcellular distribution and toxicity of green and red emitting CdTe quantum dots. J. Mol. Med. 83: 377-385.

Lucarelli M, Gatti AM, Savarino G, Quattroni P, Martinelli L, Monari E, Boraschi D, Woolley DE, Tetlow LC, 2004. Innate defence functions of macrophages can be biased by nano-sized ceramic and metallic particles. Mast cell activation and its relation to proinflammatory cytokine production in the rheumatoid lesion. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 15 (4) : 339-46.

MacNee W, Donaldson K. 2000. How can ultrafine particles be responsible for increased mortality? *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis* 55:135–139.

Magrez A, Kasas S, Salicio V, Pasquier N, Seo JW, Celio M, Catsicas S, Schwaller B, Forró L, 2006. Cellular Toxicity of Carbon-Based Nanomaterials. *Nano Letters* 6(6): 1121-1125.

Maitz MF, Pham MT, Wieser E, Tsyganov I, 2003. Blood compatibility of titanium oxides with various crystal structure and element doping. *J Biomater Appl* 17 (4) : 303-19.

Malik N, Wiwattanapatapee R, Klopsch R, Lorenz K, Frey H, Weener JW, Meijer EW, Paulus W, Duncan R, 2000. Relationship between structure and biocompatibility in vitro, and preliminary studies on the biodistribution of ¹²⁵I-labelled polyamidoamine dendrimers in vivo. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 65 : 133-148.

Malsch I, Gleiche M, Hoffschulz H, Locatelli S, Nicollet C, Guibert JC, Bøgedal M, Morrison M, Oud M, 2004. *Benefits, risks, ethical, legal and social aspects of nanotechnology*. [S.I.], Nanoforum, 2004. 162 p., (Nanoforum General Reports on Nanotechnology in Europe 4) http://www.nanoforum.de/dateien/temp/ELSIcomplete.pdf?22072004155706

Manna SK, Sarkar S, Barr J, Wise K, Barrera EV, Jejelowo O, Rice-Ficht AC, Ramesh GT, 2005. Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube Induces Oxidative Stress and Activates Nuclear Transcription Factor-KB in Human Keratinocytes, *NanoLetters* 5 (9) : 1676-1684.

Mark D, 2005. Nanomaterials a risk to health at work? Proceedings of the first international symposium on occupational health implications of nanomaterials. Édité par Health and Safety Laboratory et le National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, July 2005, 160 p.

Maynard AD, Baron PA, Foley M, Shvedova AA, Kisin ER, Castranova V, 2004. Exposure to Carbon Nanotube Material: Aerosol Release During the Handling of Unrefined Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube Material, Part A, *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, 67 (1): 87-107.

Maynard AD, Kuempel ED, 2005. Airborne nanostructured particles and occupational health. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*, 7: 587-614.

Maynard AD, Ku BK, Emery M, Stolzenburg M, McMurry PH, 2007 Measuring particle size-dependent physicochemical structure in airborne single-walled carbon nanotube agglomerates. *In* Nanoparticles and Occupational Health, Édité par Maynard AD et Pui DYH, Springer, *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 9 : 85-92.

Medina C, Santos-Martinez MJ, Radomski A, Corrigan OI, Radomski MW, 2007. Nanoparticles: pharmacological and toxicological significance. *Br J Pharmacol* 150: 552–558.

Meiring JJ, Borm PJ, Bagate K, Semmler M, Seitz J, Takenaka S, Kreyling WG, 2005. *Part Fiber Toxicol* 27, 2:3.

Meng., C. Y. *et al.* (2004). Biocompatibility and security of new type nano-hydroapatite crystals and polyamide for bone reconstruction and repair after implanting in vivo. *Chinese Journal of Clinical Rehabilitation* (China). 8 (29) : 6330-6333. In Chinese.

Mikawa M, Kato H, Okumura M, Narazaki M, Kanazawa Y, Miwa N, Shinohara H, 2001. *Bioconjug. Chem* 12: 510.

Mills NL, Amin N, Robinson SD, Anand A, Davies J, Patel D, de la Fuente JM, Cassee FR, Boon NA, MacNee W, Millar AM, Donaldson K, Newby DE, 2006. Do inhaled carbon nanoparticles translocate directly into the circulation in man ? *Am J Resp Crit Care Med* 173 (4) : 426-431.

Medina C, Santos-Martinez MJ, Radomski A, Corrigan OI, Radomski MW, 2007. Nanoparticles: pharmacological and toxicological significance, *British J Pharmacol*. 150: 552-558.

Monteiro-Riviere NA, Inman AO, Wang YY, Nemanich RJ, 2005a. Surfactant effects on carbon nanotube interactions with human keratinocytes, *Nanomedicine:Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, 1: 293-299.

Monteiro-Riviere NA, Namanich R, Inman A, Wang Y, Riviere J, 2005b. Multi-walled carbon nanotube interactions with human epidermal keratinocytes. *Toxicol Lett* 155 : 377-384.

Monteiro-Riviere NA, Inman AO, 2006. Challenges for assessing carbon nanomaterial toxicity to the skin, *Carbon* 44: 1070-1078.

Monteiller C, Tran L, MacNee W, Faux S, Jones A, Miller B, Donaldson K, 2007. The pro-inflammatory effects of low solubility low toxicity particles, nanoparticles and fine particles, on epithelial cells in vitro: the role of surface area, *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, Published on line 4 April 2007.

Morrison M, Bøgedal M, Gleiche M, Guibert JC, Hoffschulz H, Locatelli S, Malsch I, Nicollet C, Wagner V, 2003. Nanotechnology and its Implications for the Health of the EU Citizen. Published by Nanoforum, December 2003, 200 p. http://www.nanoforum.org/dateien/temp/Nanotechnology and its Implication for the Health of the EU Citizen (18.12.03).pdf?01032005154431.
Moss OR, 2006. Insights into the health effects of nanoparticles: why numbers matter, *CITT Activities* 26 (2): 1-7.

Mossman BT, Borm PJ, Castranova V, Costa DL, Donaldson K, Kleeberger SR, 2007. Mechanisms of action of inhaled fibers, particles and nanoparticles in lung and cardiovascular diseases. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology* 4 (4) : 10 pages, 30 May 2007.

Moussa F, Pressac M, Genin E, Roux S, Trivin F, Rassat A, Ceolin R, Szwarc H, 1997. Quantitative analysis of C_{60} fullerene in blood and tissues by high-performance liquid chromatography with photodiode-array and mass spectrometric detection. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl* 696 (1) : 153-9.

Muller J, Huaux F, Moreau N, Misson P, Heilier JF, Delos M, Arras M, Fonseca A, Nagy JB, Lison D, 2005. Respiratory toxicity of multi-wall carbon nanotubes, *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 207 : 221-231.

Muller J, Huaux F, Lison D, 2006. Respiratory toxicity of carbon nanotubes: How worried should we be? *Carbon*, 44 : 1048-1056.

Murr LE, Garza KM, Soto KF, Carrasco A, Powell TG, Ramirez DA, Guerrero PA, Lopez DA, Venzor III J, 2005. Cytotoxicity Assessment of Some Carbon Nanotubes and Related Carbon Nanoparticle Aggregates and the Implications for Anthropogenic Carbon Nanotube Aggregates in the Environment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2 (1): 31-42.

Nel A, Xia T, Madler L, Li N, 2006. Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel, *Science*, 311(5761): 622-627.

Nelson MA, Domann FE, Bowden GT, Hooser SB, Fernando Q, Carter DE, 1993. Effects of acute and subchronic exposure of topically applied fullerene extracts on the mouse skin. *Toxicol Ind Health* 9 (4): 623-30.

Nemmar A, Vanbilloen H, Hoylaerts F, Hoet PH, Verbruggen A, Nemery B, 2001. Passage of Intratracheally Instilled Ultrafine Particles from the Lung into the Systemic Circulation in Hamster. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164 : 1665-1668.

Nemmar A, Hoet PH, Vanquickenborne B, Dinsdale D, Thomeer M, Hoylaerts MF, Vanbilloen H, Mortelmans L, Nemery B, 2002a. Passage of inhaled particles into the blood circulation in humans. *Circulation* 105 (4) : 411-4.

Nemmar A, Hoylaerts MF, Hoet PHM, Dindsdale D, Smith T, Xu H *et al.*, 2002b. Ultrafine particles affect experimental thrombosis in an in vivo hamster model. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 166 : 998-1004.

Nemmar A, Hoylaerts MF, Hoet PHM, Vermylen J, Nemery B, 2003. Size effect of intratracheally instilled particles on pulmonary inflammation and vascular thrombosis. *Toxicol Appl Pharm* 186 : 38-45.

Nemmar A, Hamoir J, Nemery B, Gustin P, 2005. Evaluation of particle translocation across the alveolocapillary barrier in isolated perfused rabbit lung model. *Toxicology*, 208: 105-113.

Nigavekar SS, Sung LY, Llanes M, El-Jawahri A, Lawrence TS, Becker CW, Balogh L, Khan MK, 2004. ³H Dendrimer Nanoparticle Organ/Tumor Distribution. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 21 (3): 476-483.

Nikula KJ, Avila KJ, Griffith WC, Mauderly JL, 1997. Lung tissue responses and sites of particle retention differ between rats and Cynomolgus monkeys exposed chronically to diesel exhaust and coal dust. *Fund Appl Toxicol* 37: 37-53.

NIOSH, 2005. NIOSH Current Intelligence Bulletin : Evaluation of Health Hazard and Recommendations for Occupational Exposure to Titanium Dioxide. 158 p. http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/review/public/TIo2/pdfs/TIO2Draft.pdf

Oberdörster G, Ferin J, Gelein R, Soderholm SC, Finkelstein J, 1992. Role of the alveolar macrophage in lung injury: studies with ultrafine particles. *Environ Health Persp* 97: 193-197.

Oberdörster G, Ferin J, Lehnert BE, 1994. Correlation between particle size, in vivo particle persistence, and lung injury. *Environ Health Perspect* 102 (Suppl 5) : 173-9.

Oberdörster G, Finkelstein JN, Johnston C, Gelein R, Cox C, Baggs R *et al.*, 2000. HEI Research Report : Acute pulmonary effects of ultrafine particles in rats and mice. HEI Research Report No. 96, August, 2000, Health Effects Institute.

Oberdorster G. 2001. Pulmonary effects of inhaled ultrafine particles. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 74 : 1–8.

Oberdörster G, Sharp Z, Atudorei V, Elder A, Gelein R, Lunts A, Kreyling W, Cox C, 2002. Extrapulmonary translocation of ultrafine carbon particles following whole-body inhalation exposure of rats. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* 65 (20) : 1531-43.

Oberdörster G, 2002. Toxicokinetics and effects of fibrous and nonfibrous particles. *Inhal Toxicol* 14(1):29-56.

Oberdörster E, 2004. Manufactured Nanomaterials (Fullerenes, C₆₀) Induce Oxidative Stress in the Brain of Juvenile Largemouth Bass. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 112 (10): 1058-1062.

Oberdörster G, Sharp Z, Atudorei V, Elder A, Gelein R, Kreyling W, Cox C, 2004. Translocation of inhaled ultrafine particles to the brain. *Inhal Toxicol* 16 (6-7) : 437-45.

Oberdörster G, 2005a. Inhaled Nano-sized Particles: Potential effects and Mechanisms. Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Occupational Health Implications of Nanomaterials, 12-14 October 2004, Buxton, Great-Britain. Edited by the Health and Safety Executive, Great-Britain and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, United States, July 2005, http://www.bal.gov.uk/geophilitias/geopsympon_final.pdf

http://www.hsl.gov.uk/capabilities/nanosymrep_final.pdf.

Oberdörster G, Oberdörster E, Oberdörster J, 2005b. Nanotoxicology: An Emerging Discipline Evolving from Studies of Ultrafine Particles, *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 113 (7) : 823-839 and Supplemental Web Sections, <u>http://www.ehponline.org/members/2005/7339/supplemental.pdf</u>.

Oberdorster G, Maynard A, Donaldson K, Castranova V, Fitzpatrick J, Ausman K, Carter J, Karn B, Kreyling W, Lai D, Olin S, Monteiro-Riviere N, Warheit D, Yang H, 2005c. Principles for characterizing the potential human health effects from exposure to nanomaterials: elements of a screening strategy. *Particle and Fiber Toxicology* 2 : 8.

Oberdorster G' Stone V, Donaldson K, 2007. Toxicology of nanoparticles: a historical perspective. *Nanotoxicology* : 1 (1) : 2-25.

Ostiguy C, Malo S, Asselin P, 2003. Synthèse des connaissances scientifiques sur les risques d'atteinte à la santé suite à une exposition professionnelle au manganèse, IRSST Report # R-339, IRSST, Montréal,41 p.

Ostiguy C, Asselin P, Malo S, Nadeau D, Dewals P, 2005. Prise en charge du manganisme d'origine professionnelle. Consensus d'un groupe d'experts, IRSST Report #R-416, IRSST, Montréal, 62 p.

Ostiguy C, Lapointe G, Trottier M, Ménard L, Cloutier Y, Boutin M, Antoun M, Normand C, 2006a. Les effets à la santé reliés aux nanoparticules, IRSST Report # R-451, 48 p.

Ostiguy C, Lapointe G, Ménard L, Cloutier Y, Trottier M, Boutin M, Antoun M, Normand C, 2006b. Les nanoparticules : connaissances actuelles sur les risques et les mesures de prévention en santé et en sécurité du travail, IRSST Report # R-455, 79 p.

Ostiguy C, Asselin P, Malo S, 2006c. The Emergence of Manganese-Related Health Problems in Quebec: An Integrated Approach to Evaluation, Diagnosis, Management and Control. *NeuroToxicology 27 (3) : 350-356.*

Ostiguy C, Woods C, Soucy B, Ménard L, Lapointe G, Cloutier Y, 2008 (in peer reviewed process). Les nanoparticules : connaissances actuelles sur les risques et les mesures de prévention en santé et en sécurité du travail, Second Edition, IRSST.

Paciotti GF, Myer L, Weinreich D, Goia D, Pavel N, McLaughlin RE, Tamarkin L, 2004. Colloidal gold: a novel nanoparticle vector for tumor directed drug delivery. *Drug Deliv* 11 (3) : 169-83.

Panessa-Warren BJ, Warren JB, Wong SS, Misewich JA, 2006. Biological cellular response to carbon nanoparticle toxicity. *J Phys : Condens Matter* 18: S2185-S2201.

Pantarotto D, Briand JP, Prato M, Bianco A, 2004. Translocation of bioactive peptides across cell membranes by carbon nanotubes. *Chem Comm* 16-17.

Pekkanen J, Peters A, Hoek G, Tiittanen P, Brunekreff B, de Hartog J, *et al.* 2002. Particulate air pollution and risk of ST-segment depression during repeated submaximal exercise tests among subjects with coronary hearth disease. The exposure and risk assessment for fine and ultrafine particles in ambient air (ULTRA) study. *Circulation* 106 : 933-938.

Penttinen P, Timonen KL, Tiittanen P, Mirme A, Ruuskanen J, Pekkanene J, 2001. Ultrafine particles in urban air and respiratory health among adult asthmatics. *Eur Resp J* 17 (3) : 428-435.

Peters A, Wichmann HE, Tuch T, Heinrich J, Heyder J, 1997. Respiratory effects are associated with the number of ultrafine particles. *Am Resp Crit Care Med* 155 : 1376-1383.

Peters A, Dockery DW, Muller JE, Mittleman MA, 2001. Increased particulate air pollution and the triggering of myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 103: 2810-2815.

Peters K, Unger RE, Kirkpatrick CJ, Gatti AM, Monari E, 2004. Effects of nano-scaled particles on endothelial cell function in vitro: studies on viability, proliferation and inflammation. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* 15 (4): 321-5.

Peters A, 2005. Particulate matter and heart disease: evidence from epidemiological studies. *Toxicology* and Applied Pharmacology 207: S477-S482

Pietropaoli AP, Frampton MW, Hyde RW, Morrow PE, Oberdorster G, Cox C, Soeers DM, Frasier LM, Chalupa DC, Huang L-S, Utell MJ, 2004. Pulmonary function, diffusing capacity and inflammation in healthy and asthmatic subjects exposed to ultrafine particles. *Inhalation Toxicol* 16 (Suppl. 1): 59-72.

Pisanic TR, Blackwell JD, Shubayev VI, Finones RR, Jin S, 2007. Nanotoxicity of iron oxide nanoparticle internalization in growing neurons, *Biomaterials* 28 : 2572-2581.

Poland CA, Duffin R, Kinloch I, Maynard A, Wallace WAH, Seaton A, Stone V, Brown S, MacNee W, Donaldson K, 2008. Carbon nanotubes introduced into the abdominal cavity of mice show asbestos-like pathogenicity in a pilot study *Nature Nanotechnology* **3** : 423 – 428. Published online: 20 May 2008 | doi:10.1038/nnano.2008.111

Poon VK, Burd A, 2004. In vitro cytotoxity of silver: implication for clinical wound care. *Burns* 30 (2): 140-7.

Pope CA III, Burnett RT, Thurston GD, Thun MJ, Calle EE, Krewski D, Godleski JJ, 2004. Cardiovascular mortality and long-term exposure to particulate air pollution : epidemiological evidence of general pathophysiological pathways of disease. *Circulation* 109: 71-77.

Porter AE, Muller K, Skepper J, Midgley P, Welland M, 2006. Uptake of C_{60} by human monocyte macrophages, its localization and implications for toxicity: studied by high resolution electron microscopy and electron tomography. *Acta Biomaterialia* 2 : 409-419.

Potapovich A, Osipov AN, Kisin ER, Schwegler BD, Shvedova AA, Kagan VE, 2005. Single-walled carbon nanotubes activate raw 264.7 macrophages: role in oxidative stress and inflammatory response. *Toxicologist* 84 (Suppl. 1): 468.

Powell MC, Kanarek MS, 2006. Nanomaterial Health Effects – Part 1: Background and Current Knowledge. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, 105 (2): 16-20.

Pulskamp K, Diabate S, Krug HF, 2007. Carbon nanotubes show no sign of acute toxicity but induce intracellular reactive oxygen species in dependence on contaminants, *Toxicology Letter*, 168 : 58-74.

Qingnuan L, Yan X, Xiaodong Z, Ruili L, Quiqui D, Xiaoguang S, Shaoliang C, Wenxin L, 2002. Preparation of (99m)Tc-C(60)(OH)(x) and its biodistribution studies. *Nucl Med Biol* 29: 707.

Rahman Q, Lohani M, Dopp E, Pemsel H, Jonas L, Weiss DG, Schiffmann D, 2002. Evidence That Ultrafine Titanium Dioxide Induces Micronuclei and Apoptosis in Syrian Hamster Embryo Fibroblasts. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110 (8): 797-800.

Raja PMV, Connolley J, Ganesan GP, Ci L, Ajayan PM, Nalamasu O, Thompson DM, 2007. Impact of carbon nanotube exposure, dosage and aggregation on smooth muscle cells, *Toxicology Letters*, 169:51-63.

Rajagopalan P, Wudl F, Schinazi RF, Boudinot FD, 1996. Pharmacokinetics of a water-soluble fullerene in rats. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 40 (10) : 2262-5.

Raloff J, 2005. Nano Hazards: Exposure to minute particles harms lungs, circulatory system. *Science News* 167 (12): 179.

Renwick LC, Donaldson K, Clouter A, 2001. Impairment of Alveolar Macrophage Phagocytosis by Ultrafine Particles. *Toxicol Appl Pharm* 172 (2) : 119-127.

Robertson JM, Ingalls TH, 1989. A Case-Control Study of Circulatory, Malignant, and Respiratory Morbidity in Carbon Black Workers in the United States, *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 50(10): 510-515.

Royal Society & Royal Academy of Engineering, 2004. Nanoscience and Nanotechnologies: opportunities and uncertainties. July 2004. The Royal Society, Great-Britain, 116 p.

Ryan JJ, Bateman HR, Stover A, Gomez G, Norton SK, Zhao W, Schwartz LB, Lenk R, Kepley CL, 2007. Fullerene nanomaetrials inhibit the allergic response. *J Immun* 179 (1) : 665-672.

Ryman-Rasmussen JP, Riviere JE, Monteiro-Riviere NA, 2006. Penetration of Intact Skin by Quantum Dots with Diverse Physicochemical Properties, *Toxicological Sciences* 91 (1) : 159-165.

Salvador-Morales C, Flahaut E, Sim E, Sloan J, Green MLH, Sim RB, 2006. Complement activation and protein adsorption by carbon nanotubes. *Molecular Immunology*, 43: 193-201.

Sakuma S, Sudo R, Suzuki N, Kikuchi H, Takamori H, Sato T, Minamitake Y, Hayashi Y, Sugita O, Hiwatari K, Kishida A, Akashi M, 2002. Behavior of Mucoadhesive Nanoparticles Having Hydrophilic Polymeric Chains in the Intestinal Membrane, *J Control Rel* 81 : 281-290.

Salehi F, 2005. Neurotoxicity and neurobehavioral effects of manganese phosphate/sulfate mixture in male Sprague-Dawley rats following subchronic inhalation exposure. Doctoral Thesis, University of Montréal, Montréal.

Samet JM, Dominici F, Curriero FC, Coursac I, Zeger SL 2000. Fine particulate air pollution and mortality in 20 US cities, 1987-1994. *N Engl J Med* 343: 1742-1749

Sayes CM, Fortner JD, Guo W, Lyon D, Boyd AM, Ausman KD, Tao YJ, Sitharaman B, Wilson LJ, Hugues JB, West JL, Colvin VL, 2004. The Differential Cytotoxicity of Water-Soluble Fullerenes, *Nano Letters*, 4 (10) : 1881-1887.

Sayes CM, Gobin AM, Ausman KD, Mendez J, West JL, Colvin VL, 2005. Nano-C₆₀ cytotoxicity is due to lipid peroxidation. *Biomaterials*, 25 : 7587-7595.

Sayes CM, Liang F, Hudson JL, Mendez J, Guo W, Beach JM, Moore VC, Doyle CD, West JL, Billups WE, Ausman KD, Colvin VL, 2006a. Functionalization Density Dependence of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes Cytotoxicity in Vitro, *Toxicology Letters*, 161: 135-142.

Sayes CM, Wahi R, Kurian PA, Liu Y, West JL, Ausman KD, Warheit DB, Colvin VL, 2006b. Correlating nanoscale titania structure with toxicity : a cytotoxicity and inflammatory response study with human dermal fibroblasts and human lung epithelial cells, *Toxicological Sciences*, 92(1) : 174-185.

Sayes CM, Marchione AA, Reed KL, Warheit DB, 2007a. Comparative pulmonary toxicity assessments of C_{60} water suspensions in rats: few differences in fullerene toxicity in vivo in contrast to in vitro profiles. *Nano Letters* 7 (8) : 2399-2406.

Sayes CM, ReedKL, Warheit DB, 2007b. Assessing toxicity of fine and nanoparticles: comparing in vitro measurements to in vivo pulmonary toxicity profiles. *Tox Sci* 91 (7): 163-180.

Schiller CF, Gebhart J, Heyder J, Rudolf G, Stahlhofen W, 1988. Deposition of monodisperse insoluble aerosol particles in the 0.0005 to 0.2 µm size range within the human respiratory tract. *Ann Occup Hyg* 32 (suppl 1) : 41-49.

Schulz J, Hohenberg H, Pflucker F, Gartner E, Will T, Pfeiffer S, Wepf R, Wendel V, Gers-Barlag H, Wittern KP, 2002. Distribution of sunscreens on skin. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 54 (Suppl 1) : S157-63.

Schwartz J, 1994. Air pollution and daily mortality: a review and meta. analysis. Environ Res 64: 36-52.

Schwartz J, Morris R, 1995. Air Pollution and Hospital Admissions for Cardiovascular Disease in Detroit, Michigan. *Am J Epidemiol* 142 : 23-35.

Seaton A, MacNee W, Donaldson K, Godden D. 1995. Particulate air pollution and acute health effects. *Lancet* 345:176–178.

Seaton A, Donaldson K, 2005. Nanoscience, nanotoxicology, and the need to think small. *The Lancet* 365 : 923-924.

Semmler-Behnke M, Takenaka S, Fersch S, Wenk A, Seitz J, Mayer O, Oberdorster G, Kreyling WG, 2007. Efficient elimination of inhaled nanoparticles from the alveolar region: evidence for interstitial uptake and subsequent reentrainment onto airways epithelium. *Environ Health Persp* 115 (5): 728-733.

Sera N, *Tokiwa H, Miyata N*, 1996. Mutagenicity of the fullerene C_{60} -generated singlet oxygen dependent formation of lipid peroxides. Carcinogenesis 17 (10) : 2163-9.

Service du répertoire toxicologique, 2005. Béryllium. CSST – Service du répertoire toxicologique, Montréal, http://www.reptox.csst.qc.ca/Documents/PlusEncore/bibliographies/HTM/Beryllium.htm.

Shimada A, Kawamura N, Okajima M, Kaewamatawong T, Inoue H, Morita T, 2007. Translocation pathway of intratracheally instilled ultrafine particles from the lung into blood circulation in the mouse, *Toxicologic Pathology*, 34 : 949-957.

Shiohara A, Hoshino A, Hanaki K, Suzuki K, Yamamoto K, 2004. On the cytotoxicity caused by quantum dots. *Microbiol Immunol* 48 (9) : 669-75.

Shvedova AA, Castranova V, Kisin E, Schwegler-Berry D, Murray AR, Gandelsman VZ, Maynard A, Baron P, 2003. Exposure to carbon nanotube material: assessment of nanotube cytotoxicity using human keratinocyte cells. *J Toxicol Environ Health* A 66 : 1909-1926.

Shvedova AA, Kisin E, Keshava N, Murray AR, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, Gandelsman VZ, Castranova V, 2004a. Cytotoxic and genotoxic effects of single wall carbon nanotube exposure on human keratinocytes and bronchial epithelial cells [Abstract]. In: 227th American Chemical Society National Meeting, 27 March-1 April 2004, Anaheim, CA. Washington, DC:American Chemical Society, IEC 20.

Shvedova AA, Kisin E, Murray AR, Schwegler-Berry D, Gandelsman VZ, Baron P *et al.*, 2004b. Exposure of human bronchial cells to carbon nanotubes caused oxidative stress and cytotoxicity. *In*: Proceedings of the Meeting of the SFRR Europe 2003, Ioannina, Grèce, 91-103.

Shvedova AA, Kisin ER, Mercer R, Murray AR, Johnson VJ, Potapovich AI, Tyurina YY, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, Schwegler-Berry D, Hubbs AF, Antonini J, Evans DE, Ku BK, Ramsey D, Maynard A, Kagan VE, Castranova V, Baron P, 2005. Unusual inflammatory and fibrogenic pulmonary responses to single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice, *American Journal of Physiology – Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 289: 698-708.

Smith RG, Musch DC, 1982. Occupational Exposure to Carbon Black: a Particulate Sampling Study. *American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal*, 43 (12) : 925-930.

Smith AM, Gao X, Nie S, 2004. Quantum-Dot Nanocrystals for In-vivo Molecular and Cellular Imaging. *Photochem Photobiol* 80 : 377-385.

Soto KF, Carrasco A, Powell TG, Garza KM, Murr LE, 2005. Comparative *in vitro* cytotoxicity assessment of some manufactured nanoparticulate materials characterized by transmission electron microscopy. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 7: 145-169.

Stoeger T, Reinhard C, Takenaka S, Schroeppel A, Karg E, Ritter B, Heyder J, Schulz H, 2006. Instillation of six different ultrafine carbon particles indicates a surface area threshold dose for acute lung inflammation in mice, *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 114 (3) : 328-333.

Stone V, Tuinman M, Vamvakopoulos JE, Shaw J, Brown D, Petterson S, Faux SP, Borm P, MacNee W, Michaelangeli F, Donaldson K, 2000. Increased calcium influx in a monocytic cell line on exposure to ultrafine carbon black. *European Respiratory Journal*, 15: 297-303.

Swiss Engineering, 2006. Déceler les risques des nanoparticules. Revue Technique Suisse RTS <u>http://www.swissengineering-stz.ch/pdf/rts001656.pdf</u>.

Sydlik U,Bierhals K, Soufi M, Abel J, Schins RPF, Unfried K, 2006. Ultrafine carbon particles induce apoptosis and proliferation in rat lung epithelial cells via specific signalling pathways both using EGF-R, *American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology* 291 : 725-733.

Tabata Y, Ikada Y, 1988. Effect of the size and surface charge of polymer microspheres on their phagocytosis by macrophages. *Biomaterials* 9 : 356-362.

Thrall L, 2006. Study links TiO₂ nanoparticles with potential for brain-cell damage. *Environmental Science* and *Technology* online, 7 juin 2006. <u>http://pubs.acs.org/subscribe/journals/esthag-</u> w/2006/jun/tech/lt_nanoparticles.html.

Tinkle SS, Antonini JM, Rich BA, Roberts JR, Salmen R, DePree K, Adkins EJ, 2003. Skin as a Route of Exposure and Sensitization in Chronic Beryllium Disease. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 111 (9) : 1202-1208.

Tiwari SB, Shenoy DB, Amiji MM, 2006. A review of nanocarrier-based CNS delivery systems. *Current Drug Delivery* 3: 219-232.

Tjälve H, Henriksson J, 1999. Uptake of metals in the brain via olfactory pathways. *NeuroToxicology* 20 (2-3) : 181-196.

Tkachenko AG, Xie H, Liu Y, Coleman D, Ryan J, Glomm WR, Shipton MK, Franzen S, Feldheim DL, 2004. Cellular trajectories of peptide-modified gold particle complexes: comparison of nuclear localization signals and peptide transduction domains. *Bioconjug Chem* 15 (3) : 482-90.

Tomazic-Jezic VJ, Umbreit TH, Stratmeyer ME, 2006. Evaluation of Nanomaterials' Immunotoxicity: Example of Polystyrene Nanoparticles. 12th Annual FDA Science Forum.

http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/oc/scienceforum/sf2006/search/preview.cfm?keyword=Tomazic-Jezic&abstract_id=779&type=coauthor&backto=search.

Torres-Lugo M, Garcia M, Record R, Peppas NA, 2002. Physicochemical behavior and cytotoxic effects of p(methacrylic acid-g-ethylene glycol) nanospheres for oral delivery of proteins. *J Control Release* 80 (1-3): 197-205.

Tsuchiya T, Oguri I, Nakajima Yamakoshi YN, Miyata N, 1996. Novel harmful effects of [60] fullerene on mouse embryos in vitro and in vivo. *FEBS Lett* 393 : 139-145.

United States Environmental Protection Agency/Science Policy Council, 2005. Nanotechnology White Paper – External Review Draft, Washington D.C., December 2, 2005, 134 p.

http://www.epa.gov/OSA/pdfs/EPA_nanotechnology_white_paper_external_review_draft_12-02-2005.pdf

Utell MJ, Frampton MW. 2000. Acute health effects of ambient air pollution: the ultrafine particle hypothesis. *J Aerosol Med* 13:355–359.

Wagner A, Bleckmann C, England E, Hess K, Hussain S, Schlager JJ, 2001. In Vitro Toxicity of Aluminum Nanoparticles in Rat Alveolar Macrophages. Air Force Research Laboratory, Human Effectiveness Directorate, Wright-Patterson AFB, OH USA. <u>http://handle.dtic.mil/100.2/ADA445568</u>.

Wallace WE, Kaene MJ, Murray DK, Chisholm WP., 2007. Phospholipid lung surfactant and nanoparticle surface toxicity: Lessons from diesel soots and silicate dust. *In* Nanoparticles and Occupational Health, Édité par Maynard AD et Pui DYH, Springer, *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 9 : 23-38.

Wang H, Wang J, Deng X; Sun H, Shi Z, Gu Z, Liu Y, Zhaoc Y, 2004. Biodistribution of carbon singlewall carbon nanotubes in mice. *J Nanosci Nanotech* 4 (8) : 1019-1024. Wang B, Feng W, Zhao Y, Xing G, Chai Z, Wang H, Jia G, 2005. Status of study on biological and toxicological effects of nanoscale materials. *Science in China Ser. B Chemistry* 48 (5): 385-394.

Wang B, Feng W-Y, Wang T-C, Jia G, Wang M, Shi J-W, Zhang F, Zhao Y-L, Chai Z-F, 2006. Acute toxicity of nano- and micro-scale zinc powder in healthy adult mice. *Toxicology Letters* 161: 115-123.

Warheit DB, 2004. Nanoparticles: health impacts ? *Materials today* 7 (2) : 32-35. http://www.materialstoday.com/pdfs_7_2/warheit.pdf.

Warheit DB, Laurence BR, Reed KL, Roach DH, Reynolds GAM, Webb TR, 2004. Comparative pulmonary toxicity assessment of single-wall carbon nanotubes in rats. *Tox Sci* 77 : 117-125.

Warheit DB, Laurence BR, Reed KL, Roach DH, Reynolds GAM, Webb TR, 2005. Pulmonary bioassay Toxicity Study in rats with single wall carbon nanotubes. Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Occupational Health Implications of Nanomaterials, 12-14 October 2004, Buxton, Great-Britain. Edited by the Health and Safety Executive, Great-Britain and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, United States, July 2005, http://www.hsl.gov.uk/capabilities/nanosymrep_final.pdf.

Warheit DB, 2006. Effects of engineered nanoscale particulates on the lung. *In* Toxicology of the lung, 4th Edition, Edited by DE Gardner, p 537-557.

Warheit DB, Webb TR, Sayes CM, Colvin V, Reed K, 2006. Pulmonary Instillation Studies with Nanoscale TiO₂ Rods and Dots in Rats: Toxicity is not Dependent Upon Particle Size and Surface Area, *Toxicological Sciences*, 91 (1): 227-236.

Warheit DB, Webb TR, Reeda KL, Frerichs S, Sayes CM, 2007a. Pulmonary toxicity study in rats with three forms of ultrafine-TiO₂ particles: differential responses related to surface properties, *Toxicology*, 230:90-104.

Warheit DB, Webb TR, Colvin VL, Reed KL, Sayes CM, 2007b. Pulmonary bioassay studies with nanoscale and fine-quartz particles in rats: toxicity is not dependent upon particle size but on surface characteristics, *Toxicological Sciences* 95 (1): 270-280.

WarheitDB, Borm PJA, Hennes C, Laderman J, 2007c. Testing strategies to establish the safety of nanomaterials: conclusions of an ECETOX workshop. *Inhal Tox* 19 (8): 631-643.

Watson AY, Valberg PA, 2001. Carbon Black and Soot: Two Different Substances, Amer Ind Hyg Ass J 62: 218-228.

Wichmann HE, Spix C, Tuch T, Wölke G, Peters A, Heinrich H, Kreyling WG, Heyder J, 2000. Daily mortality and fine and ultrafine particles in Erfurt, Germany. Part 1: role of particle number and particle mass. HEI Research Report # 98 : Health Effects Institute, Boston, Ma.

Wichmann HE, 2003a. What can we learn today from the central eropean smog episode of 1985 (and earlier episodes)? *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 206 : 505-520.

Wichmann HE, 2003b. Epidemiology of ultrafine parricles. BIA Report 7/2003e, p 59-92.

Wick P, Manser P, Limbach LK, Dettlaff-Weglikowska U, Krumeich F, Roth S, Stark WJ, Bruinink A, 2007. The degree and kind of agglomeration affect carbon nanotube cytotocicity, *Toxicology Letters* 168 : 121-131.

Wittmaack K, 2007. In search of the most relevant parameter for quantifying lung inflammatory response to nanoparticle exposure: particle number, surface area or what?. *Environ Health Perspec* 115 (2) : 187-194.

Witschger O, Fabriès JF, 2005. Particules ultra-fines et santé au travail 1- caractéristiques et effets potentiels sur la santé, INRS – Hygiène et sécurité du travail – Cahiers de notes documentaires – 2^{e} trimestre 2005, 199 : 21-35.

Witzmann FA, Monteiro-Riviere NA, 2006. Nanomedecine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medecine 2:158-168.

Won Kang J, Jung Hwang H, 2004. Comparison of C_{60} encapsulations into carbon and boron nitride nanotubes. *Condens Matter* 16 : 3901-3908.

Wootliff B, 2004. British scientist : Nanoparticles might move from mom to fetus. *Smalltimes* 14 janvier 2004. <u>http://www.smalltimes.com/print_doc.cfm?doc_id=7223</u>.

Yamamoto S, Tin-Tin-Win-Shwe, Ahmed S, Kobayashi T, Fujimaki H, 2006. Effect of ultrafine carbon black particles on lipoteichoic acid-induced early pulmonary inflammation in BALB/c mice, *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 213 : 256-266.

Yang XL, Fan CH, Zhu HS, 2002. Photo-induced cytotoxicity of malonic acid $[C_{60}]$ fullerene derivatives and its mechanism. *Toxicol in vitro* 16 : 41-46.

Yokoyama A, Sato Y, Nodasaka Y, Yamamoto S, Kawasaki T, Shindoh M, Kohgo T, Akasaka T, Uo M, Watari F, Tohji K, 2005. Biological behavior of hat-stacked carbon nanofibers in the subcutaneous tissue in rats. *Nano letters* 5 (1): 157-161.

Zakharenko LP *et al*, 1997. [Determination of the genotoxicity of fullerene C_{60} and fullerol using the method of somatic mosaics on cells of Drosophila melanogaster wing and SOS-chromotest] *Genetika* 33 (3) : 405-9 [Article in Russian].

Zhang Q, Kusaka Y, Donaldson K, 2000. Comparative pulmonary responses caused by exposure to standard cobalt and ultrafine cobalt. *J Occup Health* 42 : 179-184.

Zhang Q, Kusada Y, Zhu X, Sato K, Mo Y, Kluz T, Donaldson K, 2003. Comparative toxicity of standard nickel and ultrafine nickel in lung after intratracheal instillation. *J Occup Health* 45 : 23-30.

Zhang J, Wang H, Yan X, Zhang L, 2005a. Comparison of short-term toxicity between Nano-Se and selenite in mice. *Life Sci* 76 (10) : 1099-1109.

Zhang Z, Kleinstreuer C, Donohue JF, Kim CS, 2005b. Comparison of micro- and nano-size particle depositions in a human upper airway model. *J Aerosol Sci* 36 (2).

Zheng M, Jagota A, Strano M, Santos A, Barone P, 2003. Structure-Based Carbon Nanotube Sorting by Sequence-Dependent DNA Assembly, *Science* 302 : 1545-1548.

Zhao Y, Meng H, Chen Z, Zhao F, Chai Z, 2007a. "Biological Activities of Nanomaterials/ Nanoparticles", *In* "Nanotoxicology, Interactions of Nanomaterials with Biological Systems", Édited by Zhao Y et Nalwa, American Scientific Publishers, 2007, p 1-28.

Zhao Y, Zhao F, Chen Z, Meng H, Chai Z, 2007b. "Methodology for Nanotoxicology", *In* "Nanotoxicology, Interactions of Nanomaterials with Biological Systems", Édited by Zhao Y et Nalwa, American Scientific Publishers, 2007, 300 p.

Zhao Y, Nalwa HS, 2007. Nanotoxicology, Interactions of Nanomaterials with Biological Systems, American Scientific Publishers, 2007, 300 p.

Zhou YM, Zhong CY, Kennedy IM, Leppert VJ, Pinkerton KE, 2003. Oxidative stress and NFkappaB activation in the lungs of rats: a synergistic interaction between soot and iron particles. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 190 : 157-169.

Zhou J, Zeng FQ, Li C, Tong QS, Gao X, Xie SS, Yu LZ, 2005. Preparation of arsenic trioxide-loaded albuminutes immuno-nanospheres and its specific killing effect on bladder cancer cell in vitro. *Chin Med J* (*Engl*) 118 (1) : 50-5.

Zimmer A, 1999. Antisense oligonucleotide delivery with polyhexylcyanoacrylate nanoparticules as carriers. *Methods in Enzymology* 18 : 286-295.